
 

Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Telephone No: 
 

Andrew Booth 
Tel: 247 4325 
 

Principal Scrutiny Advisor: 
Steven Courtney 
Tel: 247 4707 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (HEALTH ) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall on 

Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 at 10.00 am 
 

(A pre-meeting will be held for ALL Members of the Board at 9.30 a.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
A Blackburn - Farnley and Wortley 

J Chapman - Weetwood 

D Congreve - Beeston and Holbeck 

P Grahame (Chair) - Cross Gates and Whinmoor 

J Illingworth - Kirkstall 

M Iqbal - City and Hunslet 

G Kirkland - Otley and Yeadon 

A Lamb - Wetherby 

G Latty - Guiseley and Rawdon 

A McKenna - Garforth and Swillington 

J Monaghan - Headingley 

L Rhodes-Clayton - Hyde Park and Woodhouse 

 -  

Co-opted Members 

E Mack - Leeds Voice 

S Saqfelhait - Touchstone 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting).  
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
 
 

 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 17 AND 
19 FEBRUARY 2009 
 
To receive and approve the minutes of the 
meetings held on 13 February 2009 and 17 
February 2009 
 

1 - 10 

7   
 

  PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 

11 - 
44 

8   
 

  ANNUAL HEALTH CHECK 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
 

45 - 
82 

9   
 

  INQUIRY INTO HOSPITAL DISCHARGES 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Director of Adult Social Services 
 

83 - 
132 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

10   
 

  RECOMMENDATION TRACKING 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 

133 - 
156 

11   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 

157 - 
176 

12    DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday, 28 April 2009 

 

 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 17th February, 2009 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (HEALTH ) 
 

FRIDAY, 13TH FEBRUARY, 2009 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor P Grahame in the Chair 

 Councillors A Blackburn, J Illingworth, 
J Monaghan and L Rhodes-Clayton 

 
 
 
 
 

65 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Chapman, D 
Congreve, M Iqbal, G Kirkland, A Lamb, G Latty and A Mckenna, and Mr E 
Mack.  
 

66 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2009, be 
confirmed as a correct record. 
 

67 GP-Led Health Centre - Scrutiny Inquiry  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
gave the Board an overview of the Inquiry into the provision of a GP-led 
Health Centre for Leeds.  The report detailed a summary of the Board’s 
Working Group meetings into the Inquiry and discussion held at full meetings 
of the Board. 
 
The Chair welcomed the following to the meeting: 
 
Dr Damian Riley – Director of Primary Care,  NHS Leeds 
Kathryn Hilliam - GP Contract Lead, NHS Leeds 
Emma Wilson – Head of Strategic Support and Development, Primary Care, 
NHS Leeds 
Sharon Dunsmore – Care UK Clinical Services 
Councillor Ralph Pryke – Ward Member for Burmantofts and Richmond Hill 
 
It was reported by the chair that the Board was still in some confusion as to 
what was to be provided at the GP-led Health Centre and concern was 
expressed by the chair that it was felt that differing information had been 
received from different representatives of NHS Leeds who had addressed the 
Board throughout the Inquiry.  This was categorically denied by Dr Riley, who 
stated that consistent information had been provided. 
 
Representatives of NHS Leeds addressed the meeting.  It was reported that 
the GP-Led Health Centre would have both a Walk-In Centre and a practice 
where patients could register for GP services.  The centre would be based at 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 17th February, 2009 

 

the Burmantofts Health Centre and would be known as the Shakespeare 
Medical Practice.  Other new features of the GP-led Health Centre would be 
opening hours of 8.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m., 7 days a week, 365 days a year.   It 
was acknowledged that some confusion may have arisen following the 
description in the media of the new centre as a ‘Polyclinic’, but it was felt that 
during the course of the Inquiry it had always been made clear that the new 
centre would be a ‘GP-led Health Centre’.  It was reported that there would be 
more GP provision than previously available at the site and the public would 
have better access to primary care.  There would not be any patients 
registered at the practice when it first opened and GP provision at the centre 
would increase in line with contractual obligations should there be demand. 
 
In response to Members comments and questions, the following issues were 
discussed: 
 

• Registered patients who could not get a GP appointment would be able 
to use the walk in facility. 

• Introduction of other walk in facilities had not caused mass migration of 
patients from one practice to another and it was felt that demand could 
be coped with. 

• IT systems would be linked to other practices and eventually to all.  
This would help prevent false registering of patients although it was 
recognised that this was an ongoing concern nationwide. 

• In response to concerns that services previously provided at the centre 
would not be available, such as sexual health services, it was reported 
that different GP services did not always provide the same services.  
Family planning services would be available along with other services 
and a wider range of services would be provided from the Shakespeare 
Medical Practice than from the previous Dr Potts surgery. 

• It was planned that there would only be one locum GP used at the 
centre, and that this would only be during the first 12 weeks of its 
operation.  All other GPs at the centre would be salaried.  Locum GPs 
would only be used in case of unforeseen absences and this would be 
monitored by performance information.   

• There would always be a GP on site.  In case of GPs carrying out 
home visits or other off site work, a replacement would be present. 

• Patients were not guaranteed to see a GP if they could be treated by 
another medical practitioner. 

• It was expected that the opening of the centre would alleviate demand 
for Accident and Emergency services, but it was acknowledged that it 
was difficult to predict to what extent. 

• There would not be treatment for minor injuries at the walk-in centre, 
but minor surgery would be available through the GP-practice. 

• Continual assessment would be needed to review the level of services 
at the centre in relation to demand. 

• All staffing requirements would be arranged by Care UK Clinical 
Services as part of the contract.  It was felt that funding within the 
contract would be sufficient to meet needs. 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 17th February, 2009 

 

• Concern was expressed by a member of the public present at the 
meeting regarding the closure of the previous GP practice based at the 
centre.  The member of the public questioned why this practice had not 
yet been replaced and informed those present of his subsequent 
difficulties in getting appointments elsewhere.  It was reported that the 
providers of the previous practice had decided to leave the centre, and 
this was out of the control of NHS Leeds.  GP Services were 
independent businesses and the previous practice had served full 
notice to leave the centre.  Review of local provision had shown there 
was enough capacity elsewhere to cope with demand.  The 
procurement process to replace GP provision at the centre was bound 
by European legislation and this caused delay in the provision of new 
services.  Other personal issues in relation to the member of the public 
would be dealt with outside of the public meeting. 

• Considerable investment had been made to bring the centre premises 
up to standard. 

• Concern regarding the adequacy of the building and disabled access. 

• Councillor Pryke, as ward member for Burmantofts and Richmond Hill, 
was invited to address the meeting.  The following points were raised:  

o Concern had been raised when the providers of the previous GP 
service based at the Burmantofts Health Centre had given 
notice of their intention to leave.  NHS Leeds had attended local 
forum meetings and had given satisfactory assurances on 
patient placement and availability of GP practices. 

o Concern over public transport links. 
o Visit to Manchester to see a similar centre provided by Care UK 

Clinical Services – it was reported by local councillors in 
Manchester that this was running well and meeting the needs of 
local people. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) That the report and discussion be noted. 
(2) That the Board receive an update at its April meeting following 

the opening of the Shakespeare Medical Practice. 
 

68 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
Tuesday, 17 February 2009 at 10.00 a.m. (Pre-meeting for Board Members at 
09.30 a.m.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (HEALTH ) 
 

TUESDAY, 17TH FEBRUARY, 2009 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor P Grahame in the Chair 

 Councillors A Blackburn, D Congreve, 
J Illingworth, M Iqbal, G Latty, A McKenna 
and L Rhodes-Clayton 
 

CO-OPTEES Mr E Mack 
 
 
 

71 Declarations of Interest  
 

Councillor Illingworth declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6, Draft 
Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan 2009 to 2012 due to his employment 
with the University of Leeds (Minute No. 73 Refers). 
 

72 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Chapman and 
Lamb. 
 

73 Draft Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan 2009 to 2012  
 

The report of the Director of Adult Social Services presented the latest 
working draft of the Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan for 2009 to 2012.  
This plan would replace the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Plan 2005 to 2008 
and build on partnership priorities that had already been consulted on and 
agreed in the Leeds Strategic Plan.  It was reported that the Plan had been 
brought to Scrutiny Boards prior to submission to the Executive Board and full 
Council. 
 
The Chair welcomed John England, Deputy Director, Adult Social Services 
and Mike Simpkin, Public Health Strategy Manager to the meeting. 
 
It was reported that the plan was still a working.  The plan would go to 
Executive Board in March 2009 and full Council for approval in April 2009.  
Members attention was also brought to the action plan that had been 
developed. 
 
The Board was given a presentation on the Health and Wellbeing Partnership 
plan.  The presentation focused on the following issues: 
 

• Visions and Strategic Outcomes – Emphasis on reducing inequalities in 
health 

• Areas of Action – Developed in 3 main themes: 
o Influences on Health 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 

 

o The Lives People Lead 
o The Services People Use 

• Ward Mortality – differences in life expectancy across Leeds 

• Four Main Strategic Objectives: 
o Reducing Health Inequalities 
o Improving Quality of Life 
o Enhanced Safety and Support for Vulnerable People 
o Inclusive Communities 

• Improvement Priorities – linked to Leeds Strategic Plan priorities. 

• Key Connections – delivery of health and wellbeing outcomes working 
across a number of plans, services and strategies. 

• How to Deliver Priorities – Strategic Lead Teams, joint commissioning 
and working between NHS Leeds and the Council, integrated services, 
locality working, links to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

• Current and Emerging Challenges – changing demographics and 
ageing population leading to different health issues. 

• Action Planning and Examples of Action – including the provision of 
services, influences on health, preventative measures, physical activity 
and strengthening partnerships at local level. 

 
Further to the presentation and in response to Members’ comments and 
questions, the following issues were discussed: 
 

• Infant mortality rates – it was reported that these were higher in areas 
of deprivation. 

• Progress on health issues in recent years – while it was recognised 
there had been significant improvements, there was a need to intensify 
this improvement. 

• Alcohol and licensing issues – when the Licensing Act 2005 was 
introduced, there was no provision for considering health issues in 
relation to licensing applications.  There had since been amendments 
to allow this and it was noted that there had been a recent decrease in 
the number of licensed premises across Leeds.  There was however, 
concern regarding the sale of alcohol from off licensed premises and 
the possible affects on health. 

• The role of locality enablers – there would be 3  locality enablers based 
across the 3 Area Management teams and these would work closely 
with appointed Health and Wellbeing champions to help deliver 
improvement priorities at local level to meet local needs.  It was 
suggested that the locality enablers should report to Area Committee to 
keep Elected Members involved and informed of health issues.  
Concern was expressed at the need and cost of additional staffing and 
that the Council should be taking a holistic approach at this stage.  It 
was reported that other Council Directorates outside those relating to 
Health and Social Care had been involved including those with 
responsibility for highways and sports facilities and it was confirmed 
that locality enablers would report to Area Committees. 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 

 

• Work with employers – work had been undertaken with NHS Leeds 
and a Workplace Health Award Scheme had been introduced.  It was 
hoped to extend this before the end of 2009. 

• Physical activity and links to childhood obesity, lack of facilities for 
physical activity and loss of areas for physical activity due to new 
developments, particularly in areas of deprivation.  It  was reported that 
the Physical Activity Strategy had been launched in December 2008 
and steps to measure physical activity had been implemented. 

• The role of the Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector and how it 
could contribute to joint working, particularly on a local level and how to 
attract the involvement of smaller VCFS organisations. 

• Conditions such as diabetes and coronary heart disease and how 
these could affect specific communities. 

• Alcohol and drug misuse, particularly among young people and 
treatment for related health problems. 

 
RESOLVED – That the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development drafts a 
response from the Board, regarding the key concerns and issues discussed in 
relation to the draft Health and Wellbeing Plan 2009-12 and prior to its 
submission to Executive Board. 
 

74 Provision of Hospital Food in Leeds  
 

The report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development reminded the 
Board of a request for Scrutiny from Councillor Denise Atkinson regarding the 
Provision of Hospital Food.  Appended to the report was a submission from 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust (LTHT) regarding Patient Food Services 
within the Trust and the Board was asked to consider whether further action 
was required. 
 
The Chair welcomed Councillor Denise Atkinson and Andrew Matthews, 
Deputy Head of Facilities, LTHT to the meeting. 
 
Councillor Atkinson recounted on her recent experiences in Hospital and 
along with some Members of the Board raised the following areas of concern 
and discussed related issues: 
 

• Very poor quality food, to the extent that patients were going out to eat 
where possible or having food brought in. 

• No food available to newly admitted patients when snack boxes should 
be provided. 

• Having little or no choice of food and items listed on menus not being 
available. 

• Lack of working facilities for preparing food including toasters and 
microwaves. 

• Inappropriate food being offered to people with illnesses such as 
diabetes. 

• Concern that food was being sent from Wales. 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 

 

• Lack of choice for those with special dietary needs whether it be on 
religious or health grounds. 

• Not all experiences of Members had been negative, with others 
reporting on standards being acceptable. 

 
Andrew Matthewman addressed the meeting.  He reported that LTHT served 
over 2,000 meals per day and accepted that different views would be 
expressed due to people having different requirements and tastes.  He 
apologised for what were accepted to be valid concerns.  With regard to food 
being brought in from Wales, it was reported that this was the pre-cooked 
main meals and other food was sourced locally.  The contract for the main 
meals was due to expire in 2011 and had been awarded for 10 years.  LTHT 
was beginning the process to procure the next contract and supply of local 
goods and services was of concern. 
 
In response to other concerns and questions of the Board he reported the 
following: 
 

• Dieticians did work with patients to discuss requirements. 

• Snack boxes of food should be made available for patients admitted 
outside of normal hours and meals may be available where patients 
had been discharged, and someone else had taken their place. 

• There would always be waste due to issues such as patients 
discharging themselves and those who were too ill to eat what had 
been pre-ordered. 

• LTHT did want to improve services and Members of the Board were 
invited to attend for lunch in line with inspections previously carried out 
by members of the Public and Patient Involvement forums. 

• Cost of food per patient was £2.92 for 3 meals per day. 

• Complaints had been received about provision of food, but the vast 
majority of patients were satisfied. 

 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
(Councillor Iqbal left the meeting at 11.50 during the discussion on this item). 
 

75 GP-led Health Centre - Scrutiny Inquiry  
 

The report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development referred to the 
Inquiry into the proposals for the provision of a GP-led Health Centre in 
Leeds.  Members were asked to discuss the outcomes of the Inquiry and were 
reminded that the Board would be provided with a review of the Centre 
following its opening. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Board receive an update on the first few weeks of 
operation at its April meeting. 
 

76 Work Programme  
 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 24th March, 2009 

 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
outlined the Board’s Work Programme.  Also appended to the report was a 
copy of the Executive Board minutes from 14 January 2009. 
 
It was reported that the review of the GP-Led Health Centre would be added 
to the Work Programme for the April meeting.  It was also noted that the issue 
of Co-opted Members for all Scrutiny Boards, including Scrutiny Board 
(Health), was due to be discussed by the Scrutiny Chairs Advisory Group in 
the near future. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) That the minutes of the Executive Board held on 14 January 2009 
be noted. 

(2) That the Work Programme be approved. 
 

77 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

Tuesday, 14 March 2009 at 10.00 a.m. (Pre-meeting for all Members at 09.30 
a.m.) 
 
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Health) 
 
Date:  24th March 2009 
 
Subject: Performance Report  
 

        
 
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Throughout this municipal year, the Scrutiny Board (Health) have received 
performance reports relating to issues within the board’s remit, from both NHS Leeds 
and Leeds City Council on a quarterly basis. 

 

1.2 At the board’s meeting in January 2009 it was decided that in the future a joint report 
from both organisations should be presented.  This is the first of these joint reports. 

 
2.0 PERFORMANCE MATTERS 
 

2.1 The officers from NHS Leeds and Leeds City Council will attend the meeting to 
present the key issues highlighted by the attached report and to address any specific 
questions identified by the Scrutiny Board. 

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 The Board is requested to consider the information provided in this report and the 
attached report and determine any matters that require any further scrutiny.  

 
4.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

4.1      None 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Laura Nield 
  

Tel: 395 0492 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Health Scrutiny Board
Joint Performance Report

March 2009 

LCC/NHS Leeds Joint Performance Report - March 2009 1
Page 13



LCC/NHS Leeds Joint Performance Report - March 2009 2
Page 14



Health Scrutiny Board Joint Performance Report – March 2009 

Overview 

This is the first Leeds City Council/NHS Leeds joint performance report.  The principle of a joint 
report has been established to align performance reporting, with the aims of 

 Reducing duplication  
 Eliminating potential confusion 
 Streamlining documentation 
 Bringing closer together the performance teams/functions from both organisations 

The work to totally integrate the two separate reports is still in progress, therefore as a first step, 
on this occasion this document simply pulls the two reports under the same cover.  The intention 
is that the report will over time, move toward a single style and format.  It is planned that this will 
happen during the early part of the 2009/10 year, following joint work between the two 
performance teams. 

The content of the report will be tailored to meet the requirements of the national reporting 
systems, ensuring that that the Health Scrutiny Board is fully involved in the process.  This will 
deliver a report that is of best use to the Board, providing assurance where required.  The working 
approach is to report by exception, except for top level indicators, which will be reported on each 
occasion.  One of the other key considerations will be to develop a clearer understanding of the 
timings of the performance report data from the NHS and Leeds City Council (LCC), so that the 
reports will present the most recent data possible. 

The plan now is for the two performance teams to work together to develop the format of future 
Health Scrutiny reports, detailing the specific content and to prepare a draft report in readiness for 
the April Health Scrutiny Board. 

Executive Summary – Performance Information 

The NHS Leeds information that is provided here is the latest published data (as at 12 Feb 2009), 
at the time this joint report was drawn up.  Further verbal updates can be provided at the meeting 
of the Scrutiny Board, if required.

The LCC information is based on data from the quarter 3 performance report (as at 31st

December 2008). 

There are several performance indicators that are delivering weaker performance than planned.  
Some of these indicators are already well known to the Board, whilst others are becoming clearer 
as definitions are made available. The key performance points are - 

Health Care Associated Infections (HCAIs) 
This heading covers the reports on the rate of C.difficile and of MRSA, shown separately 
within the body of the report.   

MRSA numbers continue to breach the minimum standards, both for each month and for the 
whole year.  Cases continue to occur across a wide range of specialties.  In some cases, 
where policies and procedures have not been followed, disciplinary action has been taken. 

LCC/NHS Leeds Joint Performance Report - March 2009 3
Page 15



LCC/NHS Leeds Joint Performance Report - March 2009 4

C.diff rates are also similarly high and the annual target has not been achieved.  A slight 
downward trend overall is evident, attributed to the application of antibiotic protocols and 
better isolation facilities. 

A visit by the Department of Health (DH) to Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust (LTHT) identified 
specific issues and recommended actions, which are now being progressed by the hospital.  
These include improved staff compliance with policies.  A contractual Performance Notice has 
been issued to LTHT; this action carries a significant financial penalty.  The exact details of 
how this will apply are still being worked out, though are likely to impact on the development of 
the NHS Leeds contract with LTHT for next year. 

Childhood immunisation programme
Performance continues below required levels.  As reported previously, the most significant 
issue is with levels of coverage for the MMR vaccine.  There are two difficulties here, the first 
is the accurate capture of data and the second is one of poor uptake.  There is an update on 
the actions described in the previous report. 

Early intervention service 
The Board have heard previously that performance in this area is lower than planned.  The 
issue is again featured to maintain focus.  The year to date performance is still below the 
target trajectory.  It is anticipated that the extra funding agreed to support this work will realise 
improved levels of performance, although it is now clear that this alone will not meet the 
target.  The use of an estimated element, covering patients transferred who would not be 
counted otherwise, will be used as in previous years.  Coupled with the increase in activity, 
this should see the target achieved.      

13 and 26 Weeks 
There were no 13 week breaches during December 2008, but the 26 week position is still not 
resolved.  Due to the complex nature of some of the clinical considerations surrounding such 
cases, the challenge remains to secure additional capacity with alternative providers and to 
ensure it is used to minimise breaches, whilst LTHT deliver planned activity increases.  

Delayed discharges 
The data on delayed discharges is one of the areas in which previously different definitions 
has resulted in different positions being reported.  Whilst further clarification of the definition is 
being sought from the Audit Commission and from the Department of Health, the NHS 
definition only is being used, as the single illustration of performance.  As the NHS is the lead 
organisation for the indicator, at this time this is felt to be a reasonable course of action. 

Report prepared by:

Graham Brown  NHS Leeds 
Marilyn Summers  Leeds City Council 

26 Feb 2009 

Page 16



1
8

 w
e
e
k
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 s

e
e
n

 w
it

h
in

 1
8

 w
e

e
k
s

 -
 a

d
m

it
te

d

E
n

s
u

re
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

8
 m

o
s

t 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 w

a
it

 l
e
s

s
 t

h
a
n

 1
8

 w
e
e

k
s
 f

ro
m

 r
e

fe
rr

a
l 

to
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

9
0

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

6
4
.1

%
7
8
.7

%
8
8
.5

%
8
9
.8

%
9
3
.9

%
8
9
.9

%
9
2
.3

%
9
0
.8

%
8
9
.8

%
8
9
.6

%
8
7
.8

%

T
ra

je
c
to

ry
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
5
.0

%
8
6
.1

%
8
8
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c-

0
8

Ja
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 s

e
e
n

 w
it

h
in

 1
8

 w
e

e
k
s

 -
 n

o
n

 a
d

m
it

te
d

E
n

s
u

re
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

8
 m

o
s

t 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 w

a
it

 l
e
s

s
 t

h
a
n

 1
8

 w
e
e

k
s
 f

ro
m

 r
e

fe
rr

a
l 

to
 t

re
a
tm

e
n

t

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

9
0

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

7
7
.7

%
8
7
.7

%
9
1
.4

%
9
3
.8

%
9
4
.4

%
9
4
.3

%
9
5
.4

%
9
5
.6

%
9
5
.4

%
9
7
.0

%
9
6
.2

%

T
ra

je
ct

o
ry

9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
0
.0

%
9
1
.2

%
9
3
.1

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

1
8
 w

e
e
k
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
w

a
it

s
; 

a
d

m
it

te
d

 a
n

d
 n

o
n

-
a

d
m

it
te

d

Targ
et:  

 
Gov

ernm
ent o

pera
tion

al ta
rget

s of 
90%

 of p
athw

ays 
whe

re p
atien

ts ar
e 

adm
itted

 for 
hosp

ital t
reat

men
t; an

d 95
% of

 path
way

s tha
t do

 not
 end

 in a
n 

adm
issio

n, sh
ould

 be c
omp

leted
 with

in 18
 wee

ks.
D

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
(R

T
T

) 
ti
m

e
 s

ta
n
d
a

rd
 i
s
 c

h
a

lle
n
g

in
g

 f
o

r 
N

H
S

 L
e
e

d
s
. 
 T

h
e

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 d

ra
w

s
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 p

la
n

 a
g

re
e
d

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 H
e

a
lt
h

 A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 (
S

H
A

) 
fo

r 
d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a

l 
ta

rg
e
ts

. 

T
h

e
 t
a

rg
e

t 
p

o
s
it
io

n
 f
o

r 
d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
1

8
 w

e
e
k
s
 w

a
s
 n

o
t 
to

ta
lly

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
 f
o

r 
N

o
v
e

m
b
e

r,
 p

a
rt

ly
 d

u
e

 t
o

 b
a

c
k
lo

g
 c

le
a
ra

n
c
e

 i
s
s
u

e
s
, 
th

o
u

g
h

 s
u

b
je

c
t 
to

 
v
a

lid
a

ti
o

n
 t
h

e
 t
a

rg
e

t 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
 f
o

r 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r.

 T
h

is
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
n

 
N

o
v
e

m
b
e

r 
w

ill
 n

o
t 
a

ff
e

c
t 
th

e
 r

a
ti
n

g
s
 u

n
d
e

r 
th

e
 A

n
n

u
a

l 
H

e
a

lt
h

 C
h

e
c
k
, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

o
m

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 t
o
 M

a
rc

h
 i
n
c
lu

s
iv

e
. 
  

T
h

e
re

 a
re

 r
is

k
s
 a

ro
u
n

d
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
t 
in

to
 J

a
n
u

a
ry

, 
d

u
e

 t
o

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n

 
e

le
c
ti
v
e

 r
e

fe
rr

a
ls

 s
in

c
e

 S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r,

 p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 i
n
 s

o
m

e
 s

p
e
c
ia

lt
ie

s
, 
E

a
r,

 
N

o
s
e

 a
n
d

 T
h

ro
a

t 
(E

N
T

) 
b

e
in

g
 o

n
e

. 
T

h
e

 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

e
la

te
 b

o
th

 t
o

 s
p

e
c
ia

lt
y
 a

n
d

 
s
u
b
-s

p
e
c
ia

lt
y
 l
e
v
e
l 
c
a
p
a

c
it
y
 a

n
d
 t
o
 v

e
ry

 s
p
e
c
if
ic

 c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
 w

it
h
in

 h
ig

h
ly

 
c
o
m

p
le

x
 s

u
b
-s

p
e
c
ia

lt
ie

s
. 
  
T

h
is

 l
a
tt
e
r 

s
e
t 
o
f 
is

s
u
e
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

s
c
a
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

S
H

A
 f
o

r 
d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
 i
n

 n
a

ti
o
n

a
l 
c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 f
o

ru
m

s
. 

T
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t
h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
L

T
H

T
 h

a
v
e

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

d
 t
h

e
ir
 c

a
p
a

c
it
y
 

th
ro

u
g
h

 t
h

e
ir
 o

w
n

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
n

ts
 p

ro
v
id

in
g

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a

l 
s
e
s
s
io

n
s
. 
 I
n

 a
d

d
it
io

n
 

in
d

e
p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
s
e
c
to

r 
p
ro

v
id

e
rs

 a
re

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

it
h

 b
o

th
 L

T
H

T
 a

n
d

 N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
 t
o

 
re

lie
v
e
 p

re
s
s
u
re

 i
n
 r

is
k
 a

re
a

s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 i
n
 E

N
T

, 
g
y
n
a
e
c
o
lo

g
y
 a

n
d
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
s
u

rg
e
ry

. 
  

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
 

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
  

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
R

u
th

 M
id

d
le

to
n
 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

5

Page 17



1
8

 w
e
e
k
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 w
a

it
in

g
 6

+
 w

e
e
k

s
 f

o
r 

1
5
 k

e
y
 d

ia
g

n
o

s
ti

c
s

W
a

it
s

 f
o

r 
d

ia
g

n
o

s
ti

c
s

 t
o

 b
e

 r
e

d
u

c
e
d

 t
o

 6
 w

e
e

k
s

 m
a
x

im
u

m

012345678

A
ct

u
a
l

1
7

2
2

T
ra

je
c
to

ry
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

S
e
p
-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
N

o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
Ja

n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

D
ia

g
n

o
s
ti

c
 w

a
it

s
 l
e
s
s
 t

h
a
n

 6
 w

e
e
k
s
 

Targ
et:  

 
The 

num
ber 

of p
atien

ts w
aitin

g 6 w
eeks

 or m
ore 

at th
e da

te of
 mea

sure
men

t for
 

all d
iagn

ostic
 test

s, sh
ould

 dec
reas

e to 
zero

 as r
apid

ly as
 pos

sible
 afte

r Ma
rch 

2008
. 

T
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
b

re
a
c
h

e
s
 h

a
s
 f
a

lle
n

 d
ra

m
a

ti
c
a

lly
 o

v
e

r 
th

e
 p

e
ri
o

d
 s

in
c
e

 
A

u
g
u
s
t.
 G

iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 e

a
rl
y
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

th
is

 i
s
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

a
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
t.
  

T
h

e
re

 w
a
s
 o

n
e

 b
re

a
c
h

 r
e

p
o

rt
e

d
 f
o

r 
N

o
v
e

m
b

e
r 

a
n

d
 t
w

o
 i
n

 D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
a

g
a

in
s
t 

a
 t
a

rg
e

t 
o

f 
z
e
ro

. 
T

h
e

 N
o

v
e
m

b
e

r 
b
re

a
c
h

 w
a
s
 f
ro

m
 N

e
u

ro
p
h

y
s
io

lo
g
y
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
b
re

a
c
h

e
s
 w

e
re

 b
o

th
 i
m

a
g

in
g

. 

E
x
a

m
p

le
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 b

re
a

c
h

e
s
 w

e
re

, 
in

 o
n

e
 c

a
s
e

 t
h

e
 

re
fe

rr
a
l 
w

a
s
 n

o
t 
re

c
e

iv
e
d
 u

n
ti
l 
tw

o
 d

a
y
s
 b

e
fo

re
 t
h

e
 b

re
a

c
h

 d
a

te
 l
e

a
v
in

g
 n

o
 

c
a

p
a

c
it
y
 a

t 
s
u
c
h

 s
h

o
rt

 n
o

ti
c
e

. 
 B

o
th

 o
f 
th

e
 D

e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
b

re
a
c
h
e

s
 w

e
re

 
a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 e

rr
o
rs

 g
e
n
e
ra

te
d
 b

y
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 s

ta
ff
. 
 L

e
s
s
o
n
s
 o

n
 a

ll 
o
f 
th

e
 

b
re

a
c
h
e

s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 d
ra

w
n
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 e
n
a

b
le

 t
h

e
 t
e

a
m

s
 a

t 
L

T
H

T
 t
o

 e
n
s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 

ri
s
k
s
 a

re
 i
d
e

n
ti
fi
e

d
 a

t 
a

n
 e

a
rl
ie

r 
s
ta

g
e

 a
n
d

 m
in

im
is

e
 t
h

e
 r

is
k
 o

f 
b

re
a
c
h

e
s
 i
n

 
fu

tu
re

.

T
h

e
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e

r 
a

n
d

 D
e
c
e
m

b
e

r 
p
o

s
it
io

n
 r

e
p

re
s
e

n
ts

 t
h
e

 f
in

a
l 
s
ta

g
e
s
 i
n

 
e

m
b

e
d
d

in
g

 t
h
e

 c
u

lt
u

re
 o

f 
n

o
 b

re
a
c
h
e

s
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

b
re

a
c
h
e
s
 a

re
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 o

f 
a
 w

id
e
r 

s
y
s
te

m
 f
a
ilu

re
, 
b
u
t 
m

o
re

 a
 m

a
tt
e
r 

o
f 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

th
e
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 e

v
e
n
tu

a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d

 p
o

s
s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 f
o

r 
b

re
a
c
h

e
s
 t
o

 
o

c
c
u

r 
h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 a
d
d

re
s
s
e
d

. 
  
 

T
h

e
 c

h
a

rt
 d

a
ta

 s
h

o
w

s
 b

re
a
c
h

e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 m

in
im

u
m

 s
ta

n
d
a

rd
 f
ro

m
 S

e
p

te
m

b
e
r 

0
8

 
o

n
ly

, 
d

u
e

 t
h

e
 v

e
ry

 l
o

w
 n

u
m

b
e

rs
 o

c
c
u
rr

in
g

 s
in

c
e
 t
h
a
t 
ti
m

e
, 
c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

s
ta

rt
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a
r,

 w
h
e
n
 f
o

r 
e

x
a

m
p

le
 a

ro
u

n
d

 7
7
0

 p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 w
a

it
e

d
 

lo
n

g
e
r 

th
a

n
 6

 w
e

e
k
s
. 
 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
R

u
th

 M
id

d
le

to
n
 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

6

Page 18



1
8

 w
e
e
k
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
u

tp
a
ti

e
n

ts
 b

re
a
c

h
in

g
 1

3
+

 w
e
e

k
s
 a

t 
e

a
c

h
 m

o
n

th
-e

n
d

E
n

s
u

re
 a

 m
a
x

im
u

m
 w

a
it

 o
f 

1
3

 w
e

e
k

s
 f

o
r 

o
u

tp
a

ti
e

n
ts

 

05

1
0

1
5

2
0

2
5

3
0

1
3
 W

e
e
ks

3
1
2

3
1
6

2
4

2
1

8
3

0

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
J
a
n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

in
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 b

re
a
c

h
in

g
 2

6
+

 w
e

e
k

s
 a

t 
e

a
c
h

 m
o

n
th

-e
n

d

E
n

s
u

re
 a

 m
a
x

im
u

m
 w

a
it

 o
f 

2
6

 w
e

e
k

s
 f

o
r 

in
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 

02468

1
0

1
2

1
4

2
6
 W

e
e
ks

8
7

4
7

2
4

1
3

8
1
4

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

Ju
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
Ja

n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

00

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

in
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 w

a
it

in
g

 l
o

n
g

e
r 

th
a
n

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

; 
N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
u

tp
a
ti

e
n

ts
 w

a
it

in
g

 l
o

n
g

e
r 

th
a
n

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 the 
max

imum
 wai

t for
 a fir

st ou
tpat

ient 
appo

intm
ent b

e no
 mor

e tha
n 13

 
wee

ks fr
om G

P re
ferra

l and
 for 

an in
patie

nt n
o mo

re th
an 2

6 we
eks 

after
 a 

deci
sion

 to a
dmit

. 
T

h
e

re
 w

e
re

 n
o

 1
3

w
e

e
k
 b

re
a

c
h
e

s
 d

u
ri

n
g

 D
e
c
, 
s
h

o
w

n
 a

s
 a

 g
re

e
n

 n
u
m

e
ra

l 
in

 
th

e
 t
o

p
 c

h
a
rt

. 
 T

h
e

re
 w

e
re

 6
x
2

6
 w

k
 b

re
a
c
h

e
s
 e

a
c
h

 i
n

 b
o

th
 N

e
u

ro
s
u
rg

e
ry

 a
n

d
 

P
la

s
ti
c
 S

u
rg

e
ry

. 
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
lly

, 
a
 b

re
a
c
h
 i
n
 G

e
n
e
ra

l 
S

u
rg

e
ry

 o
c
c
u
rr

e
d
, 
d
u
e
 t
o
 

b
o

th
 t
h

e
 c

o
m

p
le

x
it
y
 o

f 
c
a

re
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
d

 a
n

d
 t
h
e
 c

a
n
c
e
lla

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 t
h
e
a
tr

e
 s

lo
t.
  

A
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

b
re

a
c
h
 a

ls
o
 o

c
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
s
e
c
to

r.
  
 A

c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

 
D

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

P
C

T
s
 t
o
 s

te
m

 t
h
e
 f
lo

w
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 

N
e

u
ro

s
u
rg

e
ry

 s
e

rv
ic

e
. 
  

 
E

x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 S

p
in

a
l 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
S

e
rv

ic
e
, 
to

 f
ilt

e
r 

fo
r 

th
e
 L

T
H

T
 

N
e

u
ro

s
u
rg

e
ry

 s
e

rv
ic

e
. 
  

 
A

s
s
o
c
ia

te
 P

C
T

s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e
e

n
 e

n
c
o
u

ra
g

e
d

 t
o

 r
e

-d
ir
e
c
t 
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 t
o

 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
rs

. 
  

 
T

ra
n
s
fe

r 
w

o
rk

 t
o

 t
h

e
 l
o

c
a

l 
In

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
S

e
c
to

r.
  

 
T

h
e
 P

C
T

 i
s
 i
n
it
ia

ti
n
g
 a

n
 A

n
y
 W

ill
in

g
 P

ro
v
id

e
r 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 i
f 
a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

 c
a
n

 b
e

 f
o

u
n

d
. 
  

 
L

T
H

T
 a

re
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
la

n
s
 t
o

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 t
h

e
 l
e

v
e

l 
o

f 
c
a

p
a
c
it
y
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 f
o
r 

n
e
u
ro

s
u
rg

e
ry

 l
o
c
a
lly

, 
th

o
u
g

h
 i
t 
is

 n
o
t 
e
n
v
is

a
g
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 l
e
v
e
l 

o
f 
L
T

H
T

 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 L

T
H

T
 w

ill
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 u

n
ti
l 
J
u
n
e
 2

0
0
9
. 

P
la

s
ti
c
 S

u
rg

e
ry

 r
e

m
a

in
s
 a

 k
e

y
 r

is
k
 i
n

 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
2
6
w

e
e
k
 b

re
a
c
h
e
s
, 
w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

m
a
in

 a
re

a
 o

f 
c
a
p
a

c
it
y
 c

o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
b
e
in

g
 r

e
c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
v
e
 l
im

b
 s

u
rg

e
ry

. 
 A

 
c
a

p
a

c
it
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 u
n

d
e

rt
a
k
e
n

, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 s
u

g
g

e
s
t 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
in

v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in

 p
la

s
ti
c
 s

u
rg

e
ry

 a
t 
L
T

H
T

. 
 T

h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o

f 
o
n
e
 

s
u

rg
e

o
n

 b
e

in
g

 u
s
e
d

 a
s
 a

 n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
re

s
o
u

rc
e

 r
e
m

a
in

s
, 
w

it
h

 d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 o

n
 h

o
w

 
th

is
 w

o
rk

 c
a

n
 b

e
 r

e
-c

la
s
s
if
ie

d
 a

s
 a

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
lly

 S
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 o

n
g

o
in

g
  

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
K

e
v
in

 G
a
lla

c
h
e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

e
il 

H
a
le

s
, 
R

ic
h
a
rd

 W
a
ll 

&
 C

la
ir
e
 W

a
lk

e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

7

Page 19



1
8

 w
e
e
k
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s

1
8
 w

e
e
k

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r:
 G

P
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 f
o

r 
o

u
tp

a
ti

e
n

t 
- 

G
&

A

1
8
 w

e
e

k
s

0

2
0
0
0

4
0
0
0

6
0
0
0

8
0
0
0

1
0
0
0
0

1
2
0
0
0

1
4
0
0
0

0
8
0
9

1
1
2
5
9

1
0
7
2
5

1
1
1
5
3

1
2
2
2
5

1
1
3
5
7

1
1
8
3
1

1
2
4
9
6

1
0
5
0
9

1
0
7
1
4

0
7
0
8

9
2
6
7

9
0
7
8

9
0
4
9

9
1
7
3

9
2
5
0

9
9
6
7

1
0
2
8
6

1
0
2
1
5

8
3
8
2

1
0
2
7
8

9
8
0
8

9
6
0
3

A
p
r

M
a
y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u
g

S
e
p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

Ja
n

F
e
b

M
a
r

1
8

 w
e
e

k
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r:
 G

P
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 f
o

r 
o

u
tp

a
ti

e
n

t 
(g

e
n

e
ra

l 
&

 a
c
u

te
) 

Targ
et:  

 
No s

peci
fic ta

rget
; the

 inte
ntio

n be
ing t

o su
ppo

rt de
cisio

n ma
king

 aro
und

 the 
dem

and 
and 

capa
city 

need
ed to

 deli
ver a

nd s
usta

in a 
max

imum
 18 w

eek 
wait

 
time

.
S

in
c
e

 a
b
o

u
t 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

8
 t
h

e
re

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n

 a
 s

te
p

 c
h

a
n
g

e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 l
e

v
e
l 
o

f 
G

P
 

re
fe

rr
a
ls

 b
e
in

g
 r

e
c
o
rd

e
d
 a

s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d

 b
y
 T

ru
s
ts

. 
 

S
o
m

e
 o

f 
th

is
 c

a
n
 b

e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
 t
o
 b

e
tt
e
r 

c
o
u
n
ti
n
g
, 
fo

r 
in

s
ta

n
c
e
, 
N

H
S

 L
e
e
d
s
’ 

C
a

re
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 d

id
 n

o
t 
s
ta

rt
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g

 r
e

fe
rr

a
ls

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d

 u
n
ti
l 
la

s
t 
s
p
ri
n
g
. 
T

h
e
 

d
ri
v
e

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 a

n
d

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

f 
re

c
o
rd

in
g

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 d

u
e

 
to

 t
h

e
 s

tr
in

g
e
n

t 
re

q
u

ir
e

m
e
n

ts
 a

s
s
o
c
ia

te
d

 w
it
h

 m
o

n
it
o
ri
n

g
 1

8
-w

e
e
k
 w

a
it
s
. 

T
h

e
re

 h
a

v
e

 a
ls

o
 b

e
e

n
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e

 c
h

a
n
g

e
s
, 
fo

r 
e
x
a
m

p
le

 w
h
e
re

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
to

 
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a
n

t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 w
it
h

in
 s

e
c
o
n

d
a
ry

 c
a
re

 a
re

 b
e

in
g

 r
e

d
u
c
e

d
. 
 P

a
ti
e

n
ts

 a
re

 
b
e
in

g
 r

e
fe

rr
e
d

 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 G

P
, 
w

h
o
 c

o
u
ld

 t
h
e
n
 c

h
o
o
s
e
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

re
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 c
a
re

. 
  

H
o
w

e
v
e

r,
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 d

o
u

b
t 
th

a
t 
a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
p

ro
p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

te
p

 c
h

a
n

g
e

 i
s
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 r

e
a
l 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
. 
A

 w
id

e
 r

a
n
g
e
 o

f 
fa

c
to

rs
 a

re
 u

n
d
e
rs

to
o
d
 t
o
 b

e
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o

 t
h
is

, 
fo

r 
e
x
a
m

p
le

, 
s
h
o
rt

e
r 

w
a

it
s
, 
in

c
re

a
s
e

d
 p

a
ti
e

n
t 
a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s
, 

’f
re

e
 c

h
o

ic
e

’ 
a

n
d

 t
h

u
s
 e

a
s
ie

r 
a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t,
 c

lin
ic

a
l 
g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
p
a
th

w
a
y
s
 a

n
d
 l
e
s
s
 u

s
e
 o

f 
p
ri

v
a
te

 h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re

. 
W

h
ils

t 
th

e
 

s
te

p
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
s
 v

is
ib

le
 a

t 
a
 c

it
y
 l
e
v
e
l 
it
 i
s
 m

u
c
h
 l
e
s
s
 s

o
 a

t 
th

e
 d

a
ily

, 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
l 

G
P

 a
n
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 l
e
v
e
l.
  

It
 i
s
 t
h

e
 i
n

te
n

ti
o

n
 t
o

 e
n

g
a
g

e
 P

ra
c
ti
c
e

 B
a

s
e

d
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

rs
 i
n

 u
n
d

e
rs

ta
n
d

in
g

 
th

e
 t
ru

e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 d
e

m
a

n
d

, 
e

n
s
u
re

 i
t 
is

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

te
 a

n
d

 t
o

 
id

e
n
ti
fy

 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 t
o
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 c
a
re

. 
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
p

o
rt

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 a
s
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

L
y
n
to

n
 T

re
m

a
y
n
e
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
L

e
a

d
: 
 

 
A

la
s
ta

ir
 C

a
rt

w
ri
g
h

t 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
L
e

a
d

: 
 

 
A

la
s
ta

ir
 C

a
rt

w
ri
g
h

t 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

8

Page 20



L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

9

1
8

 w
e
e
k
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
o

u
tp

a
ti

e
n

t 
b

o
o

k
in

g
s
 m

a
d

e
 u

s
in

g
 t

h
e
 C

h
o

o
s
e

 &
 B

o
o

k
 s

y
s

te
m

C
h

o
o

s
e
 a

n
d

 B
o

o
k

0
%

2
0
%

4
0
%

6
0
%

8
0
%

1
0

0
%

A
c
tu

a
l

2
2
%

2
5
%

2
7
%

2
7
%

2
7
.0

2
9
.0

2
9
.0

2
8
.0

2
6
.0

In
te

ri
m

 T
ra

je
c
to

ry
2
7
%

2
7
%

3
1
%

2
9
%

2
9
%

2
9
%

2
9
%

3
1
%

3
4
%

3
9
%

4
5
%

5
3
%

6
2
%

7
2
%

8
1
%

9
0
%

9
2
%

9
5
%

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a

y- 0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v
-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

A
p
r-

0
9

M
a

y- 0
9

J
u
n
-

0
9

J
u
l-

0
9

A
u
g
-

0
9

S
e
p
-

0
9

O
c
t-

0
9

N
o
v
-

0
9

D
e
c
-

0
9

M
a
x
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
o

o
s
e
 &

 B
o

o
k
 s

y
s
te

m
  

Targ
et:  

 
To s

ecur
e 90

% us
age 

of C
hoo

se &
 Boo

k sy
stem

, in l
ine w

ith t
he A

tos r
epor

t.
D

a
ta

 f
o
r 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

s
h
o
w

e
d

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

t 
2
6
%

, 
s
lig

h
tl
y
 d

o
w

n
 o

n
 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r,

 m
ir
ro

ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
a
ta

, 
w

it
h
 o

n
ly

 9
 o

f 
1
5
2
 P

C
T

s
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 

th
e
ir
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 d
a
ta

 f
o
r 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 s
o

 f
a

r 
s
h

o
w

s
 t
h

a
t 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 
is

 r
u
n
n

in
g
 a

t 
3
3
-3

5
%

. 
 

A
 J

o
in

t 
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 M

a
n
a

g
e

r 
fo

r 
N

H
S

 L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

T
H

T
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

p
p
o
in

te
d

. 
 

O
n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 f
ir
s
t 
ta

s
k
s
 o

f 
th

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

is
 t
o
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
 a

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 p

la
n

 t
o
 s

h
o
w

 
h
o
w

 d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 A

to
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 

In
 t
h
e
 m

e
a
n
ti
m

e
, 
w

o
rk

 o
n
 G

P
 u

p
ta

k
e
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 o

n
 

C
h

o
o

s
e

 a
n

d
 B

o
o

k
 (

C
&

B
) 

m
e

n
u
s
 c

o
n

ti
n
u

e
s
. 
 O

n
ly

 2
 L

e
e

d
s
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e

s
 a

re
 n

o
t 

e
n
g
a
g
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
C

h
o
o
s
e
 a

n
d
 B

o
o
k
. 
 L

T
H

T
 h

a
v
e
 9

5
%

 o
f 
e
lig

ib
le

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
, 
th

e
 r

e
m

a
in

d
e
r 

a
s
 i
n

d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

o
o

k
a

b
le

. 
 

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l 
a
c
ti
o

n
s
 b

e
in

g
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
 u

s
e

 o
f 
th

e
 C

&
B

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 
 

N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
’ 
S

p
in

a
l 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
C

lin
ic

 w
e
n
t 
liv

e
 a

s
 a

n
 i
n
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

o
o
k
a
b
le

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 o

n
 1

9
th

 J
a

n
u
a

ry
. 
 

 
It
 i
s
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 r

e
m

a
in

in
g
 M

u
s
c
u

lo
-s

k
e

le
ta

l 
D

ir
e

c
t 
A

c
c
e
s
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

w
ill

 g
o
 l
iv

e
 a

s
 i
n
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

o
o
k
a
b

le
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
F

e
b
ru

a
ry

. 
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
b
a
ri
a

tr
ic

 s
u

rg
e

ry
 w

ill
 g

o
 l
iv

e
 a

s
 a

n
 i
n

d
ir
e

c
tl
y
 b

o
o

k
a

b
le

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 b

y
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
F

e
b
ru

a
ry

. 
 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
P

a
e
d
ia

tr
ic

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

C
h
ic

s
 c

lin
ic

s
) 

e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
o

 g
o
 l
iv

e
 i
n
 F

e
b
. 

 
L

E
S

 p
a

y
m

e
n

ts
 h

a
v
e

 b
e
e

n
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d

 a
n
d

 a
g

re
e

d
 f
o

r 
Q

2
, 
p

a
y
m

e
n

t 
in

 J
a

n
. 

 
L

T
H

T
 d

ir
e
c
t 
a
c
c
e

s
s
 d

ia
g

n
o
s
ti
c
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 s

c
o
p

e
d

. 
 

L
T

H
T

 a
re

 r
e
v
ie

w
in

g
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 w
h
o
 d

id
 n

o
t 
a
tt
e
n
d
 (

D
N

A
s
).

  
 

T
h
e
 f
o
rm

a
t 
o
f 
re

fe
rr

a
l 
le

tt
e
rs

 i
s
 p

re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
T

h
is

 i
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 

re
je

c
ti
o

n
 d

u
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 u

n
w

o
rk

a
b

le
 o

p
e

ra
ti
o
n

a
l 
p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
P

h
ili

p
 G

ra
n

t 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
L
e

a
d

: 
 

 
R

o
b

 G
o

o
d

y
e
a

r 

Page 21



C
a
n

c
e
r
 w

a
it

 t
im

e
s
 

U
rg

e
n

t 
G

P
 C

a
n

c
e

r 
R

e
fe

rr
a

ls
 r

e
c
e

iv
e
d

 w
it

h
in

 4
8
 h

o
u

rs
 a

n
d

 s
e
e

n
 w

it
h

in
 1

4
 d

a
y
s

A
c

c
e
s

s
 t

o
 C

a
n

c
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

9
9
.9

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.8

%
9
9
.7

%
1
0
0
.0

%
1
0
0
.0

%
9
9
.9

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

Ju
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
J
a
n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

M
a

x
im

u
m

 w
a
it

 t
im

e
 o

f 
1

4
 d

a
y
s

 f
ro

m
 u

rg
e
n

t 
G

P
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l 
to

 
fi

rs
t 

o
u

tp
a
ti

e
n

t 
a
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
s
u

s
p

e
c
te

d
 c

a
n

c
e
r 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 ther
e be

 a m
axim

um w
ait ti

me o
f 14 

days
 from

 urg
ent G

P re
ferra

l to a
 firs

t 
outp

atien
t app

oint
men

t for
 sus

pect
ed c

ance
r, wi

th a 
targ

et of
 100

% an
d an

 
oper

ation
al st

anda
rd o

f gre
ater

 than
 or e

qual
 to 9

8% p
atien

ts se
en.  

T
h

e
 v

a
lid

a
te

d
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 f
o

r 
N

o
v
e

m
b
e

r 
is

 1
0

0
%

 f
o

r 
b

o
th

 N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
 a

n
d

 a
ll 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 t
o

 L
T

H
T

. 
 T

h
e

 p
ro

je
c
te

d
 D

e
c
e

m
b
e
r 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 a

ls
o
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h
e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
o
f 
1
0
0
%

. 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 ‘
n
o
 a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
ts

’ 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 ‘
G

o
in

g
 F

u
rt

h
e

r 
o

n
 

C
a

n
c
e
r 

W
a

it
s
’ 
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 f
ro

m
 1

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

, 
is

 i
m

p
a
c
ti
n
g
 o

n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
in

 J
a
n

u
a

ry
. 
T

h
e

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 J

a
n

u
a
ry

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 i
s
 9

3
.4

%
 w

it
h

 3
3

 b
re

a
c
h
e

s
 

o
u
t 
o
f 
4
9
9
 p

a
ti
e
n
ts

 s
o
 f
a
r 

th
is

 m
o
n
th

. 
 

T
h

e
 m

a
in

 i
s
s
u

e
s
 s

e
e

m
 t
o

 b
e

 a
ro

u
n

d
 p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 w
a
n

ti
n

g
 a

p
p

o
in

tm
e
n

ts
 o

u
ts

id
e

 
th

e
 1

4
 d

a
y
 t
a
rg

e
t 
p
e
ri
o
d
. 
D

a
ta

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 t
o
 v

e
ri
fy

 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
. 
T

h
e
re

 
is

 a
n

 a
g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
to

 m
a

in
ta

in
 t
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
m

e
th

o
d

 o
f 
o

ff
e

ri
n

g
 p

a
ti
e

n
t 
c
h

o
ic

e
, 
b

u
t 

N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
 i
s
 t
o

 w
ri
te

 t
o

 a
ll 

G
P

s
 e

m
p

h
a

s
is

in
g

 t
h

e
 i
m

p
o

rt
a

n
c
e

 o
f 
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 
b
e
in

g
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 1

s
t 
a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t 
w

it
h
in

 1
4
 d

a
y
s
. 
 I
n
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
, 
th

e
 s

c
ri
p
t 
th

a
t 
L
T

H
T

 R
e
fe

rr
a
l 
a
n

d
 B

o
o

k
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 u
s
e

 w
it
h

 p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 s

tr
e
n

g
th

e
n
e

d
 t
o

 e
m

p
h

a
s
is

e
 t
h

e
 u

rg
e

n
t 
re

fe
rr

a
l 
s
ta

tu
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 

to
 b

e
 f
re

e
 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 w

it
h
in

 1
4
 d

a
y
s
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

a
n
d
ra

 F
ri
e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

10

Page 22



C
a
n

c
e
r
 w

a
it

 t
im

e
s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 r

e
c

e
iv

in
g

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
w

it
h

in
 3

1
 d

a
y

s
 o

f 
d

ia
g

n
o

s
is

A
c

c
e
s

s
 t

o
 C

a
n

c
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

9
8
.6

%
9
7
.9

%
9
7
.2

%
9
9
.6

%
9
8
.4

%
9
9
.0

%
9
9
.0

%
9
8
.6

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

Ju
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
J
a
n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

M
a

x
im

u
m

 w
a
it

 t
im

e
 o

f 
3

1
 d

a
y
s

 f
ro

m
 d

ia
g

n
o

s
is

 t
o

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
a
ll
 c

a
n

c
e
rs

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 ther
e be

 a m
axim

um w
ait ti

me o
f 31 

days
 from

 diag
nosi

s of 
canc

er to
 the 

begi
nnin

g of
 trea

tmen
t , w

ith a
 targ

et of
 98%

 of p
atien

ts se
en.  

T
h
e
 v

a
lid

a
te

d
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 f
o
r 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

is
 9

9
%

 f
o
r 

a
ll 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 t
o
 L

T
H

T
. 
T

h
e
re

 
w

e
re

 a
 t
o

ta
l 
o

f 
4

 b
re

a
c
h

e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 s

k
in

, 
lu

n
g

 a
n
d

 H
P

B
 o

u
t 
o

f 
3

0
3

 c
a
s
e
s
. 

T
h

e
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e

r,
 y

e
t 
to

 b
e

 v
a

lid
a

te
d

, 
p

o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 9

8
%

 f
o

r 
a

ll 
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 t
o

 L
T

H
T

 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 J

a
n

u
a

ry
 0

9
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 9

8
.5

%
 w

it
h

 3
 b

re
a
c
h
e

s
 o

u
t 
o

f 
2

0
4

 
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 a
s
 a

t 
2

6
 J

a
n
u

a
ry

. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

a
n
d
ra

 F
ri
e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

11

Page 23



C
a
n

c
e
r
 w

a
it

 t
im

e
s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 r

e
c

e
iv

in
g

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
w

it
h

in
 6

2
 d

a
y

s
 o

f 
re

fe
rr

a
l

A
c

c
e
s

s
 t

o
 C

a
n

c
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

9
0

%

1
0
0

%

A
c
tu

a
l

9
7
.9

%
1
0
0
.0

%
9
5
.2

%
9
3
.0

%
9
4
.6

%
9
0
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
2
.7

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
J
a
n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

M
a

x
im

u
m

 w
a
it

 t
im

e
 o

f 
6

2
 d

a
y
s

 f
ro

m
 u

rg
e
n

t 
G

P
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l 
to

 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n

t 
fo

r 
a
ll
 c

a
n

c
e
rs

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 ther
e be

 a m
axim

um w
ait ti

me o
f 62 

days
 from

 urg
ent G

P re
ferra

l for
 

susp
ecte

d ca
ncer

  to t
he b

egin
ning

 of t
reat

men
t , w

ith a
 targ

et of
 95%

 of 
patie

nts s
een.

  
T

h
e

 N
o

v
e
m

b
e

r 
p

o
s
it
io

n
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
9

2
%

 w
a

s
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
d

. 
 T

h
e

re
 w

e
re

 1
0

 p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 
w

h
o

 b
re

a
c
h
e
d

, 
a

c
ro

s
s
 a

 r
a
n

g
e

 o
f 
tu

m
o

u
r 

g
ro

u
p
s
 o

u
t 
o

f 
1

0
3

 c
a
s
e
s
. 
 

D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
s
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 t
o

 b
e

 a
ro

u
n

d
 8

8
%

 (
1

4
.5

 b
re

a
c
h

e
s
 o

u
t 
o

f 
1

5
0

 c
a

s
e

s
).

  
O

f 
th

e
 b

re
a
c
h
e

s
, 
9

 r
e

la
te

 t
o
 L

e
e

d
s
 p

a
ti
e

n
ts

. 
 T

h
e

 r
e

m
a

in
in

g
 

b
re

a
c
h
e
s
 r

e
la

te
 t
o
 i
n
te

r 
tr

u
s
t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

. 
T

h
e

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

 e
s
ti
m

a
te

 (
u

n
d

e
r 

th
e

 n
e

w
 

ru
le

s
, 
w

it
h

o
u

t 
a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n

ts
) 

is
 7

3
%

-7
4

%
. 
 T

h
is

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 w

a
s
 m

a
d

e
 w

o
rs

e
 d

u
e

 
to

 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
d
e
fe

rr
a
ls

 p
ri

o
r 

to
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
h
o
lid

a
y
s
. 

D
H

 c
o

n
fi
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
q
u

ir
e

d
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 o

f 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 

d
e
fi
n
it
io

n
 i
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
o
 b

e
 i
s
s
u
e
d

 i
n
 M

a
y
. 
It
 i
s
 t
h
o

u
g
h
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 m
a
y
 b

e
 s

e
t 
a
t 
a
ro

u
n
d
 8

5
%

. 

A
 k

e
y
 p

ro
b

le
m

 r
e

m
a

in
s
 w

it
h

 l
u

n
g

 s
u
rg

e
ry

 a
n

d
 i
n

te
r 

tr
u
s
t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

. 
F

ro
m

 2
6

 
J
a

n
u

a
ry

 u
n

ti
l 
th

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 
F

e
b

ru
a
ry

, 
s
o

m
e

 l
u

n
g

 c
a

n
c
e

r 
p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 t
re

a
te

d
 

in
 t
h

e
 i
n

d
e

p
e
n

d
e

n
t 
s
e

c
to

r.
 T

h
is

 w
ill

 f
re

e
 u

p
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 a

t 
L

T
H

T
, 
c
o
u
p

le
d

 w
it
h

 
s
p
e
c
if
ic

 a
c
ti
o
n

s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 l
u
n
g
 p

a
th

w
a
y
. 
 T

h
e
s
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
: 

 
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 t
im

e
d
 p

a
ti
e
n
t 
p
a
th

w
a
y
 f
o
r 

lu
n
g
 c

a
n
c
e
r 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

. 
 

 
J
o

in
t 
w

o
rk

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 Y

C
N

 t
o

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

 e
a

rl
y
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
e
s
 d

u
ri
n

g
 F

e
b

ru
a
ry

 a
n

d
 

M
a

rc
h

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 a

d
d
re

s
s
in

g
 t
h

e
 i
s
s
u

e
 o

f 
in

te
r 

tr
u

s
t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

. 
T

h
is

 h
a
s
 a

lr
e
a

d
y
 r

e
s
u

lt
e

d
 i
n

 a
 r

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 t
h

e
 w

a
it
s
 f
o
r 

in
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 6

 t
o

 2
 

w
e

e
k
s
. 
T

h
is

 i
s
 a

im
e

d
 t
o

 r
e
d

u
c
e

 t
o

 1
 w

e
e

k
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

ls
o

 a
 s

im
ila

r 
re

d
u
c
ti
o

n
 

fo
r 

o
u

tp
a

ti
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 6

 t
o

 j
u
s
t 
1

 w
e

e
k
. 
 T

h
e

s
e

 a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
a

c
ti
o
n

s
 b

e
in

g
 t
a

k
e
n

 t
o

 
im

p
ro

v
e

 p
a

ti
e
n

t 
p

a
th

w
a

y
s
 a

n
d

 e
s
c
a

la
ti
o
n

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 w

ill
 r

e
s
u

lt
 i
n

 s
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 i
n

 p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n

c
e

 f
ro

m
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 o
n

w
a

rd
s
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

a
n
d
ra

 F
ri
e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

12

Page 24



C
a
n

c
e
r
 w

a
it

 t
im

e
s
 

W
o

m
e
n

 o
ff

e
re

d
 b

re
a

s
t 

s
c
re

e
n

in
g

A
c

c
e
s

s
 t

o
 C

a
n

c
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s

0
%

2
0

%

4
0

%

6
0

%

8
0

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

7
8
.0

%
7
3
.0

%
7
3
.0

%
7
9
.0

%
7
6
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
6
.0

%
7
9
.0

%

T
a
rg

e
t

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

7
0
%

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-0

8
Ju

l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
N

o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
Ja

n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

B
re

a
s
t 

c
a
n

c
e
r 

s
c
re

e
n

in
g

 f
o

r 
w

o
m

e
n

 a
g

e
d

 5
3
 t

o
 7

0
 y

e
a
rs

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 all w
ome

n ag
ed 5

3 to 
70 y

ears
 be i

nvite
d fo

r rou
tine 

scre
enin

g fo
r bre

ast 
canc

er, b
ased

 on a
 thre

e-ye
ar sc

reen
ing c

ycle
, wit

h an
 ope

ratio
nal t

arge
t of 

70%
 for 

upta
ke a

nd 9
0% f

or ro
und

 leng
th cy

cle. 
 

B
re

a
s
t 
s
c
re

e
n

in
g

 u
p

ta
k
e

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e
s
 t
o

 m
e

e
t 
th

e
 t
a

rg
e

t.
 T

h
e

 B
re

a
s
t 
S

c
re

e
n

in
g

 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 i
s
 n

o
w

 l
o

o
k
in

g
 t
o

 r
e

a
c
h

 g
o

ld
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 o

f 
8
0

%
. 
 T

h
e

 b
re

a
s
t 

s
c
re

e
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 w

a
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 n
o
t 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 r

o
u
n
d
 l
e
n
g
th

 t
a
rg

e
t 
(9

0
%

 
o
f 
w

o
m

e
n
 s

c
re

e
n
e
d
 i
n
 3

6
 m

o
n
th

s
),

 b
u
t 

h
a
s
 n

o
w

 s
u
s
ta

in
e
d
 t
h
is

 t
a
rg

e
t.
  

W
o
rk

 w
it
h

 v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p

s
 t
o

 p
ro

m
o

te
 s

c
re

e
n

in
g

 h
a
s
 a

ls
o

 
b

e
g

u
n

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 w

it
h

 W
o

m
e

n
’s

 H
e

a
lt
h

 M
a

tt
e

rs
 a

n
d

 A
g
e

 C
o

n
c
e
rn

. 
 O

n
e

 f
o

c
u

s
 

is
 o

n
 s

c
re

e
n

in
g

 w
o

m
e

n
 o

v
e

r 
th

e
 a

g
e

 o
f 
7

0
, 

w
h
o
 p

re
s
e
n
tl
y
 s

e
lf
 r

e
fe

r,
 g

iv
e
n
 

th
a
t 
ri
s
k
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 w

it
h
 a

g
e
. 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
o

f 
a

 l
o

c
a

lly
 e

n
h

a
n
c
e
d

 G
P

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 (

L
E

S
) 

w
it
h

 p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 i
s
 a

ls
o

 
b

e
in

g
 e

x
p

lo
re

d
. 
A

 d
ru

g
 c

o
m

p
a

n
y
 i
s
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

in
g

 a
 p

ro
je

c
t 
to

 t
a

rg
e

t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 

th
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 l
o
w

 u
p
ta

k
e
 a

n
d
 f
a
ll 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 1

0
%

 h
ig

h
e
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
a
s
. 
 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
K

a
te

 J
a
c
o
b
s
 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

13

Page 25



H
e
a
lt

h
 c

a
r
e
 a

s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

 i
n

fe
c
ti

o
n

s
 

s
ta

n
d

a
r
d

s
 

C
u

m
u

la
ti

v
e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
M

R
S

A
 p

o
s
it

iv
e

 b
lo

o
d

 c
u

lt
u

re
 e

p
is

o
d

e
s

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

a
re

 A
s
s

o
c
ia

te
d

 I
n

fe
c

ti
o

n
s

05

1
0

1
5

2
0

2
5

01
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

6
0

7
0

8
0

9
0

1
0

0

A
ct

u
a
l

1
3

1
6

5
5

5
8

1
0

9
5

2
2

1
2

1
2

T
a
rg

e
t

6
6

5
6

6
6

6
6

6
6

6
6

6
6

6

Y
T

D
 T

ra
j.

6
1
2

1
8

2
4

3
0

3
6

4
2

4
8

5
4

6
0

6
6

7
2

Y
T

D
 A

c
tu

a
l

5
1
0

1
8

2
8

3
7

4
2

6
4

7
6

8
8

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

Ju
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

M
R

S
A

 l
e
v
e
ls

 s
u

s
ta

in
e
d

, 
w

it
h

 l
o

c
a
l 

s
tr

e
tc

h
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 b
e
y
o

n
d

 
th

e
 n

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

ta
rg

e
ts

 

Targ
et:  

 
To m

ainta
in a 

max
imum

 of n
ot m

ore 
than

 6 ca
ses 

per 
mon

th.  
T

h
e
re

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 1

1
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

f 
M

R
S

A
 i
n
 J

a
n

u
a
ry

 (
to

 d
a
te

).
 T

h
e

re
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 
1

0
2

 c
a

s
e

s
 t
h

is
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
y
e
a

r.
 C

a
s
e
s
 o

c
c
u

rr
e

d
 w

it
h

in
 C

ri
ti
c
a

l 
C

a
re

 M
e

d
ic

in
e

, 
G

e
n
e
ra

l 
M

e
d
ic

in
e
, 
G

e
n
e
ra

l 
S

u
rg

e
ry

, 
E

ld
e

rl
y
 M

e
d
ic

in
e
 a

n
d
 N

e
p
h
ro

lo
g
y
. 
 T

h
is

 
m

e
a

n
s
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 t
o

ta
l 
a

n
n

u
a

l 
ta

rg
e

t 
o

f 
7

2
 c

a
s
e
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 b
re

a
c
h
e

d
. 
 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
im

p
ro

v
in

g
 i
n

fe
c
ti
o

n
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 w

e
re

 m
a

d
e

 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 a
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

D
H

 v
is

it
 i
n

 D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r.
  
A

 r
e

v
is

e
d

 a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 (
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

n
d
 s

ta
ff
) 

fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 D

H
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 s

ta
ff
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 i
n
fe

c
ti
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 
p
o
lic

ie
s
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 
c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 a
m

o
u

n
t 
o

f 
w

o
rk

 b
e

in
g

 u
n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 H
C

A
Is

, 
b
u

t 
th

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
b

a
c
te

ra
e

m
ia

 r
e
m

a
in

s
 h

ig
h

. 
D

is
c
ip

lin
a
ry

 p
ro

c
e

d
u

re
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 

in
v
o

k
e
d

 w
h
e

re
 a

g
re

e
d

 p
ro

c
e

d
u

re
s
 a

re
 n

o
t 
b

e
in

g
 f
o

llo
w

e
d

. 

D
H

, 
S

H
A

 a
n
d
 N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 a

re
 w

o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h

 L
T

H
T

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 a

 r
o

b
u

s
t 
s
y
s
te

m
 

o
f 
ro

o
t 
c
a
u

s
e

 a
n

a
ly

s
is

 i
s
 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 h

e
a
lt
h
 c

a
re

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 
A

c
ti
o
n
s
 

a
re

 b
e

in
g

 t
a

k
e

n
 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 a

re
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
te

d
 e

ff
e

c
ti
v
e
ly

 a
n

d
 

th
e
y
 a

re
 f
o
llo

w
e
d
 b

y
 h

e
a
lt
h
 c

a
re

 s
ta

ff
. 

A
s
 r

e
p
o

rt
e

d
 a

t 
th

e
 l
a

s
t 
B

o
a

rd
 m

e
e

ti
n
g

, 
a
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 N

o
ti
c
e
 w

a
s
 i
s
s
u

e
d
 t
o
 

L
T

H
T

 i
n
 J

a
n
u
a

ry
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 H

C
A

Is
. 
 T

h
e
 p

re
c
is

e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
p
e
n
a
lt
y
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 i
n

 c
o

n
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
 o

f 
fi
n
a
lis

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r’
s
 L

T
H

T
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t.
 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

14

Page 26



H
e
a
lt

h
 c

a
r
e
 a

s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

 i
n

fe
c
ti

o
n

s
 

s
ta

n
d

a
r
d

s
 

C
.D

if
f 

in
fe

c
ti

o
n

s

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

a
re

 A
s
s

o
c
ia

te
d

 I
n

fe
c

ti
o

n
s

0

2
0

4
0

6
0

8
0

1
0
0

1
2
0

01
0
0

2
0
0

3
0
0

4
0
0

5
0
0

6
0
0

7
0
0

8
0
0

9
0
0

1
0
0

0

A
c
tu

a
l

1
1
0

9
0

9
3

1
0
1

9
8

9
5

8
7

8
8

8
9

9
7

7
8

8
4

T
ra

je
ct

o
ry

1
0
3

1
0
0

8
0

6
7

5
9

5
9

6
6

6
9

7
0

7
2

6
6

5
9

Y
T

D
 T

ra
j.

1
0
3

2
0
3

2
8
3

3
5
0

4
0
9

4
6
8

5
3
4

6
0
3

6
7
3

7
4
5

8
1
1

8
7
0

Y
T

D
 T

o
ta

l
1
0
1

1
9
9

2
9
4

3
8
1

4
6
9

5
5
8

6
5
5

7
3
3

8
1
7

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

Ju
n
-

0
8

Ju
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

In
c

id
e

n
c

e
 o

f 
C

lo
s

tr
id

iu
m

 D
if

fi
c

il
e

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 NHS
 Lee

ds w
ork 

to co
ntrib

ute t
o a r

educ
tion

 of 3
0% i

n th
e nu

mbe
r of 

case
s at 

the n
ation

al le
vel, 

with
 a lo

cal t
arge

t of 
4.1 c

ases
 per

 100
0 ad

miss
ions

 
by 2

010/
11. 

T
h

e
re

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 7
7

 c
a
s
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

it
y
 i
n

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

 t
o

 d
a
te

, 
1

4
 f
ro

m
 L

P
F

T
 a

n
d

 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 a

n
d

 6
3

 f
ro

m
 L

T
H

T
, 
a

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 
fr

o
m

 9
4

 i
n

 D
e
c
e

m
b

e
r.

 
T

h
e

 l
e

v
e

l 
fo

r 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 c
o

n
s
ta

n
t 
d

u
ri
n
g

 t
h

is
 y

e
a

r 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

o
v
e
ra

ll 
tr

e
n
d
 i
n

 L
T

H
T

 i
s
 d

o
w

n
w

a
rd

, 
m

o
s
t 
lik

e
ly

 a
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 r

e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
in

g
 

c
o

m
p

lia
n
c
e

 w
it
h

 a
n

ti
b

io
ti
c
 p

ro
to

c
o

ls
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 o
f 
m

o
re

 i
s
o
la

ti
o
n
 

c
a

p
a

c
it
y
. 
A

ll 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 c

a
s
e
s
 a

re
 i
n

v
e
s
ti
g

a
te

d
 u

s
in

g
 r

o
o

t 
c
a
u

s
e

 a
n
a

ly
s
is

 
te

c
h

n
iq

u
e
s
, 
w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 f
o

u
n
d

 a
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o

n
s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 a

n
ti
b

io
ti
c
 u

s
e

 a
n
d

 
h

o
s
p

it
a

l 
a

d
m

is
s
io

n
. 

R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
im

p
ro

v
in

g
 i
n

fe
c
ti
o

n
 c

o
n

tr
o

l 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 w

e
re

 m
a

d
e

 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 a
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

D
H

 v
is

it
 i
n

 D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
2

0
0

8
. 
 A

 r
e

v
is

e
d

 L
T

H
T

 a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 (
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ff
) 

fr
o

m
 t
h

e
 D

H
 w

ill
 b

e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 s

ta
ff
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 i
n
fe

c
ti
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 
p
o
lic

ie
s
. 
 

L
T

H
T

 h
a

s
 a

 s
e

t 
o

f 
p

o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

c
e

d
u
re

s
 r

e
la

ti
n

g
 t
o

 H
C

A
Is

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 

h
a
v
in

g
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 a

n
ti
b
io

ti
c
 p

re
s
c
ri
b

in
g
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 
re

n
e
w

e
d

 e
m

p
h

a
s
is

 o
n

 m
a
k
in

g
 s

u
re

 t
h

e
s
e
 a

re
 f
o

llo
w

e
d

, 
w

it
h

 a
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
fe

e
d

b
a
c
k
 t
o

 c
lin

ic
ia

n
s
, 
h

e
lp

in
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 i
n

 
id

e
n
ti
fy

in
g
 b

a
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b

e
 e

lim
in

a
te

d
. 
 

F
o

r 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e
d

 e
m

p
h

a
s
is

 o
n

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti
o
n

 o
f 

ri
g
o
ro

u
s
 i
n
fe

c
ti
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

o
l,
 a

n
d
 a

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
-l
e
v
e
l 
a
n
ti
b
io

ti
c
 p

o
lic

y
 i
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 
A

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
, 
w

o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 w

it
h

 L
T

H
T

 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 a
 c

o
h

e
re

n
t 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 p

re
s
c
ri
b
in

g
 a

n
ti
b
io

ti
c
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 h

e
a
lt
h
 e

c
o
n
o
m

y
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy

 g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
ro

m
 o

th
e
r 

P
C

T
s
. 
 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

15

Page 27



P
r
im

a
r
y
 c

a
r
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

4
8
 H

o
u

r 
A

c
c

e
s

s
 t

o
 a

 G
P

P
ri

m
a
ry

 C
a
re

 A
c

c
e
s

s

8
0

%

8
2

%

8
4

%

8
6

%

8
8

%

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

9
9
.7

9
%

9
7
.3

5
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

0
7
/0

8
 -

 Q
4

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
1

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
2

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
3

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
4

2
4
 H

o
u

r 
A

c
c

e
s

s
 t

o
 a

 P
C

P

P
ri

m
a
ry

 C
a
re

 A
c

c
e
s

s

8
0

%

8
2

%

8
4

%

8
6

%

8
8

%

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
c
tu

a
l

9
8
.4

7
%

9
8
.6

3
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

1
0
0
.0

0
%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

0
7
/0

8
 -

 Q
4

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
1

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
2

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
3

0
8
/0

9
 -

 Q
4

A
c
c

e
s
s

 t
o

 p
ri

m
a
ry

 c
a
re

  

Targ
et:  

 
Pati

ents
 are 

able
 to a

cces
s a p

rima
ry ca

re p
rofe

ssio
nal w

ithin
 24 h

rs an
d a G

P 
with

in 48
 hrs

.  
1
0
0
%

 o
f 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 m

e
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
in

 t
h
e
 f
in

a
l 
q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 s

u
rv

e
y
 o

f 
J
a
n
u
a
ry

 
2
0
0
9
.

T
h

e
 w

a
y
 i
n

 w
h

ic
h

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

 i
s
 r

e
c
o
rd

e
d

 a
n

d
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
 w

ill
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 w

it
h
 e

ff
e
c
t 
fr

o
m

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 
 

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 s

ti
ll 

a
w

a
it
e
d
 r

e
g
a

rd
in

g
 t
h
e
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
 a

n
d
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 

m
e

c
h
a

n
is

m
s
 b

u
t 
it
 i
s
 c

le
a

r 
th

e
re

 w
ill

 n
o

 l
o

n
g

e
r 

b
e

 a
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
to

 u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e

 
th

e
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 s

u
rv

e
y
, 
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

a
s
t.
 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
L

e
a

d
: 
 

 
D

a
m

ia
n

 R
ile

y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
E

m
m

a
 W

ils
o
n

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

16

Page 28



P
r
im

a
r
y
 c

a
r
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

F
a

m
il
y

 F
ri

e
n

d
ly

 H
o

u
rs

P
ri

m
a
ry

 C
a
re

 A
c

c
e
s

s

0
%

1
0

%

2
0

%

3
0

%

4
0

%

5
0

%

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

6
4
%

5
8
%

6
3
%

5
9
%

5
9
%

6
3
%

6
4
%

6
6
%

6
9
%

6
9
%

7
0
%

T
a
rg

e
t

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

5
0
%

0
7
/0

8
 -

 

Q
4

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

Ju
n
-0

8
J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-0

8
S

e
p
-0

8
O

c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-0

8
J
a
n
-0

9
F

e
b
-0

9
M

a
r-

0
9

A
c
c

e
s
s

 t
o

 p
ri

m
a
ry

 c
a
re

  

Targ
et:  

 
At le

ast 5
0% o

f GP
 pra

ctice
s in 

NHS
 Lee

ds o
ffer 

exte
nded

 ope
ning

 hou
rs b

y 
Dec

emb
er 20

08.  
8

0
 (

6
9

%
)p

ra
c
ti
c
e

s
 n

o
w

 o
ff

e
r 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d

 o
p
e

n
in

g
 t
o

 t
h

e
ir
 p

a
ti
e

n
ts

, 
a

n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 
o

f 
1

 s
in

c
e

 D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
0
8

. 
 

N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
 m

e
t 
th

e
 D

H
 t
a

rg
e

t 
o

f 
5

0
%

 p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 o

ff
e
ri
n

g
 e

x
te

n
d
e

d
 h

o
u

rs
 b

y
 

3
1

 D
e
c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
8

, 
h

o
w

e
v
e

r 
a

 m
o

n
th

ly
 s

u
b

m
is

s
io

n
 i
s
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
 u

n
ti
l 
th

e
 e

n
d

 
o
f 
th

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

A
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
o

th
e

r 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 h

a
v
e

 a
ls

o
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
h
e
ir
 w

is
h
 t
o
 e

x
te

n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
p
e
n
in

g
 h

o
u
rs

 i
n
 e

a
rl
y
 2

0
0
9

, 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 s

ti
ll 

fu
rt

h
e
r.

 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
L

e
a

d
: 
 

 
D

a
m

ia
n

 R
ile

y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
E

m
m

a
 W

ils
o
n

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

17

Page 29



P
r
im

a
r
y
 c

a
r
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

P
ri

m
a
ry

 C
a
re

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 d
e
n

ta
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

3
8

0
0

0
0

3
8

5
0

0
0

3
9

0
0

0
0

3
9

5
0

0
0

4
0

0
0

0
0

4
0

5
0

0
0

4
1

0
0

0
0

4
1

5
0

0
0

4
2

0
0

0
0

0
8

-0
9

3
9

4
3

5
9

3
9

5
4

0
5

3
9

7
,1

4
4

tr
a

je
c
to

ry
4

0
1

1
9

6
4

0
5

7
9

7
4

1
0

3
9

9
4
1

5
0

0
0

Q
1

Q
2

Q
3

Q
4

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 d
e
n

ta
l 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Targ
et:  

 
To in

crea
se th

e nu
mbe

r of 
patie

nts r
ecei

ving
 prim

ary d
enta

l ser
vice

s ac
ross

 
NHS

 Lee
ds to

 415
,000

 dur
ing t

he y
ear, 

from
 a ba

selin
e se

t in t
he 2

4 mo
nth 

peri
od t

o Ma
rch 

2006
 of 4

14,9
47.

T
h

e
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 
re

fl
e

c
t 
e

v
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 A

p
r 

2
0

0
6

, 
w

h
e
n

 a
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d

e
n

ta
ls

 l
e

ft
 t
h

e
 N

H
S

. 
 T

h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
p

a
ti
e

n
ts

 b
e

in
g

 t
re

a
te

d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 2

4
 m

o
n
th

s
 d

ro
p

p
e
d
 f
ro

m
 a

 b
a
s
e
lin

e
 o

f 
4
1
4
,9

4
7
 i
n
 M

a
r 

2
0

0
6

, 
to

 
3

9
4

,3
5
9

 i
n

 J
u
n

 2
0

0
8

. 
  

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 c

o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
fr

o
m

 2
0

1
0

 t
a

rg
e
ts

 c
a

n
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e

d
. 
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
 

h
o
w

e
v
e
r 

is
 p

ro
v
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 e

x
tr

e
m

e
ly

 c
h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
. 

A
 t
h

re
e

 p
ro

n
g
e

d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 i
n

c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

a
p
a

c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n

 p
la

c
e

: 
 

T
h
e
 o

ff
e
r 

o
f 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
o
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 N

H
S

 d
e
n
ti
s
ts

. 
 

 
T

h
e
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
e
x
e
rc

is
e
 t
o
 o

ff
e
r 

a
ll 

L
e

e
d
s
 d

e
n

ti
s
ts

 (
N

H
S

 a
n

d
 p

ri
v
a

te
) 

th
e

 o
p

p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 b
id

 f
o

r 
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
N

H
S

 s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 f
o

r 
L

e
e

d
s
 D

e
n

ta
l 

A
d
v
ic

e
 L

in
e
 (

L
D

A
L
) 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

. 
  

 
T

h
e

 £
2

.7
5
m

 p
ro

p
o

s
a

l 
fo

r 
n
e

w
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 i
n

 a
re

a
s
 w

it
h

 h
ig

h
 n

e
e

d
s
 i
s
 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
, 
w

it
h

 p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n

t 
u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
, 
w

it
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 S

e
p
 0

9
. 

A
s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
w

 p
ro

c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
a

c
ti
v
it
y
, 

th
e

re
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 a

 l
a
rg

e
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 
in

 r
e

q
u
e

s
ts

 f
o

r 
N

H
S

 d
e

n
ti
s
tr

y
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 L
D

A
L

. 
 T

h
e

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 c
a
p

a
c
it
y
 m

e
a

n
s
 

th
a
t 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
d
e
m

a
n
d
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 m

e
t,
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
e
x
te

n
d
in

g
 w

a
it
in

g
 t
im

e
s
. 
T

h
e
re

 
a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 3

4
 N

H
S

 d
e

n
ta

l 
p

ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h

e
 c

it
y
 a

c
c
e

p
ti
n
g

 n
e
w

 N
H

S
 

p
a

ti
e

n
ts

 –
 h

ig
h

e
r 

th
a

n
 a

t 
a
n

y
 s

ta
g

e
 s

in
c
e

 t
h

e
 n

e
w

 c
o
n

tr
a

c
ts

 w
e

re
 i
n

tr
o

d
u
c
e
d

. 
  

P
a
ti
e
n
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 c

a
n
 o

n
ly

 b
e
 c

o
u
n

te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

d
a
ta

 i
f 
th

e
y
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d

 N
H

S
 d

e
n
ta

l 
tr

e
a
tm

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
 2

4
 m

o
n
th

s
. 
 D

e
s
p
it
e
 t
h
is

, 
n
u
m

b
e

rs
 a

re
 a

lr
e
a

d
y
 s

ta
rt

in
g

 t
o

 r
e

c
o

v
e

r.
 

T
h
e
 f
ig

u
re

 f
o
r 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 w

a
s
 3

9
7
,1

4
4
. 
It
 i
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
n
u
m

b
e
rs

 
w

ill
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 s

ti
ll 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
u
e

 t
o
 t
h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
L

e
a

d
: 
 

 
D

a
m

ia
n

 R
ile

y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

te
v
e
 L

a
v
ill

e

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

18

Page 30



S
e
x
u

a
l 

h
e
a
lt

h
 p

r
o

g
r
a
m

m
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

C
h

la
m

y
d

ia
 S

c
re

e
n

in
g

S
e
x

u
a

l 
H

e
a
lt

h 0

5
0
0

1
0

0
0

1
5

0
0

2
0

0
0

2
5

0
0

3
0

0
0

3
5

0
0

05
0
0
0

1
0
0
0
0

1
5
0
0
0

2
0
0
0
0

2
5
0
0
0

GP E
st

580
580

580
500

677
915

595
544

843
Actu

al
884

1383
844

969
1000

783
804

1218
2067

2807
Traje

ctory
1345

1495
1620

1195
1300

2120
2220

2270
1970

2020
2320

2320
YTD

1469
3146

4844
6243

8005
1091

513
722

YTD
 Traj

.
1345

2840
4460

5655
6955

9075
1129

513
565

1553
517

555
1987

522
195

Jan-0
8Feb- 08

Mar-
08A

pr-08
May- 08

Jun-0
8Ju

l-08
Aug- 08

Sep- 08
Oct-0

8Nov- 08
Dec- 08

Jan-0
9Feb- 09

Mar-
09

C
h

la
m

y
d

ia
 s

c
re

e
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 17%
 of t

he p
opu

latio
n ag

ed 1
5-24

 acc
ept s

cree
ning

 or t
estin

g fo
r 

chla
myd

ia in
 200

8/09
 

T
h

is
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
n

o
w

 i
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 s

c
re

e
n
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d

 o
u

t 
in

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 c
a
re

. 
 T

h
e

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
th

e
s
e

 s
c
re

e
n

s
 t
o

p
s
-u

p
 t
h

e
 k

n
o

w
n

 v
a

lid
a

te
d

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

c
o

n
d

u
c
te

d
 w

it
h

in
 t
h

e
 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
s
c
re

e
n

in
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 

T
h

e
 Q

3
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 w

a
s
 e

x
c
e
e

d
e

d
. 
 T

h
e
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 i
s
 1

5
5
3
5
, 
a
n
d
 a

c
tu

a
l 

s
c
re

e
n

s
 t
o
 d

a
te

 1
8
,2

6
4
, 
re

p
re

s
e
n
ti
n
g
 1

1
8
%

 o
f 
fi
n
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t.
  

T
h

e
re

 a
re

 s
o
m

e
 r

is
k
s
 t
o

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

, 
in

to
 n

e
x
t 
y
e

a
r 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 –

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 A

d
v
is

o
r 

p
o
s
t 
v
a
c
a
n
c
y
 g

e
n
e
ra

ti
n
g
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
d
is

ru
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

lin
ic

a
l 

s
id

e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 
 

 
P

re
m

is
e
s
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
 c

ri
ti
c
a
l 
–
 v

e
ry

 l
im

it
e
d
 o

ff
ic

e
 s

p
a
c
e
 f
o
r 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 s

ta
ff
. 
 

 
In

tr
o

d
u
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 ‘
c
lo

s
e
d

’ 
N

H
S

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 s

y
s
te

m
 i
n

 A
p

ri
l 
b

ri
n
g

s
 

p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
ri
s
k
s
 a

ro
u

n
d

 d
a

ta
 u

s
e

 f
o

r 
c
h

la
m

y
d

ia
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

ti
ll 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
c
lu

d
e
: 

 
C

a
S

H
 t
o

 m
a
n
a

g
e

 c
lin

ic
a

l 
a

s
p

e
c
t 
o

f 
C

h
la

m
y
d

ia
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

. 
P

u
b

lic
 h

e
a

lt
h

 
to

 l
e

a
d

 a
n

d
 m

a
n

a
g
e

 s
c
re

e
n
in

g
. 
  

 
R

e
c
ru

it
 t
o
 H

e
a
lt
h
 A

d
v
is

o
r 

v
a

c
a
n
c
y
, 
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 c

o
v
e
r 

in
 p

la
c
e
. 
. 
 

 
W

o
rk

in
g

 w
it
h

 H
3
+

, 
a

n
d

 a
 l
o
c
a

lly
 e

n
h
a

n
c
e
d

 G
P

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 (

L
E

S
) 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 
to

 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
is

e
 G

P
s
 f
o
r 

c
h
la

m
y
d
ia

 o
p

p
o
rt

u
n

is
ti
c
 t
e

s
ti
n

g
. 
P

la
n

n
e

d
 l
a

u
n

c
h

 
M

a
rc

h
 0

9
, 
L
E

S
 t
o
 b

e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
fr

o
m

 A
p
ri
l.
  

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 L

e
v
e
l 
A

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
(S

L
A

) 
w

it
h
 L

e
e
d
s
 P

ri
s
o
n

s
 f
in

a
lis

e
d
. 
 

 
IT

 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 o

f 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 C

h
la

m
y
d
ia

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 r

e
 c

lo
s
e
d
 s

y
s
te

m
. 

G
u
id

a
n

c
e
 s

o
u
g
h
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 P

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 o

n
 p

re
fe

rr
e
d
 o

p
ti
o
n
. 
 

 
B

a
n
d
 3

 a
d
m

in
 w

o
rk

e
r 

re
c
ru

it
e
d
 t
o
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
V

ic
to

ri
a
 E

a
to

n
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

h
a
ro

n
 F

o
s
te

r 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

19

Page 31



S
e
x
u

a
l 

h
e
a
lt

h
 p

r
o

g
r
a
m

m
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 o

ff
e
re

d
 a

n
 a

p
p

t 
fo

r 
w

it
h

in
 4

8
 h

rs
 o

f 
c

o
n

ta
c

ti
n

g
 G

U
M

Im
p

ro
v

e
 a

c
c

e
s

s
 t

o
 g

e
n

it
o

-u
ri

n
a
ry

 m
e
d

ic
in

e

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
ct

u
a
l

9
9
.2

0
9
7
.9

0
9
9
.5

0
9
9
.9

5
9
9
.9

4
9
9
.8

8
9
9
.7

1
9
9
.8

%
9
9
.9

%
9
8
.0

%
1
0
0
.0

9
9
.9

%

T
a
rg

e
t

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

1
0
0
.0

Ja
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-
0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

Ja
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 G

e
n

it
o

u
ri

n
a
ry

 M
e
d

ic
in

e
 (

G
U

M
) 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Targ
et:  

 
All p

atien
ts sh

ould
 rece

ive a
n of

fer o
f an 

appo
intm

ent t
o be

 see
n wi

thin
 48 h

rs 
of co

ntac
ting

 the 
GUM

 serv
ice (

not 
an o

ffer 
mad

e wi
thin

 48h
rs to

 be s
een 

at a 
later

 date
).   8

4% o
f pat

ients
 sho

uld b
e se

en w
ithin

 48h
rs 

T
h

e
 ‘
O

ff
e

re
d

 a
n

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t’
 t
a

rg
e

t 
re

m
a

in
s
 a

t 
1

0
0

%
.T

h
e

re
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 a

 
re

c
e
n
t 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 ‘
S

e
e
n
 w

it
h
in

’ 
ta

rg
e
t,
 w

it
h
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 a

t 
8

8
.0

2
%

. 
P

ro
b
le

m
s
 w

it
h

 s
ic

k
 l
e

a
v
e

 f
o

r 
n

u
rs

in
g

 s
ta

ff
 i
n

 D
e
c
e

m
b
e

r 
le

d
 t
o

 t
h

e
 

c
a
n
c
e
lla

ti
o
n
 o

f 
n
u
rs

e
 l
e
d
 c

lin
ic

s
, 
m

e
a
n
in

g
 t
h
e
 s

e
e
n

 t
a
rg

e
t 
d
id

 n
o
t 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 a

s
 

m
u
c
h
 a

s
 e

x
p
e

c
te

d
. 
  

T
h
e
 D

N
A

 r
a
te

 w
a
s
 1

0
.2

3
%

, 
th

o
u
g
h
 s

e
e
m

s
 n

o
w

 t
o
 b

e
 f
a
lli

n
g
, 
n
o
w

 a
t 
1
0
%

. 
T

e
x
t 
re

m
in

d
e
rs

 a
re

 b
e
in

g
 s

e
n
t 
to

 a
ll 

n
e
w

 a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 a

 f
a
c
ili

ty
 f
o
r 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts

 t
o
 t
e
x
t 
in

to
 t
h
e
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n

t 
if
 t
h

e
y
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 c

a
n
c
e
l 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ic
k
e
d
 

u
p
 b

y
 e

-m
a
il.

  

P
o
in

ts
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 s

e
e
n

 w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 
in

c
lu

d
e
 –

 
 

T
h

e
 N

u
rs

e
 s

it
u

a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 a

n
d

 t
h
e

 c
lin

ic
s
 a

re
 n

o
w

 u
p

 t
o

 f
u

ll 
c
o
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 a
n
y
 s

ic
k
n
e

s
s
 

 
H

a
v
e
 j
u
s
t 
a
p
p
o
in

te
d
 2

 B
a
n
d

 5
’s

 p
lu

s
 a

 f
u
ll 

ti
m

e
 H

/A
  

 
A

p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t 
to

 B
a
n
d
 6

 h
a
s
 f
a
ile

d
, 
b
u
t 
p
o

s
t 
w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 r

e
-a

d
v
e
rt

is
e
d
. 
 T

o
 

re
c
ru

it
 f
ro

m
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 a

p
p
lic

a
n
ts

. 
  

 
In

te
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 u

p
 t
o
 f
u
ll 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
t 
b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

9
. 

 
D

e
m

a
n
d
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 X

m
a
s
 p

e
ri
o
d
 f
e
ll.

 

P
la

n
s
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t
h
is

 t
a
rg

e
t 
in

c
lu

d
e
 a

im
in

g
 t
o
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
ly

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h
e
 8

4
%

 
m

in
im

u
m

 s
e
e
n
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

9
. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
V

ic
to

ri
a
 E

a
to

n
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

h
a
ro

n
 F

o
s
te

r 

P
le

a
s
e
 n

o
te

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 d

a
ta

 s
h
o

w
n
 f

o
r 

D
e
c
 i
s
 p

re
lim

in
a
ry

 d
a
ta

 o
n
ly

 a
n

d
 

w
ill

 b
e
 v

a
lid

a
te

d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 

v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
th

is
 r

e
p
o
rt

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

20

Page 32



S
e
x
u

a
l 

h
e
a
lt

h
 p

r
o

g
r
a
m

m
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

T
e
e
n

a
g

e
 p

re
g

n
a
n

c
y
 r

a
te

s
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
0

 f
e

m
a
le

s
 a

g
e
d

 1
5
-1

7

S
e
x
u

a
l 
H

e
a
lt

h 0

1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

6
0

A
c
tu

a
l 

4
9
.2

5
0

.7
5
1

.6
5

1
.8

4
8

.2

T
a
rg

e
t

2
6
.6

2
7

.9
4
3

.7
4

3
.7

4
3

.7
4

5
4
2

.7
2
2

.7

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0
0

7
 -

 Q
1

2
0

0
7
 -

 Q
2

2
0

0
7
 -

 Q
3

2
0

0
8

2
0
0

9
2

0
1

0

T
e
e
n

a
g

e
 p

re
g

n
a
n

c
y
 r

a
te

s
 

Targ
et:  

 
The 

rate
 of u

nder
-18 c

once
ptio

n ra
tes s

hou
ld re

duce
 by a

t lea
st ha

lf by
 201

0, 
set a

gain
st th

e 19
98 b

asel
ine, 

loca
lly b

y 55
%. 

T
h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 
fo

rm
a
lly

 v
a
lid

a
te

d
 f
ig

u
re

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0
6
) 

is
 5

0
.9

; 
0
.9

%
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 1

9
9
8
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
. 
T

h
is

 i
s
 a

 s
lig

h
t 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 s

in
c
e
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o

rt
 d

u
e
 t
o
 r

e
v
a
lid

a
ti
o
n
. 
 

T
h
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 h

ig
h

lig
h
te

d
 a

s
 h

ig
h
 r

is
k
 o

f 
n
o
t 
b
e
in

g
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
. 
 

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r

e
p
o

rt
 ‘
U

p
d
a
te

 o
n
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
in

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 

te
e
n
a
g
e
 p

re
g
n
a
n
c
y
’,
 a

ls
o
 b

e
fo

re
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 o
n
 t
h
is

 o
c
c
a
s
io

n
. 

T
h
e
 g

ra
p
h
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
e
 r

o
lli

n
g
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 r

a
te

 f
o
r 

Q
1
 &

 Q
3
 o

f 
2
0
0
7
 (

th
e
 

d
a
ta

 s
h
o
w

n
 i
s
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 n

o
t 
fu

lly
 v

a
lid

a
te

d
).

 T
h
is

 d
a
ta

 i
s
 u

s
e
d

 t
o
 g

iv
e
 

th
e

 b
e

s
t 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 p

ic
tu

re
 o

f 
p

ro
g

re
s
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 t
im

e
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 o
ff

ic
ia

lly
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
d
a
ta

 b
e

c
o
m

in
g
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
 T

h
e
 n

e
x
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l,
 f
u
lly

 v
a
lid

a
te

d
 

fi
g

u
re

 w
ill

 b
e

 p
u

b
lis

h
e

d
 i
n

 F
e

b
 2

0
0
9

, 
c
o
v
e

ri
n

g
 t
h

e
 w

h
o

le
 o

f 
2

0
0

7
. 

A
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
th

e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
fr

o
m

 1
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
, 

d
a

ta
 i
s
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 o

n
 b

o
o

k
in

g
s
 f
o

r 
N

H
S

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

t 
L

T
H

T
, 
in

 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

‘M
a
te

rn
it
y
 M

a
tt
e
rs

’ 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 
 T

h
is

 d
a

ta
 m

a
k
e
s
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re

g
n

a
n
c
ie

s
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
. 
 E

a
rl
y
 u

s
e

 o
f 
th

is
 d

a
ta

 s
h

o
w

s
 i
t 
s
h

o
u

ld
 a

llo
w

 
c
o

m
p
a

ri
s
o
n

 w
it
h

 p
re

v
io

u
s
 d

a
ta

 f
ro

m
 o

th
e

r 
s
im

ila
r 

s
o

u
rc

e
s
. 
 T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 i
ts

e
lf
 i
s
 

n
o

t 
d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 c

o
m

p
a
ra

b
le

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
d

a
ta

 u
s
e
d

 i
n
 t
h

e
 c

h
a
rt

, 
a

n
d

 w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 

u
s
e
d

 b
y
 D

H
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 H

e
a

lt
h
c
a

re
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 p

u
rp

o
s
e
s
 o

f 
m

o
n

it
o

ri
n
g

 
N

H
S

 L
e
e

d
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 
th

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
ta

rg
e

t.
  

H
o
w

e
v
e

r,
 a

s
 i
t 
b

u
ild

s
 u

p
 o

v
e

r 
ti
m

e
 i
t 

w
ill

 a
llo

w
 t
h

e
 a

p
p

ro
p
ri
a

te
 m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e
n

t 
a

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 t
h

e
 t
a

rg
e

ti
n
g

 o
f 
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s
. 

It
 i
s
 h

o
p

e
d

 t
h
a

t 
a

s
 t
h

is
 d

a
ta

 c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
 b

e
c
o

m
e

s
 m

o
re

 r
o

b
u
s
t,

 a
n

d
 e

v
e

n
 

th
o
u
g
h
 i
t 
is

 l
im

it
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 L

T
H

T
, 
it
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

s
e
d
 a

s
 a

n
 e

a
rl
y
 

in
d

ic
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
te

e
n

a
g

e
 c

o
n
c
e

p
ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 t
re

n
d
s
 a

n
d

 c
o

u
ld

 b
e

 u
s
e

d
 i
n

 
c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a

l-
le

v
e
l 
d
a
ta

. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

J
ill

 C
o
p

e
la

n
d
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

a
ra

h
 S

in
c
la

ir
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
M

a
rt

in
 F

o
rd

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

21

Page 33



U
r
g

e
n

t 
c
a
r
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
p

a
ti

e
n

ts
 s

p
e

n
d

in
g

 l
e

s
s
 t

h
a

n
 4

h
rs

 i
n

 A
&

E

M
a
x

im
u

m
 4

h
r 

w
a
it

 i
n

 A
&

E

9
0

%

9
2

%

9
4

%

9
6

%

9
8

%

1
0
0

%

A
c
tu

a
l

9
3
.1

%
9
9
.8

%
9
9
.7

%
9
9
.7

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.5

%
9
9
.5

%
9
9
.5

%
9
9
.4

%
9
8
.8

%
9
8
.1

%
9
4
.6

%
9
5
.3

%

Y
e
a
r 

to
 D

a
te

9
3
.6

%
9
4
.1

%
9
9
.7

%
9
9
.7

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.6

%
9
9
.5

%
9
9
.4

%
9
9
.3

%
9
8
.8

%
9
8
.4

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%
9
8
.0

%

Ja
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

Ju
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

4
 h

r 
A

&
E

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 

Targ
et:  

 
That

 at le
ast 9

8% o
f pat

ients
 spe

nd 4
hrs 

or le
ss in

 A&E
, fro

m ar
rival

 to 
adm

issio
n, tr

ansf
er o

r dis
char

ge. 
Y

e
a

r 
to

 d
a

te
 c

u
m

u
la

ti
v
e

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 a
s
 o

f 
2

9
 J

a
n

u
a
ry

 i
s
 9

8
.4

3
%

, 
re

m
a

in
in

g
 

a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 m

in
im

u
m

 t
a
rg

e
t 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

. 
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 o

n
 t
h

e
 d

e
c
lin

e
. 
 

R
e

a
s
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
th

is
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

 h
ig

h
 b

e
d

 o
c
c
u

p
a

n
c
y
 l
e

v
e

ls
, 
h

ig
h

 l
e

v
e

ls
 o

f 
p
a

rt
ia

lly
 

a
n

d
 f
u

lly
 r

e
s
tr

ic
te

d
 w

a
rd

s
 i
n
 L

T
H

T
 d

u
e

 t
o

 v
ir
a

l 
in

fe
c
ti
o

n
s
, 
s
ta

ff
 s

ic
k
n

e
s
s
 

a
b

s
e

n
c
e
s
, 
a

n
d

 h
ig

h
 l
e

v
e

ls
 o

f 
a

tt
e

n
d

a
n
c
e
s
 w

it
h

in
 c

o
n
c
e

n
tr

a
te

d
 p

e
ri
o

d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 

d
a

y
 (

a
lt
h

o
u
g

h
 o

v
e

ra
ll 

a
tt

e
n
d

a
n
c
e
s
 a

re
 n

o
t 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 h

ig
h

 w
h

e
n

 
b

e
n
c
h

m
a
rk

e
d
).

  

N
H

S
 L

e
e

d
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 i
n

 r
e
g

u
la

r 
c
o

n
ta

c
t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 t
e

a
m

 a
t 
L

T
H

T
, 
a

n
d
 h

a
v
e

 c
o

-
o
rd

in
a
te

d
 t
h
e
 i
n
p
u
t 
o
f 
o
u
t-

o
f-

h
o
u
rs

 G
P

s
 i
n
to

 A
&

E
 t
o
 a

lle
v
ia

te
 p

re
s
s
u
re

 a
t 

ti
m

e
s
 o

f 
p

e
a
k
 d

e
m

a
n

d
, 
in

 a
d

d
it
io

n
 t
o

 s
u
s
ta

in
in

g
 a

 p
u
b

lic
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 

c
a
m

p
a
ig

n
 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 t
o

 A
&

E
 f
o
r 

m
in

o
r 

in
ju

ry
 a

n
d
 i
lln

e
s
s
 n

e
e
d
s
. 

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n
s
 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 c

a
p
a

c
it
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 a

c
u
te

 
s
e

tt
in

g
s
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
e

d
 v

ia
 t
h

e
 U

n
p

la
n
n

e
d

 C
a

re
 B

o
a

rd
, 
to

 
e

n
s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 Y

T
D

 t
a

rg
e

t 
re

m
a

in
s
 a

b
o

v
e

 9
8

%
. 
 

T
h
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 C

o
m

m
u
te

r 
W

a
lk

-i
n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 i
n
 T

h
e
 L

ig
h
t 
is

 n
o
w

 
c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
n

g
 t
o

w
a
rd

s
 t
h

e
 4

h
r 

ta
rg

e
t 
a

n
d

 i
s
 n

o
w

 b
e
in

g
 f
e
d
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
y
e
a
r-

e
n

d
 r

e
tu

rn
.

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
L
a
u
ra

 S
h
e
rb

u
rn

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

22

Page 34



L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

23

U
r
g

e
n

t 
c
a
r
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

C
a

te
g

o
ry

 A
 c

a
ll

s
 r

e
c

e
iv

in
g

 a
 f

ir
s

t 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

 w
it

h
in

 8
 m

in
u

te
s

A
m

b
u

la
n

c
e
 R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
 T

im
e
s

5
0

%

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

9
0

%

1
0

0
%

Y
A

S
 A

c
tu

a
l

7
3
.2

%
7
3
.7

%
7
1
.1

%
6
1
.3

%
6
3
.9

%
6
3
.0

%
6
7
.1

0
7
1
.4

%
7
6
.2

%
7
2
.1

%
7
2
.0

%
6
5
.0

%

Y
A

S
 Y

T
D

7
3
.7

0
7
3
.7

0
7
3
.5

0
6
1
.3

%
6
2
.6

%
6
2
.7

%
6
3
.9

0
6
5
.4

%
6
7
.3

%
6
8
.0

%
6
8
.5

%
6
8
.0

%

T
a
rg

e
t

7
5
%

7
5
%

7
5
%

7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%
7
5
.0

%

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

C
a

te
g

o
ry

 A
 c

a
ll

s
 r

e
c

e
iv

in
g

 a
 f

ir
s

t 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

 w
it

h
in

 1
9

 m
in

u
te

s

A
m

b
u

la
n

c
e
 R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
 T

im
e
s

8
0
%

8
2
%

8
4
%

8
6
%

8
8
%

9
0
%

9
2
%

9
4
%

9
6
%

9
8
%

1
0
0
%

Y
A

S
 A

c
tu

a
l

9
4
.6

%
9
4
.8

%
9
4
.9

%
9
6
.4

%
9
6
.4

%
9
7
.2

%
9
6
.7

%
9
6
.8

%
9
5
.1

%

Y
A

S
 Y

T
D

9
4
.6

%
9
4
.7

%
9
4
.7

%
9
5
.2

%
9
5
.4

%
9
5
.7

%
9
5
.9

%
9
6
.0

%
9
5
.9

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

J
a
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

A
m

b
u

la
n

c
e

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
e
 t

im
e

s
: 

C
a
t 

A
 8

 m
in

 &
 C

a
t 

A
 1

9
 m

in
 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
; 

C
a
t 

A
 d

e
fi

n
e
d

 a
s
 i

m
m

e
d

ia
te

ly
 l

if
e
-t

h
re

a
te

n
in

g
  

Targ
et:  

 
A m

inim
um o

f 75%
 of C

at A
 call

s sh
ould

 rece
ive a

n em
erge

ncy 
resp

onse
 at th

e 
scen

e wi
thin

 8 m
ins a

nd 9
5% o

f Ca
t A c

alls 
shou

ld be
 met

 with
in 19

 min
s of 

a 
requ

est f
or a

 veh
icle 

capa
ble o

f tra
nspo

rting
 the 

patie
nt.   

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 o
n

 t
h

e
s
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 i
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 t
h

e
 w

h
o

le
 a

m
b

u
la

n
c
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 

re
tu

rn
s
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
d
e
c
lin

e
 i
n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 d

o
w

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
C

a
ll 

C
o
n
n

e
c
t.
 T

h
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n

te
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

S
H

A
, 
w

it
h
 k

e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

P
C

T
s
 a

n
d
 N

H
S

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 o

n
g
o
in

g
. 
 

 
L
a
te

s
t 
C

a
t 
A

 m
o
n
th

 t
o
 d

a
te

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w

a
s
 6

8
.6

1
%

 (
a
t 
1
3
/1

/0
9
) 

a
g
a
in

s
t 
a
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 o

f 
7
7
%

  
 

D
e

m
a
n

d
 i
n

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 v

a
ri
a
b

le
 w

it
h

 n
o

 c
le

a
r 

p
a

tt
e

rn
 e

m
e

rg
in

g
 a

s
 

y
e
t,
 b

u
t 
w

it
h
 s

p
ik

e
s
 o

n
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
d
a
y
s
  

 
In

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
la

te
s
t 
n
a
ti
o
n
a

l 
p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 A

m
b
u
la

n
c
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

(Y
A

S
) 

w
a
s
 p

o
s
it
io

n
e
d
 b

a
c
k
 d

o
w

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
tt
o
m

 2
 p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 t
ru

s
ts

. 
It
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 b

y
 b

o
th

 t
h
e
 D

H
 a

n
d
 S

H
A

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r-

e
n
d

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 w

ill
 

fa
ll 

s
h
o
rt

 o
f 
7
5

%
. 
T

h
is

 a
ff
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 r

e
g
io

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 A

n
n
u
a
l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 C

h
e
c
k
 r

a
ti
n
g
s
. 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 i
s
 m

a
d

e
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 a
c
ti
o

n
s
 -

 
 

A
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 i
s
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 P

C
T

 C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
s
 t
h
is

 w
e
e
k
 t
o
 a

g
re

e
 

P
C

T
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
t.
  

 
T

h
e

 N
H

S
 S

ta
n

d
a

rd
 C

o
n

tr
a
c
t 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
 w

a
s
 h

e
ld

 r
e
c
e

n
tl
y
 i
n

 L
o

n
d

o
n

. 
 T

h
e

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 r

e
in

fo
rc

e
d
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 s

ti
ll 

to
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
fi
n
a
lis

in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 
a
n
d
 r

a
is

e
d

 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o

f 
p
a
ti
e
n
t 
tr

a
n
s
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

P
T

S
) 

a
n
d

 
c
o

n
tr

a
c
ti
n
g

 f
o

r 
2

0
1

0
 o

n
w

a
rd

s
  

T
h

e
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

a
s
e

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 C

h
ie

f 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 f
o

ru
m

 a
n

d
 i
s
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

e
d

 b
y
 N

H
S

 L
e
e

d
s
 o

n
 t
h

e
 c

o
n
d

it
io

n
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 l
in

k
e
d
 t
o
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 

is
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 a

 s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 p

la
n
 g

o
in

g
 i
n
to

 2
0
0
9
/1

0
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
L
a
u
ra

 S
h
e
rb

u
rn

 

Page 35



U
r
g

e
n

t 
c
a
r
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

C
a

te
g

o
ry

 B
 c

a
ll

s
 r

e
c

e
iv

in
g

 a
 f

ir
s

t 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

 w
it

h
in

 1
9

 m
in

u
te

s

A
m

b
u

la
n

c
e
 R

e
s

p
o

n
s

e
 T

im
e
s

5
0

%

6
0

%

7
0

%

8
0

%

9
0

%

1
0
0

%

Y
A

S
 A

ct
u
a
l

9
3
.2

%
9
3
.5

%
9
2
.9

%
8
9
.9

%
8
9
.6

%
8
9
.4

%
9
0
.7

%
9
2
.1

%
9
2
.9

0
9
0
.7

%
9
1
.0

%
8
6
.9

%

Y
A

S
 Y

T
D

9
2
.3

0
9
2
.4

0
9
2
.2

0
8
9
.9

%
8
9
.7

%
8
9
.6

%
8
9
.9

%
9
0
.3

%
9
0
.8

0
9
0
.7

%
9
0
.8

%
9
0
.3

%

T
a
rg

e
t

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
%

9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%
9
5
.0

%

Ja
n
-

0
8

F
e
b
-

0
8

M
a
r-

0
8

A
p
r-

0
8

M
a
y-

0
8

J
u
n
-

0
8

J
u
l-

0
8

A
u
g
-

0
8

S
e
p
-

0
8

O
c
t-

0
8

N
o
v-

0
8

D
e
c
-

0
8

J
a
n
-

0
9

F
e
b
-

0
9

M
a
r-

0
9

A
m

b
u

la
n

c
e
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 t

im
e
s
: 

C
a
t 

B
 1

9
 m

in
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

s
; 

C
a
t 

B
 

d
e
fi

n
e
d

 a
s
 s

e
ri

o
u

s
, 

b
u

t 
n

o
t 

im
m

e
d

ia
te

ly
 l

if
e
-t

h
re

a
te

n
in

g
  

Targ
et:  

 
A m

inim
um o

f 95%
 of C

at B
 call

s sh
ould

 be m
et w

ithin
 19 m

ins o
f a r

eque
st fo

r 
a ve

hicle
 cap

able
 of t

rans
port

ing t
he p

atien
t.   

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 o
n

 t
h

e
s
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 i
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 t
h

e
 w

h
o

le
 a

m
b

u
la

n
c
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 

re
tu

rn
s
. 
  

O
n
 t
h
e
 C

a
t 
B

 t
a
rg

e
t,
 Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 A

m
b
u
la

n
c
e

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 (

Y
A

S
) 

p
e

rf
o
rm

a
n

c
e

 a
s
 a

 
w

h
o

le
 i
s
 9

0
.3

%
 y

e
a

r 
to

 d
a

te
 a

s
 o

f 
e

n
d

 o
f 
D

e
c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
8

. 
O

n
g
o

in
g
 c

o
n

tr
a
c
t 

n
e

g
o

ti
a

ti
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
0

9
-1

0
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 S

H
A

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 
w

ill
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t
h

is
 g

o
in

g
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
a
ft
e
r 

th
e
 D

H
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
 o

f 
th

is
 

ta
rg

e
t 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n

fi
rm

e
d

, 
a

s
 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 a

s
 t
o

 w
h

e
th

e
r 

th
is

 t
a

rg
e

t 
s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e
 r

e
p
la

c
e
d

 b
y
 a

 m
o

re
 q

u
a

lit
y
-f

o
c
u
s
e

d
 i
n
d

ic
a

to
r 

th
a

t 
ta

k
e
s
 a

c
c
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
c
lin

ic
a

l 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
L
a
u
ra

 S
h
e
rb

u
rn

 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

24

Page 36



L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

25

D
e

la
y
e

d
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rs
 o

f 
c

a
re

 p
e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

U
rg

e
n

t 
C

a
re 0

.0
0

0
.5

0

1
.0

0

1
.5

0

2
.0

0

2
.5

0

3
.0

0

3
.5

0

4
.0

0

4
.5

0

rate per 1,000 pop

0
8

0
9

2
.6

1
2
.9

8
3
.0

8

0
7

0
8

4
.2

7
4
.0

2
2
.7

3
2
.6

1

Q
1

Q
2

Q
3

Q
4

U
r
g

e
n

t 
c
a
r
e
 s

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

D
e
la

y
e
d

 t
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
c
a
re

: 
R

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 

Targ
et:  

 
No i

dent
ified

 targ
et (b

eyon
d th

e Vit
al Si

gn t
rajec

tory
 use

d in 
the c

hart
) at t

his 
time

, wit
h 20

07/0
8 to 

be u
sed 

to se
t a b

asel
ine i

n a m
etho

d ye
t to 

be d
efine

d.
T

h
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
o

n
 d

e
la

y
e
d

 t
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
c
a

re
 (

o
ft

e
n

 k
n

o
w

n
 a

s
 d

e
la

y
e

d
 

d
is

c
h

a
rg

e
s
) 

is
 u

n
d
e

r 
d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t.

  
T

h
e
 p

la
n
 i
s
 t
o
 m

o
v
e
 t
o
w

a
rd

 a
 s

y
s
te

m
 t
h
a
t 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
h
e
 r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 o

f 
th

e
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 o

p
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

ra
te

 p
e
r 

o
c
c
u
p

ie
d

 a
c
u

te
 b

e
d

 d
a

y
. 
  
T

h
e

 H
e

a
lt
h
c
a
re

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 h

a
v
e

 n
o

t 
d
e
fi
n
e
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
a
t 
th

e
 t
im

e
 o

f 
w

ri
ti
n
g

, 
b

u
t 
th

e
 d

ir
e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
tr

a
v
e

l 
s
e

e
m

s
 

c
le

a
r.

  

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
e
la

y
e
d
 t
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
c
a

re
 i
n

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 i
n
d

ic
a

te
s
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
, 
a
n
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 i
n
 Q

1
-2

 
w

a
s
 w

e
ll 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
d
e
la

y
e
d
 t
ra

n
s
fe

rs
 o

f 
c
a
re

 s
lig

h
tl
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 i
n
 Q

3
 a

t 
th

e
 p

o
in

t 
w

h
e
n
 t
h
e
 t
ra

je
c
to

ry
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 2

.7
5
 

ra
te

 p
e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

. 
  
 

T
h

e
 U

n
p

la
n
n
e

d
 C

a
re

 B
o

a
rd

 h
a

s
 t
h

e
 d

is
c
h

a
rg

e
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 a

s
 o

n
e

 o
f 
it
s
 

k
e

y
 w

o
rk

s
tr

e
a

m
s
, 
a

n
d

 w
o
rk

 w
ill

 s
ta

rt
 i
n

 J
a

n
 2

0
0

9
 t
o

 l
o

o
k
 a

t 
s
tr

e
a

m
lin

in
g

 
p

ro
c
e
s
s
e

s
 a

n
d

 e
x
a

m
in

e
 h

o
w

 c
a
p

a
c
it
y
 i
s
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

. 
 A

ls
o

 f
ro

m
 J

a
n

, 
th

e
 

U
n

p
la

n
n

e
d

 C
a

re
 O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
G

ro
u
p

 w
ill

 r
e

c
e

iv
e

 a
n

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

c
o

lla
ti
n
g

 n
u

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 
b

e
d

 d
a

y
s
 t
a

k
e
n

 u
p

 w
it
h

 d
e

la
y
s
, 
a

s
 a

n
 a

c
c
u

ra
te

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
o
f 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t.
 T

h
is

 G
ro

u
p
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 o
n

 p
ro

je
c
t 
a

re
a
s
 t
o

 c
o

n
ta

in
 a

n
d

 
re

d
u
c
e
 d

e
la

y
s
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

  
T

h
e
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
is

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 
d

e
liv

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n

g
 Q

4
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
th

e
s
e

 g
ro

u
p

s
. 

L
e
a
d
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r:
  

M
a
tt
 W

a
ls

h
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
N

ig
e
l 
G

ra
y
 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
L
a
u
ra

 S
h
e
rb

u
rn

 

Page 37



LCC/NHS Leeds Joint Performance Report - March 2009 26

NHS Annual Health Check indicators reported
by exception: 

Commissioning of early intervention in psychosis 

services 

Proportion of individuals who complete immunisation 

by recommended ages

Page 38



A
n

n
u

a
l 

H
e
a
lt

h
 C

h
e
c
k
 S

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

in
g

 o
f 

e
a

rl
y

 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 i
n

 p
s
y

c
h

o
s
is

 s
e
rv

ic
e

s

A
n

n
u

a
l 

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

h
e
c

k
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

s

0

2
0

4
0

6
0

8
0

1
0
0

1
2
0

1
4
0

N
e
w

 C
a
se

s
1

3
2
6

3
0

Y
T

D
 N

e
w

 C
a
s
e
s

1
3

3
9

6
9

T
a

rg
e

t
3

1
3
1

3
1

3
1

Y
T

D
 T

a
rg

e
t

3
1

6
2

9
3

1
2

4

Q
1

Q
2

Q
3

Q
4

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 o

f 
e
a
rl

y
 i

n
te

rv
e
n

ti
o

n
 i

n
 p

s
y
c
h

o
s
is

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

Targ
et:  

 
To d

elive
r the

 loca
lly a

gree
d sh

are o
f the

 nati
onal

 targ
et of

 7,50
0 ne

w ca
ses 

of 
psyc

hosi
s se

rved
 by e

arly 
inter

vent
ion t

eam
s, 12

4 ne
w ca

ses 
as a

pplie
d to

 
Leed

s PC
T.

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l 
fu

n
d

in
g

 o
f 
£

2
2
0

k
 w

a
s
 a

g
re

e
d

 i
n

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
r 

to
 

m
e
e
t 
th

e
 S

H
A

 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
E

a
rl
y
 I
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 (

E
I)

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
9

. 
 

T
h

e
 t
a

rg
e

t 
fo

r 
L

e
e

d
s
 i
s
 1

2
4
; 
h

o
w

e
v
e

r 
th

e
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
r 

w
a
s
 t
o

 
d

e
liv

e
r 

1
1
1

 n
e

w
 c

a
s
e

s
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
9

. 
T

h
is

 w
a
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 w

h
a

t 
w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 r

e
a

lis
ti
c
, 

g
iv

e
n
 t
h
e
 d

e
la

y
 i
n
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 (

th
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
r 

o
n
ly

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 i
n
 

m
id

 y
e
a
r,

 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 a

 h
ig

h
 l
e

v
e
l 
re

v
ie

w
 b

y
 t
h
e
 P

C
T

) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 h

is
to

ri
c
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 w
h

ic
h

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n

 l
o

w
e
r 

th
a

n
 t
h

e
 g

iv
e

n
 t
a

rg
e

t.
 T

h
e

 e
x
p

e
c
ta

ti
o

n
 w

a
s
 

th
a

t 
th

e
re

 w
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

 m
in

im
u

m
 o

f 
1

1
1

 n
e

w
 c

a
s
e

s
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
9

. 
 

T
h

e
 t
a

rg
e

t 
n

u
m

b
e

rs
 a

re
 m

a
d

e
 u

p
 o

f 
tw

o
 a

g
e

 g
ro

u
p
s
, 
1

4
-2

5
 a

n
d

 2
5
-3

5
 y

e
a
rs

. 
T

h
e

 y
o

u
n

g
e

r 
a

g
e

 g
ro

u
p

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n

 t
h

e
 g

ro
u

p
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
s
 h

is
to

ri
c
a
lly

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 t
h
e
 

s
p

e
c
ia

lis
e

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 b
y
 A

s
p

ir
e

. 
T

h
e

 o
ld

e
r 

a
g
e

 g
ro

u
p

 i
s
 t
h

e
 g

ro
u

p
 t
h

a
t 

w
a
s
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 t
o

 r
e

c
e

iv
e

 t
h
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 m
o
n
e
y
. 
R

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 

s
h

o
w

e
d

 t
h

a
t 
m

o
s
t 
o

f 
th

is
 g

ro
u

p
 w

a
s
 w

it
h
in

 L
e

e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 F

o
u

n
d

a
ti
o

n
 

T
ru

s
t 
(L

P
F

T
) 

te
a

m
s
. 
T

h
e

 p
la

n
 w

a
s
 t
o

 m
o
v
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 f
ro

m
 L

P
F

T
 t
o
 A

s
p
ir
e
, 

th
o

u
g

h
 t
h

is
 h

a
s
 r

u
n

 i
n

to
 d

if
fi
c
u

lt
y
 a

ro
u

n
d
 t
h

e
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o

f 
c
lie

n
ts

. 
T

h
is

 h
a
s
 

a
d
v
e
rs

e
ly

 a
ff
e
c
te

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
ro

m
 O

c
t 
0

8
. 
P

ro
je

c
te

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 r
a

te
s
 

a
ls

o
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
a
t 
it
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
1
1
1
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
9
. 
 

A
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
t 
u
p
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
r 

to
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
is

 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 m
e
t.
  

A
s
p

ir
e

 w
ill

 r
e
a

c
h

 t
h

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

1
2
4
 b

y
 Q

1
 0

9
/1

0
, 
if
 t
h
e
y
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
t 

c
u

rr
e
n

t 
ra

te
s
. 
T

h
is

 s
lip

 i
n

to
 0

9
/1

0
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

tt
ri
b
u
te

d
 t
o

 t
h
e
 d

e
la

y
 i
n
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o
f 
c
lie

n
ts

 b
y
 L

P
F

T
. 
In

 t
h
e
 m

e
a
n
ti
m

e
, 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

s
 o

f 
th

is
 d

e
la

y
e
d
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 w

ill
 b

e
 

u
s
e
d

, 
a

s
 i
n

 t
h
e

 p
a

s
t,

 w
h

ic
h

 w
ill

 s
e
e

 t
h

e
 t

a
rg

e
t 
d
e
liv

e
re

d
 b

y
 y

e
a
r-

e
n
d

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

J
ill

 C
o
p

e
la

n
d
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e
n

t 
L

e
a

d
: 
 

 
C

a
ro

l 
C

o
c
h
ra

n
e

 
O

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
T

a
b
it
h
a
 A

ru
la

m
p
a
la

m
 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

27

Page 39



A
n

n
u

a
l 

H
e
a
lt

h
 C

h
e
c
k
 S

ta
n

d
a
r
d

s
 

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
c

h
il

d
tr

e
n

 g
v

e
n

 i
m

m
u

n
is

a
ti

o
n

s
 a

t 
th

e
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 a
g

e

A
n

n
u

a
l 

H
e

a
lt

h
 C

h
e
c

k
 S

ta
n

d
a
rd

s

6
5

7
0

7
5

8
0

8
5

9
0

9
5

2
0

0
8

 J
u
l-

S
e

p
9
0

.3
8

8
.8

9
0
.1

7
6
.6

8
8

.8

T
ra

je
c
to

ry
9
5

9
5

9
5

9
5

9
5

D
ip

3
M

e
n
C

H
ib

3
M

M
R

 1
P

C
V

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 w
h

o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 i

m
m

u
n

is
a
ti

o
n

 b
y
 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e
d

 a
g

e
s
 

Targ
et:  

 
To e

nsur
e tha

t chi
ldre

n ar
e im

mun
ised

 in li
ne w

ith r
ecom

men
ded 

leve
ls of

 
cove

rage
, for

 a ra
nge 

of si
x ke

y im
mun

isati
on p

rogr
amm

es 
C

h
ild

 i
m

m
u
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 h
a
v
e
 n

o
t 

b
e

e
n

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
, 
d
u

e
 t
o

 l
o

w
e
r 

th
a

n
 

a
n

ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 u

p
ta

k
e

 a
n

d
 a

 d
is

c
re

p
a

n
c
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n

 a
c
tu

a
l 
a

n
d

 r
e
c
o
rd

e
d

 
c
h
ild

h
o
o
d
 i
m

m
u
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 f
ig

u
re

s
. 
 I
n
 Q

4
, 
a
 c

o
n
c
e
n
tr

a
te

d
 e

ff
o
rt

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 m

a
d
e
 

to
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t.
  
T

h
e
 P

ra
c
ti
c
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
T

e
a
m

 a
re

 t
a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 

th
o

s
e

 d
u

e
 f
o

r 
v
a

c
c
in

a
ti
o

n
. 
 A

ls
o

, 
h

e
a

lt
h

 v
is

it
o

rs
 w

h
o

 w
o

rk
 p

a
rt

-t
im

e
 a

re
 t
o

 
ta

rg
e
t 
h
a
rd

 t
o
 r

e
a
c
h
 c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n
d
 v

a
c
c
in

a
te

 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
m

e
, 
w

h
e
re

 p
o
s
s
ib

le
. 
 

A
 p

ie
c
e

 o
f 
w

o
rk

 t
o

 a
n
a

ly
s
e

 t
h

e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 f
o

r 
im

m
u
n

is
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 v
a
c
c
in

a
ti
o
n

 i
n

 
te

rm
s
 o

f 
d

a
ta

 c
o

lla
ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 a

c
tu

a
l 
d
e

liv
e

ry
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 s

c
o
p
e
d
. 
 I
t 
is

 
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 s

tu
d
y
 w

ill
 h

ig
h
lig

h
t 
b

lo
c
k
a
g

e
s
 o

r 
in

a
d

e
q

u
a
c
ie

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
 t
o

 a
llo

w
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 t
o

 b
e

 m
a
d

e
. 
  
  

  
  

W
o
rk

 u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 –

. 
  

 
G

P
s
 a

re
 n

o
w

 u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 t
h

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
M

M
R

 c
a
m

p
a

ig
n

 w
h

ic
h

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

d
e

la
y
e

d
 d

u
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 f
lu

 c
a

m
p

a
ig

n
 

 
C

o
n
tr

a
c
t 
re

v
ie

w
 i
s
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e
 w

it
h

 a
ll 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
, 
re

v
ie

w
in

g
 i
m

m
u

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 

u
p
ta

k
e

 
A

 s
e

ri
e
s
 o

f 
p

re
s
s
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 h

a
v
e

 t
a

k
e

n
 p

la
c
e

 h
ig

h
lig

h
ti
n

g
 t
h
e

 
n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
h

ild
re

n
 n

o
t 
v
a

c
c
in

a
te

d
 a

g
a

in
s
t 
m

e
a
s
le

s
 

 
H

e
a
lt
h
 V

is
it
o
rs

 n
o
w

 t
a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 l
o
w

e
s
t 
1
0
%

 S
O

A
 

 
P

la
n

s
 b

e
in

g
 f
o

rm
u

la
te

d
 t
o

 s
h

a
re

 i
m

m
u
n

is
a

ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

 w
it
h

 s
c
h
o

o
ls

 
 

S
y
s
te

m
 1

 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
9
. 

 
1

0
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o
n

s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

 t
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 h

e
a

lt
h

 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o

n
 w

o
rk

 f
o

r 
c
h

ild
h

o
o

d
 i
m

m
u

n
is

a
ti
o

n
, 
fl
u

 a
n

d
 H

P
V

. 

L
e

a
d

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r:
  

Ia
n

 C
a

m
e
ro

n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
S

im
o
n
 B

a
lm

e
r 

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
L
e
a
d
: 
 

 
B

e
ry

l 
B

le
a
s
b
y
 

P
le

a
s
e
 n

o
te

 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 d

a
ta

 s
h
o

w
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

h
a
rt

 i
s
 C

O
V

E
R

 
d
a
ta

, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 u

s
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a

l 
ta

rg
e
t.
  

T
h
is

 d
a
ta

 d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 s

o
m

e
 G

P
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o
n
 –

 
p
le

a
s
e
 s

e
e
 t

h
e
 n

a
rr

a
ti
v
e
 

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

28

Page 40



N
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

I
n

d
ic

a
to

r
s
 

P
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic

a
to

r 

T
yp

e

R
e
fe

re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y
 &

 

M
e

a
s
u

re

R
is

e
 o

r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e

lin
e

L
a
s
t 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg

e
t

Q
tr

1
Q

tr
2

Q
tr

3
P

re
d

ic
te

d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a

ta
 Q

u
a

lit
y

N
I 
1

8
7
a

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 f

u
e

l 
p

o
v
e
rt

y,
 %

 o
f 

p
e
o
p

le
 

re
c
e
iv

in
g

 i
n

c
o
m

e
 b

a
s
e
d

 b
e

n
e
fi
ts

 

liv
in

g
 i
n

 h
o
m

e
s
 w

it
h

 a
 l
o
w

 e
n
e

rg
y 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 r

a
ti
n
g

 (
S

A
P

 <
 3

5
)

F
u

e
l 
S

a
v
e
rs

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

F
a
ll

4
.0

2
%

N
.A

.
3
.4

6
%

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

3
.3

3
%

3
.3

3
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
1

8
7
b

T
a
c
k
lin

g
 f

u
e

l 
p

o
v
e
rt

y,
 %

 o
f 

p
e
o
p

le
 

re
c
e
iv

in
g

 i
n

c
o
m

e
 b

a
s
e
d

 b
e

n
e
fi
ts

 

liv
in

g
 i
n

 h
o
m

e
s
 w

it
h

 a
 h

ig
h
 e

n
e
rg

y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 r

a
ti
n
g

 (
S

A
P

 >
=

 6
5

)

F
u

e
l 
S

a
v
e
rs

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

R
is

e
4
4
.0

0
%

N
.A

.
4
4

.0
0
%

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

4
8
.5

6
%

4
8

.5
6
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
1

2
3
a

1
6
+

 c
u
rr

e
n

t 
s
m

o
k
in

g
 r

a
te

 

p
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 (
C

it
y
 w

id
e
)

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%
 p

re
v
a
le

n
c
e

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
T

B
C

N
.A

.
2
2
.9

4
%

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
1

2
3
b

1
6
+

 c
u
rr

e
n

t 
s
m

o
k
in

g
 r

a
te

 

p
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 (
1
0
%

 m
o

s
t 
d
e

p
ri
v
e
d

 

S
O

A
s
)

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%
 p

re
v
a
le

n
c
e

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
T

B
C

N
.A

.
2
9
.2

4
%

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
3

9
R

a
te

 o
f 

H
o

s
p
it
a
l 
A

d
m

is
s
io

n
s
 p

e
r 

1
0
0

,0
0
0

 f
o
r 

A
lc

o
h
o

l 
R

e
la

te
d
 H

a
rm

C
o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

S
a

fe
ty

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

N
u
m

b
e
r

N
o

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
C

h
e
c
k
lis

t 
n
o
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

N
I 
5

1
E

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
c
h
ild

 a
n
d

 

a
d
o

le
s
c
e
n

t 
m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e

a
lt
h
 (

C
A

M
H

S
) 

s
e
rv

ic
e

s

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

N
u
m

b
e
r

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
1
6

1
6

1
6

1
6

1
6

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

L
e
e
d

s
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 

P
a

rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 

A
g

re
e
d

4
N

a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

T
h
e

 r
e
p
o
rt

in
g

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

th
is

 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 t
h
e

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 C
a

re
 T

ru
s
t.
 T

h
e
 d

e
fi
n

it
io

n
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 b

o
th

 c
h
ro

n
ic

 h
e
a

lt
h

 c
o
n

d
it
io

n
s
 l
in

k
e

d
 t
o

 a
lc

o
h

o
l 
c
o
n
s
u
m

p
ti
o

n
, 
a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 c

ri
m

e
 r

e
la

te
d

 b
e

h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n

d
 

a
c
c
id

e
n

ts
 l
in

k
e

d
 t
o

 a
lc

o
h
o

l.
 T

h
e

 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 c
a
n

 b
e
 d

is
a
g
g

re
g
a
te

d
 a

n
d
 s

o
 a

 m
o

re
 u

s
e

fu
l 
lo

c
a

l 
in

d
ic

a
to

r 
m

ig
h

t 
n
e

e
d
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
d
.

3

T
h
e

 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 m
a

d
e
 u

p
 o

f 
fo

u
r 

p
ro

x
y
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
. 

A
ll 

fo
u
r 

p
ro

x
y 

m
e
a

s
u
re

s
 f

o
r 

th
is

 t
a

rg
e
t 
h

a
v
e
 s

c
o
re

d
 4

 g
iv

in
g

 t
h
e

 a
c
h

ie
v
e
m

e
n

t 
o
f 

1
6

, 
th

e
 h

ig
h

e
s
t 
s
c
o
re

 a
tt
a
in

a
b
le

 a
n

d
 m

e
e
ts

 t
h
e

 2
0
0

8
/0

9
 t
a
rg

e
t 
th

a
t 

w
a
s
 s

e
t.

1

T
h
e

s
e
 f

ig
u
re

s
 a

re
 y

e
t 
to

 b
e

 v
a
lid

a
te

d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t's
 a

p
p

ro
v
e
d
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n
g

 s
o
ft

w
a

re
 (

E
n
Q

u
ir
e
) 

th
a
t 
w

a
s
 i
s
s
u

e
d
 o

n
 2

6
th

 N
o

v
e

m
b
e

r.
 I
n
it
ia

l 
p
re

p
a

ra
to

ry
 w

o
rk

 h
a

s
 s

h
o
w

n
 t

h
a
t 

it
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

b
e
n
e

fi
c
ia

l 
to

 r
e
c
a
lc

u
la

te
 t

h
e
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
 a

n
d
 s

u
b
s
e
q
u

e
n
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 u
s
in

g
 E

n
Q

u
ir
e

 a
s
 t

h
is

 w
o
u

ld
 g

iv
e
 g

re
a
te

r 
c
o
n

fi
d
e

n
c
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
 s

o
 d

o
in

g
 w

ill
 a

lig
n
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d

 m
e

th
o

d
o
lo

g
y
 t
o

o
l.
 T

h
e
 

C
o
u

n
c
il 

h
a
s
 m

a
d

e
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 a

lle
v
ia

te
 f

u
e

l 
p

o
v
e
rt

y
. 
6
0
6

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

it
h
 a

 S
A

P
 r

ti
n
g

 <
3
5

 h
a

v
e

 b
e
e

n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 (

a
 r

e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
3
.3

3
%

) 
a

n
d
 o

v
e

r 
1
,0

0
0
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

it
h

 a
 S

A
P

 >
6

5
 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
. 

A
 n

e
w

 l
o
c
a
l 
in

d
ic

a
to

r 
is

 b
e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e

d
 t
o

 h
ig

h
lig

h
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

in
 t
a
c
k
lin

g
 f

u
e
l 
p
o

v
e

rt
y,

 i
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
p
ri

v
a

te
 s

e
c
to

r 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

 v
ia

 g
ra

n
t 

w
o
rk

 a
n
d

 

im
p

ro
v
e
m

e
n
ts

 m
a
d

e
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
o
n
 p

u
b
lic

 s
e
c
to

r 
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 (

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 c
a

n
 b

e
 h

id
d
e

n
 b

y
 c

h
a
n
g

e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 f

u
e

l 
m

a
rk

e
t 
(e

.g
. 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

 g
a

s
 p

ri
c
e
s
/f

u
e

l 
b

ill
s
 e

tc
.)

L
e
e
d

s
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 

- 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g

re
e
d

L
e
e
d

s
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 

P
a

rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 

A
g

re
e
d

2

Q
u
a
rt

e
r 

3
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 a

re
 n

o
t 
a

v
a

ila
b
le

. 
T

h
e

 l
a

te
s
t 

d
a
ta

 i
s
 f

o
r 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

2
.

T
h
e

 d
a
ta

 t
h
a

t 
h
a

s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 f

ro
m

 G
P

 p
ra

c
ti
c
e

s
 a

llo
w

s
 u

s
 t
o
 m

o
n

it
o

r 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
 m

o
re

 a
c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 a
g
a
in

s
t 

p
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 r
a
th

e
r 

th
a

n
 r

e
ly

in
g
 o

n
 s

yn
th

e
ti
c
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

s
.

L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

29

Page 41



L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

30

P
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic

a
to

r 

T
yp

e

R
e
fe

re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y
 &

 

M
e

a
s
u

re

R
is

e
 o

r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e

lin
e

L
a
s
t 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg

e
t

Q
tr

1
Q

tr
2

Q
tr

3
P

re
d

ic
te

d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a

ta
 Q

u
a

lit
y

N
I 
5

3
A

P
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 o
f 

b
re

a
s
t-

fe
e
d
in

g
 a

t 
6

-8
 

w
k
s
 f

ro
m

 b
ir
th

 (
B

re
a
s
tf

e
e

d
in

g
 

p
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

)

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
4
0

.6
%

2
8
.0

%
2
9
.0

%

(1
,3

8
7

)

3
7
.0

%

(9
0
8

 o
u
t 

o
f 

2
,4

6
6
 

c
h
ild

re
n
)

4
0

.6
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
5

3
B

C
o

v
e

ra
g
e
 o

f 
b
re

a
s
t-

fe
e
d
in

g
 a

t 
6

-8
 

w
k
s
 f

ro
m

 b
ir
th

 (
B

re
a
s
tf

e
e

d
in

g
 

c
o
v
e
ra

g
e
)

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
8
5

.2
%

6
4
.4

%
7
1
.0

%

(3
,3

2
9

)

8
4
.9

%

(2
,0

9
5
 o

u
t 

o
f 

2
,4

6
6
 

c
h
ild

re
n
)

8
5

.2
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
5

5
A

C
o

v
e

ra
g
e
 O

b
e

s
it
y 

in
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 

s
c
h
o

o
l 
a
g
e

 c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 R

e
c
e
p
ti
o
n

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

F
a
ll

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

9
1

.8
8
%

9
3

.8
0
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
5

5
B

P
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 O
b
e

s
it
y 

/ 
o
v
e
rw

e
ig

h
t 

a
m

o
n
g
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o

o
l 
a
g
e

 c
h
ild

re
n
 

in
 r

e
c
e
p

ti
o

n
. 
 R

e
tu

rn
 t
o

 n
a

ti
o

n
a
l 

le
v
e
ls

 o
f 

ye
a

r 
2
0
0

0
.

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

F
a
ll

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

9
.2

0
%

8
.4

7
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
5

6
A

C
o

v
e

ra
g
e
 O

b
e

s
it
y 

in
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 

s
c
h
o

o
l 
a
g
e

 c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 Y

e
a

r 
6

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

F
a
ll

1
7
.8

0
%

N
.A

.
9
8

.3
1
%

9
8

.6
0
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

5 6

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

7
N

a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

9
N

a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u

e
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t
h
e

 y
e
a
r 

e
n

d
 t
a

rg
e
t 

a
n
d

 w
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 p

re
v
a

le
n

c
e
.

B
e

c
a
u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d

 r
e
c
o

rd
in

g
 t
h

e
 p

re
v
a
le

n
c
e
 o

f 
b
re

a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 s

in
c
e
 l
a
s
t 

q
u
a

rt
e
r.

  
M

u
c
h

 w
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 i
n
 e

n
c
o

u
ra

g
in

g
 b

re
a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
, 
F

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 o
p

e
n
in

g
 o

f 
a
d
d

it
io

n
a

l 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 b

re
a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
 c

a
fe

s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

in
g

 a
d

v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 t
h

e
 b

e
n
e

fi
ts

 o
f 

b
re

a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
. 

R
e
c
o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
b
re

a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
s
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

n
d
 i
s
 c

lo
s
e
 t
o

 a
c
h

ie
v
in

g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a

r 
e
n
d

 t
a
rg

e
t.
 D

u
ri

n
g
 t
h

is
 q

u
a

rt
e
r 

th
e

re
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e

 r
e

c
o
rd

in
g

 o
f 

th
e

 

b
re

a
s
tf

e
e
d
in

g
 s

ta
tu

s
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 d

u
e
 t
o

 e
n
s
u
ri
n

g
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 i
s
 r

e
c
o

rd
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 h

e
a

lt
h

 v
is

it
o
rs

 a
s
 s

o
o
n
 a

s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 a

ft
e
r 

th
e
ir

 v
is

it
s
 a

n
d
 b

y 
th

e
 t
a

rg
e
ti
n
g

 o
f 

te
a

m
s
 w

h
e
re

 r
e
c
o
rd

in
g

 h
a
d

 b
e

e
n
 

id
e

n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

s
 l
o
w

.

8
N

a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

R
e
s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

0
7
/0

8
. 

T
h
e

re
 i
s
 a

n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
. 

P
le

a
s
e

 n
o
te

 t
h
is

 i
s
 t
h

e
 a

n
n
u
a

l 
re

s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r.

R
e
s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

0
7
/0

8
. 

T
h
e

re
 i
s
 a

n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
. 

P
le

a
s
e

 n
o
te

 t
h
is

 i
s
 t
h

e
 a

n
n
u
a

l 
re

s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r.

R
e
s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

0
7
/0

8
. 

A
s
 w

it
h
 N

I 
5

5
 t
h

e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n

 a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
.

N
.A

.

N
.A

.

N
.A

.

Page 42



L
C

C
/N

H
S

 L
e

e
d

s
 J

o
in

t 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

p
o

rt
 -

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

31

P
e

rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic

a
to

r 

T
yp

e

R
e
fe

re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv

ic
e

F
re

q
u
e
n
c
y
 &

 

M
e

a
s
u

re

R
is

e
 o

r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e

lin
e

L
a
s
t 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg

e
t

Q
tr

1
Q

tr
2

Q
tr

3
P

re
d

ic
te

d
 

F
u
ll 

Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a

ta
 Q

u
a

lit
y

N
I 
5

6
B

P
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 O

b
e
s
it
y
 i
n

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 

s
c
h
o

o
l 
a
g
e

 c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 Y

e
a

r 
6

.

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

A
n

n
u
a

lly

%

F
a
ll

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

1
7

.7
2
%

1
9

.3
4
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
1

1
3

P
re

v
a
le

n
c
e

 o
f 

C
h
la

m
y
d
ia

 i
n
 u

n
d
e

r 

2
5
 y

e
a

r 
o
ld

s

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
1
7

%
3

.5
6
%

N
.A

.
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
N

o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

N
I 
1

2
5

A
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 i
n
d
e

p
e
n

d
e
n

c
e
 f

o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 t
h
ro

u
g
h

 

re
h
a
b

ili
ta

ti
o

n
/i
n
te

rm
e
d

ia
te

 c
a

re

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%

R
is

e
N

e
w

 

In
d

ic
a

to
r

N
.A

.
T

o
 b

e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

 

2
0

0
9

U
n
d
e

r-

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t:
 

c
h
e

c
k
lis

t 

re
c
e

iv
e
d
 b

u
t 

s
y
s
te

m
s
/ 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e

s
 s

ti
ll 

b
e

in
g

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

N
I 
1

2
6

E
a
rl
y
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 f

o
r 

W
o

m
e

n
 t
o

 

M
a
te

rn
it
y 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

L
e
e
d

s
 P

C
T

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl

y

%

R
is

e
N

.A
.

N
.A

.
8
5

.0
0
%

7
0
.2

0
%

7
8
.7

0
%

7
8
.6

5
%

(1
,8

8
7
 o

u
t 

o
f 

2
,4

3
3
 

w
o
m

e
n
)

8
5

.0
0
%

N
o
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

w
it
h
 d

a
ta

1
3

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

1
2

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

1
1

T
h
is

 r
e
s
u

lt
 i
s
 s

lig
h
tl
y
 b

e
lo

w
 l
a
s
t 
q
u

a
rt

e
r.

 T
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
b
o
o

k
in

g
s
 i
n

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
w

a
s
 h

ig
h
e
r 

th
a
n
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 m

o
n
th

s
, 
th

o
u
g

h
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t
im

e
 c

o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
, 

th
e
 d

a
ta

 i
s
 y

e
t 
to

 b
e
 f

u
lly

 v
a
lid

a
te

d
. 
T

h
is

 v
a

lid
a
ti
o
n

 

m
a
y
 h

a
v
e

 a
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 e

ff
e

c
t 
o
n

 t
h
e

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 f

ig
u
re

. 
W

o
rk

 i
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u

in
g
 t
o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t
h

e
 y

e
a
r 

e
n
d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

is
 r

e
a
c
h

e
d
.

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 m

a
in

 b
o
d
y
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

S
e

e
 C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

T
h
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
h
e

 b
e

n
e
fi
t 

to
 i
n
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

 f
ro

m
 i
n
te

rm
e

d
ia

te
 c

a
re

 a
n
d
 r

e
h

a
b
ili

ta
ti
o
n

 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 a

 s
ta

y
 i
n

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l.
 I
t 
c
a

p
tu

re
s
 t
h

e
 j
o
in

t 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

s
o
c
ia

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 h
e
a

lt
h

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d

 b
y
 j
o
in

t 
te

a
m

s
. 
T

h
e

 m
e

a
s
u
re

 i
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t

o
 f

o
llo

w
 t
h
e

 i
n

d
iv

id
u
a

l 
a

n
d
 n

o
t 
d

if
fe

re
n
ti
a
te

 b
e

tw
e
e

n
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 a
n

d
 N

H
S

 f
u
n
d

in
g

 b
o

u
n
d

a
ri
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 c
o
v
e
rs

 o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p

le
 a

g
e

d
 6

5
 

a
n
d
 o

v
e
r 

o
n
 d

is
c
h
a

rg
e
 f

ro
m

 h
o
s
p

it
a

l 
w

h
o
:

 •
 W

o
u

ld
 o

th
e

rw
is

e
 f

a
c
e
 a

n
 u

n
n
e

c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly

 p
ro

lo
n
g

e
d
 s

ta
y
 i
n

 a
c
u

te
 i
n
-p

a
ti
e

n
t 
c
a

re
, 
o
r 

b
e
 p

e
rm

a
n
e
n

tl
y
 a

d
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 l
o
n

g
 t
e

rm
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
o
r 

n
u
rs

in
g

 h
o
m

e
 c

a
re

, 
o

r 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
lly

 u
s
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 N

H
S

 i
n
-

p
a
ti
e
n
t 

c
a
re

; 

• 
H

a
v
e
 a

 p
la

n
n
e

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 o

f 
m

a
x
im

is
in

g
 i
n

d
e
p

e
n
d

e
n
c
e

 a
n

d
 e

n
a
b
lin

g
 t
h

e
m

 t
o
 r

e
s
u
m

e
 l
iv

in
g
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
;

• 
A

re
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 w

it
h
 c

a
re

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 b

a
s
is

 o
f 

a
 m

u
lt
i-

d
is

c
ip

lin
a
ry

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
re

s
u

lt
in

g
 i
n
 a

n
 i
n
d

iv
id

u
a
l 
s
u
p

p
o
rt

 p
la

n
 t
h

a
t 

in
v
o
lv

e
s
 a

c
ti
v
e
 t

h
e
ra

p
y,

 t
re

a
tm

e
n

t 
o
r 

o
p

p
o
rt

u
n
it
y 

fo
r 

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 (
w

it
h

 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

s
 f

ro
m

 b
o
th

 h
e

a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

);

• 
A

re
 t
o

 r
e
c
e

iv
e
 s

h
o
rt

-t
e
rm

 i
n

te
rv

e
n
ti
o
n

s
, 
ty

p
ic

a
lly

 l
a
s
ti
n
g
 n

o
 l
o
n

g
e
r 

th
a
n
 6

 w
e
e

k
s
, 
a
n

d
 f

re
q
u

e
n
tl
y
 a

s
 l
it
tl
e

 a
s
 1

-2
 w

e
e
k
s
 o

r 
le

s
s
. 

T
h
is

 n
e

w
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
re

lie
s
 o

n
 n

e
w

 d
a
ta

 f
o

r 
w

h
ic

h
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o

r 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 f

ro
m

 F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

0
9
 o

n
w

a
rd

s
.

1
0

N
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

In
d
ic

a
to

r

R
e
s
u
lt
 f

o
r 

0
7
/0

8
. 

A
s
 w

it
h
 N

I 
5

5
 t
h

e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n

 a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
.

N
.A

.

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Health) 
 
Date: 24th March 2008 
 
Subject: NHS Annual Health Check 
 

        
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 In 2005/6, the Healthcare Commission introduced the new NHS performance 

assessment process ‘Annual Health Check’. As part of the health check, NHS trusts 
must submit a self assessment declaration to the Commission by midday on 1st May 
2009.  These declarations are supplemented with comments from representatives of 
patients and other partners in the community, including Local Authorities' Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. 

2.0 The role of Scrutiny in the Annual Health Check 

2.1 The Healthcare Commission invites Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and other 
bodies, to comment on how they think local Trusts are performing against the  “core 
standards” set by Government. Core standards represent the minimum standards for 
services that must be met, for all patients, by all NHS bodies.  The 24 standards were 
agreed by the Department of Health in July 2004 and published in the document 
‘Standards for Better Health’, attached at Appendix 2. They are divided into 7 
domains: Safety, Clinical and Cost Effectiveness, Governance, Patient Focus, 
Accessible and Responsive Care, Care Environment and Amenities, and Public 
Health.  

2.2 Local NHS Trusts are required to ask this Board to comment on the Trust’s 
performance against the core standards.  However, the Board are not compelled to 
provide comments. 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Laura Nield 
 
Tel: 395 0492 

Agenda Item 8

Page 45



2.3 In accordance with Healthcare Commission guidance, where Scrutiny Board (Health) 
does provide comments to Trusts, such comments will need to be supported by 
evidence of work carried out by the Board and must also be relevant to the 
assessment period (this year that assessment period is April 2008 to March 2009). In 
view of this, the Commission acknowledges that the Board may wish to, but is not 
obliged to, limit comments to those areas where it has undertaken reviews or 
monitored services. 

 
2.4 The Board is therefore invited to make comments on the information received from 

each of the NHS Trusts in Leeds. A report from Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust is 
attached.  Reports from NHS Leeds and Leeds Partnerships NHS Foundation Trust 
were not available at the time of agenda publication, but will be made available to 
board members prior to the meeting. 

3.0 Briefings from Local NHS Trusts 
 
3.1 Representatives from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds Partnerships 

NHS Foundation Trust, and NHS Leeds will be attending today’s meeting to brief the 
Board on the progress made by the Trusts in complying with the core standards.  

 
3.2 Should the Board decide to formulate comments for submission to the Trusts as part 

of the Annual Health Check process, comments will need to be formally agreed and 
conveyed to the Trusts in time to meet their deadlines for submission to the 
Healthcare Commission.  

 
4.0  Recommendation 
 
4.1 The Board is are asked to: 
  

(a) consider and comment on the progress made by the Trusts in complying with the 
core standards 

(b) identify and discuss any areas relevant to the core standards, which it might like to 
provide comments on, based on the work of the Board over the last 12 months 

(c) determine, in discussion with Trust representatives, the timescales for providing 
any comments to comply with their deadlines for submission to the Healthcare 
Commission. 

 

Page 46



Your part in the
annual health check
2008/09 update
A step-by-step guide for local authorities, strategic health authorities,
local involvement networks (LINks), overview and scrutiny
committees, local safeguarding children boards, learning disability
partnership boards and foundation trusts' boards of governors

Page 47



The Healthcare Commission keeps a
check on local healthcare organisations
and provides information that is of interest
to patients and the public about their local
health services – safety and cleanliness,
dignity and respect, standards of care,
keeping people healthy, waiting to be
seen, and good management.

By checking trusts’ performance and
providing information, we aim to help
trusts to improve their services.

From April 2009, trusts will again be
gearing up for the declaration part of the
annual health check. We need your
comments to make sure that we get the
full picture about their performance in
2008/09.

Last year we invited patient and public
involvement forums, overview and scrutiny
committees, strategic health authorities
(SHAs), local safeguarding children boards,

and foundation trusts’ boards of governors
to comment and they responded well. We
really appreciate the hard work that went
into providing commentaries that
produced so much useful intelligence. One
way we used this information was to
influence our decision on which trusts
were inspected as part of our core
standards assessment.

For 2008/09 we are also inviting local
involvement networks (LINks) and
learning disability partnership boards to
tell us how they think their local trust is
performing against the standards set by
Government, and to give us the views and
experiences of people in their community.
We are determined to put the interests of
patients and the public at the heart of our
work, so your feedback is very important
to us.

As in previous years, where you have sent
comments to trusts for inclusion in their
declaration, these must be included –
word for word – in the declarations they
submit to us. But if you are invited to
comment and say no, neither you nor the
trust will be penalised.

We recognise that LINks will be at
different stages of establishment across
the country and that not all will be able to
contribute to the annual health check to
the same degree. Therefore we have put in
place options that recognise this and they
are set out under heading 2 of this
document.

Tell us how you think your

local trust is performing

Page 48



1. Getting ready
The Government published Standards for
Better Health in July 2004, which set out 24
core standards. These core standards
describe a minimum level of service,
which patients have the right to expect.
We are again asking trusts to tell us how
they have performed against the core
standards this year through a declaration,
which must be submitted by midday on
1 May 2009. As part of this process, trusts
are responsible for inviting ‘third parties’
to comment on their performance. Third
parties include local authorities, SHAs,
LINks, overview and scrutiny committees,
local safeguarding children boards
and learning disability partnership boards

and foundation trusts’ boards of governors.

Your local trust should contact you in early
2009 to agree a timetable for including
your comments in their declaration. You
may also want to start discussing what
you might say, so you are prepared.

You can comment on your trust’s
performance against any of these
standards. You do not have to comment on
all of them. Your comments should relate to
your group’s views on the performance of
the trust during the period from 1 April
2008 to 31 March 2009. You are not expected
to sign off or comment directly on the
declaration given to us by your local trust.

If you agree to comment, you may want to
set up regular meetings with your
members as soon as possible, so that you
have enough time to seek the views of
others in your community. You may also
want to contact the other third parties in
your area, so that you can discuss your
respective roles, exchange views about
local trusts and coordinate your efforts.

You may find it useful to share your draft
comments with your trust or with a
regional assessor from the Healthcare
Commission. You don’t have to take their
feedback into account, but working
together may benefit everyone involved.

Page 49



2. LINks 
On 1 April 2008, new government 

legislation introduced local involvement 

networks (LINks), which aim to give local 

people a greater say in the way that 

health and social care services are 

commissioned and provided. Each local 

authority has until the end of September 

2008 to appoint a LINk ‘host’ to support 

the set up and running of their LINk. 

LINks effectively replace the former 

patient and public involvement forums 

but, in this first year, we recognise that 

not all LINks will be able to contribute to 

the annual health check to the same 

extent that third parties have done in 

previous years. In order to ensure your 

comments are included in the annual 

health check there are three options: 

a) Where a LINk is fully operational, we 

advise that the LINk lead/host submits 

its comments to the trust for inclusion 

in the declaration. This will need to 

take place in early April; exact 

deadline will need to be agreed with 

the trust. 

OR

b) If it is not fully established then the 

LINk lead/host is invited to coordinate 

the comments of up to ten voluntary 

organisations and submit these to the 

trust for inclusion in the declaration 

(timing as above). 

OR

c) We have also developed a website for 

LINk leads and host organisations 

called engage. It will enable LINk host 

organisations to submit feedback on 

patient experiences throughout the 

year. We are suggesting, therefore, 

that if LINk lead/ hosts are not able to 

submit comments directly to the trusts 

concerned in time for submission with 

their declaration, then comments can 

be submitted via the engage website 

(https://engage.healthcarecommission

.org.uk)

Please note LINk lead/ hosts will need to 

register via the ‘contact us’ section of the 

website. Comments must be submitted by 

1 May 2009.

Options a) and b) will enable us to include 

your comments with the trust’s 

declaration when we publish it on our 

website. Unfortunately, we will not be 

able to publish comments submitted via 

the engage website (option c). They will, 

however, still be used to cross-check the 

declarations submitted by the relevant 

trusts.

We would also encourage overview and 

scrutiny committees and foundation 

trusts’ boards of governors to contact 

their local authority to offer to work with 

the emerging LINks to identify the best 

way of feeding in their comments. 

Further details are included in our LINks 

guide to working with the Healthcare 

Commission, which can be found at 

https://engage.healthcarecommission. 

org.uk/static/handbook 

3. What’s new in 2008/09
Primary care trusts (PCTs) currently have 

two functions: as commissioners 

(purchasers) and providers of care. 

Commissioning in the NHS is the process 

that ensures that the services provided 

most effectively meet the needs of the 
Page 50



local population. It is a complex process 

involving assessing population needs, 

prioritising health outcomes, procuring 

products and services and managing 

those who provide those services. Most 

PCTs will also be providers of some of the 

services. For 2008/09, the annual health 

check will reflect this by providing 

separate assessments on the provider 

and commissioning functions of PCTs. 

When drafting your commentary for PCTs 

it may be useful to consider these two 

separate functions. 

4. How will your comments

m make a difference? 
Your comments, if submitted through 

your trust’s declaration, will be made 

publicly available. You could make a 

difference to your local health services 

just by putting your views on record. 

Your comments (including those 

submitted via the engage website if the 

LINk has chosen option c) will be taken 

into account when we decide which trusts 

will receive a follow-up inspection. 

Comments supported by factual 

examples are more likely to be given 

greater weight. 

5. Submitting your comments 
There is no standard template for giving 

your comments to trusts – use a format 

that works best for you. Consider 

allowing the chair of your group to ‘sign 

off’ your comments. This could help you 

to finalise them more quickly. 

It is important that trusts have enough 

time to include your comments in their 

declarations before the deadline. They 

must send us their declaration no later 

than midday on 1 May 2009, but can 

submit it before this date.

They should also send you a copy of their 

declaration once they have submitted it to 

us so that you can check your comments. 

They do not have to share the content of 

their declaration with you before it is 

submitted.

Tips to help ensure your comments 

make a difference 

Think about what matters most to you 

and the people in your community – 

what are the most important points 

you want to get across? 

Think about examples of good practice 

as well as problems and areas for 

improvement. 

Familiarise yourself with the core 

standards and guidance relating to 

them. Aim to match the standards with 

the points you want to make. 

Ensure that your examples are 

relevant to the 2008/09 annual health 

check, ie, they happened between 1 

April 2008 and 31 March 2009.

Try to find facts and examples to back 

up your comments. These may include 

notes of a meeting or visit to a trust, 

the results of a local survey, or 

personal stories from individuals with 

dates and supporting documents. 

Please note your comments must not 

include confidential or personal 

information, for example, names of 

individual patients or staff, or contact 

details.

Do not submit the supporting 

documents with your comments, but      

be prepared in case we need to clarify 

some aspect of your comment. 

Page 51



6. Learning from last year’s
annual health check

When writing your comments for this
year’s annual health check, please note
that we use them to identify and extract
‘items of information’. These might
consist of several paragraphs or a single
sentence and will relate to one or more
core standard.

In 2008, we received 1,930 comments from
third parties. We extracted and coded
8,779 items of information from these
comments because they related to one or
more of the standards. Each coded item
was weighted ‘high’, ‘medium’ or ‘low’:

• ‘High’ meant the item had a strong
association with a particular standard,
was closely aligned to the criteria in our
inspection guides and provided clear
information to support the opinions
expressed.

• ‘Low’ meant the item related to a small
aspect of a standard, or was about one
department rather than a whole trust,
or had little back-up information.

• In total, 451 (5%) of the items were
weighted as ‘high’, 5,206 (59%) as ‘low’
and 3,122 (36%) as ‘medium’ weighting.

7. Cross-checking and
follow up

Your comments will be one of the many
sources of information that will be used to
check the trust’s declaration. This helps to
ensure our assessments are as fair and
accurate as possible. We will also carry out
follow-up inspections with approximately
20% of trusts – some of these trusts will be
chosen at random and some will have been
identified as being most at risk of not
meeting the core standards.

If your local trust gets a follow-up
inspection, you may be contacted by one of
our regional assessors to discuss your
comments. We will want to see your
supporting information at this point.

Key dates

• Early 2009
Establish the deadlines for
submitting comments to your trust.

If you do not wish to submit any
comments for the 2008/09 annual
health check, it would be helpful if
you could write formally to your trust
advising them of this.

• 15 April 2009
Trusts can begin to submit their
declaration to us.

• Midday 1 May 2009
Deadline for trusts to submit their
declaration to us.

• 22 May 2009
Trust declarations made public.

• October 2009
Results of the annual health check
published.

Page 52



8. Find out more

Our LINks guide to working with the
Healthcare Commission gives details of
how LINks can contribute information for
the annual health check in 2008/09. It is
available from the engage website at:

https://engage.healthcarecommission.
org.uk/static/handbook

A companion guide to working with the
Commission for Social Care Inspection
will be available in autumn 2008.

The annual health check in 2008/09:
Assessing and rating the NHS gives further
information about the annual health
check and can be downloaded from the
Healthcare Commission website at
www.healthcarecommission.org.uk

We will shortly be publishing sets of
criteria for NHS trusts to give them more
information about the assessment of core
standards for this year’s annual health
check. These will also be available to
download from the Commission website
once they are published.

Page 53



Healthcare Commission

Telephone 020 7448 9200

Facsimile 020 7448 9222

Helpline 0845 601 3012 (for the cost of a local call)

Email feedback@healthcarecommission.org.uk

Website www.healthcarecommission.org.uk

This information is available in other formats and languages on
request. Please telephone 0845 601 3012

Finsbury Tower
103-105 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8TG

Maid Marian House
56 Hounds Gate
Nottingham
NG1 6BE

Dominions House
Lime Kiln Close
Stoke Gifford
Bristol
BS34 8SR

Kernel House
Killingbeck Drive
Killingbeck
Leeds
LS14 6UF

5th Floor
Peter House
Oxford Street
Manchester
M1 5AX

1st Floor
1 Friarsgate
1011 Stratford Road
Solihull
B90 4AG

© 2008 Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection (updated Dec 2008)

Page 54



1

STANDARDS FOR BETTER HEALTH

Page 55



2

STANDARDS FOR BETTER HEALTH 

INTRODUCTION

1. The NHS Improvement Plan, published in June, set out the next stage of the 
Government’s plans for the modernisation of the health service.  It signalled 
three big shifts: 

 putting patients and service users first through more personalised care; 

 a focus on the whole of health and wellbeing not only illness; and 

 further devolution of decision making to local organisations. 

2. All this requires much greater joint working and partnership between PCTs, LAs, 
NHS Foundation Trusts, other NHS, independent sector and voluntary 
organisations.  This is happening in many parts of the country, but needs to be 
made more consistent. 

3. A parallel shift is now required in the way improvements in people’s health and 
care are planned and delivered.   This means moving away from a system that is 
mainly driven by national targets to one in which: 

standards are the main driver for continuous improvements in quality; 

 there are fewer national targets;

 there is greater scope for addressing local priorities;

incentives are in place to support this system; and 

 all organisations locally play their part in service modernisation.

A STANDARDS DRIVEN SYSTEM 

4. From April 2005 there will be a new performance framework for the NHS, driven 
by Standards for Better Health which set out the level of quality all organisations 
providing NHS care will be expected to meet or aspire to across the NHS in 
England.

5. Standards for Better Health 4 represents the Government’s response to the 
consultation on the health care standards, which was launched in February 2004, 
and puts quality at the forefront of the agenda for the NHS and for private and 
voluntary providers of NHS care.   The standards describe the level of quality that 
health care organisations, including NHS Foundation Trusts, and private and 
voluntary providers of NHS care, will be expected to meet in terms of safety; 
clinical and cost effectiveness; governance; patient focus; accessible and 

                                                          
4 Section 46 of the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 sets out the legislative 

basis for the health care Standards 

Page 56



3

responsive care; care environment and amenities; and public health.  In each of 
these domains the individual standards fall into two categories: 

core standards: which bring together and rationalise existing 
requirements for the health service, setting out the minimum level of 
service patients and service users have a right to expect; and 

developmental standards – which signal the direction of travel and 
provide a framework for NHS bodies to plan the delivery of services 
which continue to improve in line with increasing patient expectations. 

6. Standards for Better Health will form a key part of the performance assessment 
by the Healthcare Commission (HC) of all health care organisations.  The 
Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) inspects regulated care services, 
such as care homes, against minimum national standards drawn up by the 
Department of Health (DH) in consultation with the social care community and 
people using health and social care services.  They are designed to drive up 
standards by identifying areas for improvement. 

Why Standards? 

7. The standards set out in this document have been developed with two principal 
objectives.  First, they provide a common set of requirements applying across all 
health care organisations to ensure that health services are provided that are 
both safe and of an acceptable quality. 

8. Second, they provide a framework for continuous improvement in the overall 
quality of care people receive.  The framework ensures that the extra resources 
being directed to the NHS are used to help raise the level of performance 
measurably year-on-year. 

9. The scope of the new quality programme which is emerging in the NHS is bold 
and broad-based.  Underpinning this has been the concept of clinical governance 
– a unifying concept for quality which provides organisations with a systematic 
means for ensuring that they comply with their statutory duty. It aims to effect a 
change of culture in NHS organisations to one where: 

“openness and participation are encouraged, where education and research 
are properly valued, where people learn from failures and blame is the 
exception rather than the rule, and where good practice and new approaches 
are freely shared and willingly received.” 

(Sir Liam Donaldson, Chief Medical Officer) 

Overall aims 

5. Standards for Better Health sits at the heart of the new relationship between 
central Government and the NHS, under which it is the role of the Department of 
Health to set broad, overarching standards defining the Government’s high level 
expectations of the health service.  These should be comprehensive but at a level of 
detail that allows scope for local determination of what works best and for the new 

Page 57



4

independent inspectorate to make judgments about what levels of performance are 
acceptable at any one time. 

6.  A strong underlying theme is the need to reduce the burden of unhelpful 
standards and guidance on the NHS over time.  We are conscious of the large 
number of requirements that have (in the past) been set centrally, either directly from 
the Department itself or by its Arm’s Length Bodies.  Some of the Department’s own 
standards are currently under review and the review of Arm’s Length Bodies will 
provide an opportunity to rationalise either standards themselves or some of the 
reporting requirements that they currently impose.  The development of the new high 
level standards set out here represents the first step toward simplifying and 
rationalising the expectations on the service.  The review also provides an excellent 
opportunity to reduce the burden of current requirements, although the process of 
doing so will necessarily take some time to evolve.  While Standards for Better 
Health will synthesise a large number of existing rules and guidance, NHS bodies 
will continue to be subject to the wider regulatory framework, such as health and 
safety legislation. 

7.  The final but key aim of these standards is to underpin the delivery of high quality 
services which are fair, personal and responsive to patients’ needs and wishes, 
which are provided equitably and which deliver improvements in the health and well-
being of the population.  This aim can only be achieved if these benefits are 
delivered to all groups within our society.  The standards must therefore be 
interpreted and implemented in ways which: 

• Challenge discrimination 
• Promote equality of access and quality of services 
• Support the provision of services appropriate to individual needs, 
preferences and choices 
• Respect and protect human rights 
• Further the NHS’s reputation as a model employer 
• Enable NHS organisations to contribute to economic success and 
community cohesion. 

NHS Improvement Plan 

8.  The new standards reflect the direction set by the NHS Improvement Plan.  In 
particular, the core standards will underpin patient choice by determining which 
health care organisations may provide care under the NHS. 

9.  Furthermore, the developmental standards describe the framework for quality 
improvement that have been taken forward in the NHS Improvement Plan.  There is, 
in particular, a new focus on public health.  These standards, in line with the NHS
Improvement Plan, stress the importance of reducing inequalities and of 
organisations working together to provide a whole systems approach to care, tailor 
made for the individual patient.  Raising standards in this way will deliver more 
personalised care and ensure that all patients, including those from disadvantaged 
groups, are able to benefit. 

Taxonomy 

Page 58



5

10.  A key element in simplifying and rationalising the approach to standards setting 
will be the adoption of a common framework for all matters related to performance 
and a common language so that terms such as “standards” have a clearly 
understood, shared meaning.  It is our clear intention that the domain structure set 
out in this document should become the common framework, not only for standards 
set by the Department and for the inspection process itself, but also for the whole 
performance agenda whether national or local. 

11.  From now on, the Department of Health will define the most frequently used 
terms in the following way: 

Standards
Standards are a means of describing the level of quality that health care 
organisations are expected to meet or to aspire to. The performance of 
organisations can be assessed against this level of quality. 

Quality Requirements 
Quality requirements will be established through the National Service Frameworks.
They describe the care which clinicians and others will use to guide their practice. 

Criteria
Criteria are ways of demonstrating compliance with, and performance relevant to, a 
standard.  They establish specific, objective expectations, drawing on such evidence 
and indicators as the Healthcare Commission may establish. 

Targets
Targets refer to a defined level of performance that is being aimed for, often with a 
numerical and time dimension.  The purpose of a target is to incentivise 
improvement in the specific area covered by the target over a particular timeframe. 

Benchmarks 
Benchmarks are used as comparators to compare performance between similar 
organisations or systems. 

Who the standards are for 

12.  The standards themselves will be taken into account by those providing NHS 
care directly, no matter what the setting, those managing the health service, those 
commissioning health care and, most importantly, for the general public. 

13.  The standards apply to the provision of all NHS services in the full variety of 
settings, including NHS Foundation Trusts, and the voluntary and private sectors 
insofar as they provide care to NHS patients. 

14.  They are also for the Healthcare Commission who have responsibility for 
assessing the quality of health and health care provided in England.  The 
Commission’s role is set out more fully below. 

Response to consultation 

Page 59



6

15.  The standards published here were subject to a full twelve-week public 
consultation.  A summary of the main points made in response to the consultation 
will be available on the DH website – www.dh.gov.uk

How the standards framework is structured 

16.  The standards set out in this document are organised within seven “domains”, 
which are designed to cover the full spectrum of health care as defined in the Health 
and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.  The domains 
encompass all facets of health care, including prevention, and are described in terms 
of outcomes.  The seven domains are: 

• Safety 
• Clinical and Cost Effectiveness 
• Governance 
• Patient Focus 
• Accessible and Responsive Care 
• Care Environment and Amenities 
• Public Health 

Outcomes for each domain are specified. 

17.  Within these domains there are two types of standards, core and developmental. 

Core standards 

18.  The core standards do not of themselves set out new expectations of the NHS, 
but are based on a number of standards or requirements that already exist.  They 
describe a level of service which is acceptable and which must be universal.
Meeting the core standards is not optional.  Health care organisations must 
comply with them from the date of publication of this document. 

Developmental standards 

19.  Service provision which only meets the core standards will be no more than 
acceptable at the date of publication of this document.  The focus of attention, both 
on the part of the Healthcare Commission in its annual reviews and on Trusts 
themselves, will be on progress against the developmental standards.  These are 
broad-based and comprehensive in their scope and are framed so as to provide a 
dynamic force for continuous improvement over time.  Through the annual review 
process they will enable health care organisations themselves, health care 
professionals and, most importantly, the public to see progress made year-on-year. 

20.  The developmental standards are designed for a world in which patients’ 
expectations are increasing.  The levels of investment now being made in the NHS 
make achievements against these standards realistic.  Progress is expected to be 
made against the developmental standards across much of the NHS as a result of 
the NHS Improvement Plan and the extra investment in the period to 2008. The
Healthcare Commission will, through its criteria for review, assess progress by 
health care organisations towards achieving the developmental standards. 

Page 60



7

21.  The core standards will therefore serve a platform or “bottom rung” for progress 
against the developmental ladder.  They serve as a marker for where the service is 
now.  They also serve to assure the public that all services, wherever provided, will 
be safe and of an acceptable quality. 

National Service Frameworks and NICE Guidance 

22.  National Service Frameworks (NSFs) and National Institute for Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) guidance are integral to a standards-based system.  They have a 
key role in supporting local improvements in service quality.  Organisations’ 
performance will be assessed not just on how they do on national targets but 
increasingly on whether they are delivering high quality standards across a range of 
areas, including NSFs and NICE guidance. 

23.  We will continue to develop NSFs and other national strategies where these are 
needed.  There are already NSFs on coronary heart disease, diabetes, mental 
health, older people’s services and paediatric intensive care, as well as the NHS 
Cancer Plan, the national strategy for sexual health and HIV, and a major 
programme of work to implement recommendations from the Shipman inquiry.
There are forthcoming NSFs for children, renal services and long-term conditions, 
and a national strategy on sexual health.  NSFs should be considered as part of the 
developmental standards.  Over the course of the three-year planning period for the 
Planning Framework, the NHS together with Local Authorities will need to be able to 
demonstrate that they are making progress towards achieving the levels of service 
quality described in the NSFs and national strategies.  Both the Healthcare 
Commission and CSCI will undertake thematic reviews of progress, jointly where 
appropriate.

The inspection function 

24.  As well as establishing the power for the Secretary of State for Health to set 
standards, the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 
also established the Healthcare Commission and set out its functions.  These include 
undertaking an annual review of the provision of health care by (and for) each NHS 
body in England, including Foundation Trusts.  Its judgements will be based on 
criteria, which it is charged with developing and which have to be agreed with the 
Secretary of State.  These criteria have to take account of the standards set out in 
this document. 

25.  In undertaking its reviews, the Commission will focus on achievement against 
the developmental standards.  However, it will also need to be satisfied that all trusts 
are meeting the core standards.  The Commission will be responsible for determining 
how it assesses core performance, although the process will need to take account of 
targets that the Department has set and which are now assumed to be achieved.  
For this reason, we are including one core standard (C7 f ) that cross refers to a 
number of existing requirements (as listed in Appendix 1 to these standards) which 
are currently being met and must continue to be met. 

26.  The outcome of the Healthcare Commission’s review will therefore enable the 
public to identify progress against the standards by individual organisations.  The 

Page 61



8

reviews will also help to determine which Trusts are to be considered for Foundation 
Trust status.  If, exceptionally, a Trust fails to satisfy the Commission that it meets 
the core standards, then consideration will need to be given to how performance 
should be improved.  In such cases, it will normally be for the Trust to develop 
proposals for improvement in negotiation with its Strategic Health Authority.
Exceptionally, the legislation gives powers to the Commission to recommend to the 
Secretary of State, or in the case of Foundation Trusts the Independent Regulator, 
that they take special measures in relation to any significant failings.  It should be 
noted that the Independent Regulator has additional powers to intervene in the case 
of Foundation Trusts which are failing to discharge their responsibilities in other ways 

The independent sector 

27.  The standards apply with immediate effect to services provided under the NHS, 
whether within NHS bodies or within the independent or voluntary sector.  As 
foreshadowed in the consultation document, there will be an appropriate phasing in 
of the applications of these standards to cover other services provided entirely by the 
independent sector. 

28.  At present the requirements of the Care Standards Act mean that the Healthcare 
Commission is required to undertake inspections of all registered independent 
establishments once every year against the National Minimum Standards for 
Independent Health Care.  The Healthcare Commission intends to harmonise and 
align its inspection and review methodologies for the independent and NHS sectors.
The Government will also make legislative changes as necessary to enable an equal 
approach to inspection of the independent and NHS sectors against the same 
standards, when Parliamentary time allows. 

29.  Until then, independent providers will continue to be regulated against the Care 
Standards Act, its Regulations and National Minimum Standards.  Those 
commissioning NHS services from the private sector must also take compliance with 
the Standards for Better Health into account before commissioning contracts are 
made.  However, in practice, the Government has already taken the National 
Minimum Standards fully into account when setting the Standards for Better Health,
and the Healthcare Commission will seek to avoid creating additional or inconsistent 
requirements during this transitional period through its adaptation of assessment 
methods, commissioning and harmonisation work. 

30.  The application of these standards to the independent sector and the timing of 
integration will be undertaken in consultation with representative organisations of the 
independent sector.  This will include consultation on final proposals for these 
directions and initiatives. 

Partnership working 

31.  While these standards are confined to the provision of NHS health care, they 
recognise the need to develop services in a co-ordinated way, taking full account of 
the responsibilities of other agencies in providing comprehensive care.  In particular, 
they must be read and interpreted to allow for the statutory duties of partnership on 
all NHS bodies and Local Authorities established under the Health Act 1999 and the 

Page 62



9

Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.  This 
introduced requirements on both the NHS and Local Authorities to work together to 
achieve the co-operation needed to bring about improvements in health care. 

32.  In particular, there is a considerable emphasis within the developmental 
standards to adopting a whole system approach to health service provision. 

Page 63



10

Core and Developmental Standards 

The outcome for these standards is specified for each domain.  The core standards 
set out below are not optional.  They should be met from the date of publication.
Progress is expected to be made against the developmental standards across much 
of the NHS as a result of the NHS Improvement Plan and the extra investment in the 
period to 2008.  Demonstrating improvements against the developmental standards 
will be essential to achieve an overall high performance rating. 

First Domain - Safety 

Domain Outcome 

Patient safety is enhanced by the use of health care processes, working 
practices and systemic activities that prevent or reduce the risk of harm 
to patients. 

Core standard 

C1 Health care organisations protect patients through systems that  
a) identify and learn from all patient safety incidents and other 

reportable incidents, and make improvements in practice 
based on local and national experience and information 
derived from the analysis of incidents; and

b) ensure that patient safety notices, alerts and other 
communications concerning patient safety which require 
action are acted upon within required time-scales. 

C2 Health care organisations protect children by following national 
child protection guidance within their own activities and in their 
dealings with other organisations. 

C3 Health care organisations protect patients by following NICE 
Interventional Procedures guidance. 

C4 Health care organisations keep patients, staff and visitors safe 
by having systems to ensure that 
a) the risk of health care acquired infection to patients is 

reduced, with particular emphasis on high standards of 
hygiene and cleanliness, achieving year-on-year reductions 
in MRSA; 

b) all risks associated with the acquisition and use of medical 
devices are minimised; 

c) all reusable medical devices are properly decontaminated 
prior to use and that the risks associated with 
decontamination facilities and processes are well managed; 

d) medicines are handled safely and securely; and  
e) the prevention, segregation, handling, transport and disposal 

of waste is properly managed so as to minimise the risks to 

Related
Developme
ntal
Standard:

D1

Page 64



11

the health and safety of staff, patients, the public and the 
safety of the environment. 

Developmental standard 

D1 Health care organisations continuously and systematically review and improve 
all aspects of their activities that directly affect patient safety and apply best 
practice in assessing and managing risks to patients, staff and others, 
particularly when patients move from the care of one organisation to another. 

Second Domain – Clinical and Cost Effectiveness 

Domain Outcome 

Patients achieve health care benefits that meet their individual needs through 
health care decisions and services based on what assessed research evidence 
has shown provides effective clinical outcomes

Core standards 

C5 Health care organisations ensure that  
a) they conform to NICE technology appraisals and, where it is 

available, take into account nationally agreed guidance when 
planning and delivering treatment and care; 

b) clinical care and treatment are carried out under supervision 
and leadership; 

c) clinicians continuously update skills and techniques relevant to 
their clinical work; and 

d) clinicians participate in regular clinical audit and reviews of 
clinical services. 

C6 Health care organisations cooperate with each other and social 
care organisations to ensure that patients’ individual needs are 
properly managed and met. 

Developmental standard 

D2 Patients receive effective treatment and care that: 

a) conform to nationally agreed best practice, particularly as defined in 
National Service Frameworks, NICE guidance, national plans and 
agreed national guidance on service delivery; 

b) take into account their individual requirements and meet their  
physical, cultural, spiritual and psychological needs and preferences; 

c) are well co-ordinated to provide a seamless service across  
all organisations that need to be involved, especially social care 
organisations; and 

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D2

Page 65



12

d) is delivered by health care professionals who make clinical decisions 
based on evidence-based practice. 

Third Domain – Governance 

Domain Outcome 

Managerial and clinical leadership and accountability, as well as the 
organisation’s culture, systems and working practices ensure that probity, 
quality assurance, quality improvement and patient safety are central 
components of all the activities of the health care organisation. 

Core standards 

C7 Health care organisations 
a) apply the principles of sound clinical and corporate 

governance; 
b) actively support all employees to promote openness, 

honesty, probity, accountability, and the economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources; 

c) undertake systematic risk assessment and risk 
management;

d) ensure financial management achieves economy, 
effectiveness, efficiency, probity and accountability in the 
use of resources; 

e) challenge discrimination, promote equality and respect 
human rights; and 

f) meet the existing performance requirements set out in the 
annex.

C8 Health care organisations support their staff through 
a) having access to processes which permit them to raise, in 
confidence and without prejudicing their position, concerns over 
any aspect of service delivery, treatment or management that 

they consider to have a detrimental effect on patient care or on 
the delivery of services; and 

b) organisational and personal development programmes which 
recognise the contribution and value of staff, and address, 

where appropriate, under-representation of minority groups. 

C9 Health care organisations have a systematic and planned 
approach to the management of records to ensure that, from the 
moment a record is created until its ultimate disposal, the 
organisation maintains information so that it serves the purpose it 
was collected for and disposes of the information appropriately 
when no longer required. 

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D3

Related
Developmental 

Standard:
D7

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D6

Page 66



13

C10 Health care organisations 
a) undertake all appropriate employment checks and ensure that 

all employed or contracted professionally qualified staff are 
registered with the appropriate bodies; and 

b) require that all employed professionals abide by relevant 
published codes of professional practice.   

C11 Health care organisations ensure that staff concerned with all 
aspects of the provision of health care 
a) are appropriately recruited, trained and qualified for the work 

they undertake; 
b) participate in mandatory training programmes; and 
c) participate in further professional and occupational development 

commensurate with their work throughout their working lives. 

C12 Health care organisations which either lead or participate in 
research have systems in place to ensure that the principles and 
requirements of the research governance framework are 
consistently applied.

Developmental standards 

D3 Integrated governance arrangements representing best practice are in place 
in all health care organisations and across all health communities and clinical 
networks.

D4 Health care organisations work together to 
a) ensure that the principles of clinical governance are underpinning the 

work of every clinical team and every clinical service; 
b) implement a cycle of continuous quality improvement; and 
c) ensure effective clinical and managerial leadership and accountability. 

D5 Health care organisations work together and with social care organisations to 
meet the changing health needs of their population by 

a) having an appropriately constituted workforce with appropriate skill mix 
across the community; and 

b) ensuring the continuous improvement of services through better ways of 
working.

D6 Health care organisations use effective and integrated information technology 
and information systems which support and enhance the quality and safety of 
patient care, choice and service planning. 

D7 Health care organisations work to enhance patient care by adopting best 
practice in human resources management and continuously improving staff 
satisfaction.

Fourth Domain - Patient Focus 

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D7

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D3

Page 67



14

Domain Outcome 

Health care is provided in partnership with patients, their carers and relatives, 
respecting their diverse needs, preferences and choices, and in partnership 
with other organisations (especially social care organisations) whose services 
impact on patient well-being. 

Core standards 

C13 Health care organisations have systems in place to ensure that 
a) staff treat patients, their relatives and carers with dignity and respect; 
b) appropriate consent is obtained when required for all contacts with 

patients and for the use of any patient confidential information; and 
c) staff treat patient information confidentially, except where authorised by 

legislation to the contrary. 

C14 Health care organisations have systems in place to ensure that 
patients, their relatives and carers 
a) have suitable and accessible information about, and clear 

access to, procedures to register formal complaints and 
feedback on the quality of services; 

b) are not discriminated against when complaints are made; and 
c) are assured that organisations act appropriately on any 

concerns and, where appropriate, make changes to ensure 
improvements in service delivery. 

C15 Where food is provided, health care organisations have systems 
in place to ensure that 
a) patients are provided with a choice and that it is prepared 

safely and provides a balanced diet; and 
b) patients’ individual nutritional, personal and clinical dietary 

requirements are met, including any necessary help with 
feeding and access to food 24 hours a day. 

C16 Health care organisations make information available to patients 
and the public on their services, provide patients with suitable and 
accessible information on the care and treatment they receive 
and, where appropriate, inform patients on what to expect during 
treatment, care and after-care. 

Developmental standards 

D8 Health care organisations continuously improve the patient experience, based 
on the feedback of patients, carers and relatives. 

D9 Patients, service users and, where appropriate, carers receive timely and 
suitable information, when they need and want it, on treatment, care, services, 
prevention and health promotion and are 
a) encouraged to express their preferences; and  

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D8

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D9

Page 68



15

b) supported to make choices and shared decisions about their own health 
care.

D10 Patients and service users, particularly those with long-term conditions, are 
helped to contribute to planning of their care and are provided with 
opportunities and resources to develop competence in self-care. 

Fifth Domain - Accessible and Responsive Care 

Domain Outcome

Patients receive services as promptly as possible, have choice in access to 
services and treatments, and do not experience unnecessary delay at any 
stage of service delivery or of the care pathway. 

Core standards 

C17 The views of patients, their carers and others are sought and taken 
into account in designing, planning, delivering and improving health 
care services.

C18 Health care organisations enable all members of the population to 
access services equally and offer choice in access to services and 
treatment equitably. 

C19 Health care organisations ensure that patients with emergency 
health needs are able to access care promptly and within nationally 
agreed timescales, and all patients are able to access services 
within national expectations on access to services. 

Developmental standard 

D11 Health care organisations plan and deliver health care which 
a) reflects the views and health needs of the population served and which is 

based on nationally agreed evidence or best practice; 
b) maximises patient choice; 
c) ensures access (including equality of access) to services through a range 

of providers and routes of access; and 
d) uses locally agreed guidance, guidelines or protocols for admission, 

referral and discharge that accord with the latest national expectations on 
access to services. 

Sixth Domain - Care Environment and Amenities 

Domain Outcome

Care is provided in environments that promote patient and staff well-being and 
respect for patients’ needs and preferences in that they are designed for the effective 

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D11

Page 69



16

and safe delivery of treatment, care or a specific function, provide as much privacy 
as possible, are well maintained and are cleaned to optimise health outcomes for 
patients.

Core Standards 

C20 Health care services are provided in environments which promote 
effective care and optimise health outcomes by being 
a) a safe and secure environment which protects patients, staff, 

visitors and their property, and the physical assets of the 
organisation; and 

b) supportive of patient privacy and confidentiality.

C21 Health care services are provided in environments which promote 
effective care and optimise health outcomes by being well designed 
and well maintained with cleanliness levels in clinical and non-
clinical areas that meet the national specification for clean NHS 
premises.

Developmental standard 

D12 Health care is provided in well-designed environments that 
a) promote patient and staff well-being, and meet patients’ needs and 

preferences, and staff concerns; and 

b) are appropriate for the effective and safe delivery of treatment, care or a 
specific function, including the effective control of health care associated 
infections.

Seventh Domain - Public Health 

Domain Outcome 

Programmes and services are designed and delivered in collaboration with all 
relevant organisations and communities to promote, protect and improve the 
health of the population served and reduce health inequalities between 
different population groups and areas. 

Related
Developmental 
Standard:
D12

Page 70



17

Core standards 

C22 Health care organisations promote, protect and demonstrably 
improve the health of the community served, and narrow health 
inequalities by 
a) co-operating with each other and with local authorities and 

other organisations; 
b) ensuring that the local Director of Public Health’s Annual 

Report informs their policies and practices; and 
c) making an appropriate and effective contribution to local 

partnership arrangements including Local Strategic 
Partnerships and Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships. 

C23 Health care organisations have systematic and managed disease 
prevention and health promotion programmes which meet the 
requirements of the National Service Frameworks and national plans 
with particular regard to reducing obesity through action on nutrition 
and exercise, smoking, substance misuse and sexually transmitted 
infections.

C24 Health care organisations protect the public by having a planned, 
prepared and, where possible, practised response to incidents and 
emergency situations which could affect the provision of normal 
services.

Developmental standard

D13 Health care organisations 
a) identify and act upon significant public health problems and health 

inequality issues, with primary care trusts taking the leading role; 
b) implement effective programmes to improve health and reduce health 

inequalities, conforming to nationally agreed best practice, particularly as 
defined in NICE guidance and agreed national guidance on public health; 

c) protect their populations from identified current and new hazards to health; 
and

d) take fully into account current and emerging policies and knowledge on 
public health issues in the development of their public health programmes, 
health promotion and prevention services for the public, and the 
commissioning and provision of services.

Related
Developmenta
l Standard: 
D13

Related
Developmenta
l Standard: 
D13

Page 71



18

Appendix 1: GLOSSARY 

Access: the extent to which people are able to receive the information, services 
or care they need. 

CHI: The Commission for Health Improvement was, until April 2004, the 
independent, inspection body for the NHS.  Its functions were transferred to the 
Healthcare Commission 

CHAI: The Commission for Health, Audit and Inspection was established by the 
Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 and is now 
known as the Healthcare Commission.   

Clinical audit: a quality improvement process that seeks to improve patient 
care and outcomes through systematic review of care against explicit criteria and the 
implementation of change.  Aspects of the structure, processes, and outcomes of 
care are selected and systematically evaluated against specific criteria.  Where 
indicated, changes are implemented at an individual, team, or service level and 
further monitoring is used to confirm improvement in health care delivery. 

Clinical governance: a system through which NHS organisations are 
accountable for continuously improving the quality of their services and safeguarding 
high standards of care, by creating an environment in which clinical excellence will 
flourish.

Clinical network: connections across disciplines which provide integrated care 
across institutional and professional boundaries, raising clinical quality and improving 
the patient experience. 

Clinician: professionally qualified staff providing clinical care to patients. 

Crime and disorder reduction partnerships: partnerships between the police, 
local authorities, probation service, health authorities, the voluntary sector, and local 
residents and businesses which work to reduce crime and disorder in their area. 

Criteria: criteria devised and published by the Healthcare Commission, and 
approved by the Secretary of State, with reference to which the Healthcare 
Commission must each financial year conduct a review of the provision of health 
care by and for each English NHS body, and each cross-border SHA. 

Cross-border SHA: a special health authority performing functions in respect 
of both England and Wales. 

English NHS body: a primary care trust, strategic health authority or NHS trust, all or 
most of whose hospitals, establishments and facilities are situated in England, or an 
NHS foundation trust or special health authority performing functions only or mainly 
in respect of England. 

Page 72



19

Foundation trust: a public benefit corporation established by the Health and Social 
Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 which is authorised to provide 
goods and services for the purpose of the health service. 

Governance: a mechanism to provide accountability for the way an 
organisation manages itself. 

Healthcare Commission: established in April 2004 as the independent body 
encompassing the work of the Commission for Health Improvement (CHI).  The 
Healthcare Commission also took on functions transferred from the national NHS 
value for money work of the Audit Commission and the independent health care 
work of the National Care Standards Commission (NCSC)..  It inspects health care 
provision in accordance with national standards and other service priorities and 
reports directly to Parliament on the state of health care in England and Wales. 

Health care organisation: English NHS bodies, cross-border SHAs and other 
organisations and individuals, including the independent and voluntary sectors, 
which provide or commission health care for individual patients and the public. 

Health care professional: a person who is a member of a profession regulated by a 
body mentioned in section 25(3) of the National Health Service Reform and Health 
Care Professions Act 2002. 

Health care: services provided for or in connection with the prevention, diagnosis or 
treatment of illness, and the promotion and protection of public health. 

Health care associated infection: all infections acquired as a direct or indirect 
result of health care.   

Health inequalities: differences in people’s health between geographical 
areas and between different groups of people. 

Health promotion: includes the provision of information on healthier lifestyles for 
patients, and how to make the best use of health services, with the intention of 
enabling people to make rational health choices and of ensuring awareness of the 
factors determining the health of the community. 

Local strategic partnerships: non-statutory bodies intended to bring together the 
public, private, voluntary and community sectors at a local level.  Their purpose is to 
improve the delivery of services and quality of life locally. 

Medical devices: all products, except medicines, used in health care for 
diagnosis, prevention, monitoring or treatment.  The range of products is very wide: it 
includes contact lenses and condoms; heart valves and hospital beds; resuscitators 
and radiotherapy machines; surgical instruments and syringes; wheelchairs and 
walking frames. 

National Service Frameworks:
NSFs

Page 73



20

 set national standards and identify key interventions for a defined service or 
care group; 

 put in place strategies to support implementation; and 

 establish ways to ensure progress within an agreed time-scale. 

The NSFs published to date cover: 

 mental health 

 coronary heart disease 

 older people 

 diabetes 

NSFs on children, renal services and long term conditions (focusing on neurological 
conditions) are in preparation. 

NICE:  a special health authority for England and Wales.  Its role is to provide 
patients, health professionals and the public with authoritative, robust and reliable 
guidance on current “best practice”. The guidance covers both individual health 
technologies (including medicines, medical devices, diagnostic techniques, and 
procedures) and the clinical management of specific conditions. 

NICE guidance: guidance includes: 

Clinical guidelines cover the appropriate treatment and care of patients with 
specific diseases and conditions within the NHS in England and Wales. 

Technology appraisals cover the use of new and existing medicines and 
treatments within the NHS in England and Wales. 

Interventional procedures cover the safety and efficacy of interventional 
procedures used for diagnosis or treatment. 

Public health guidance.

Patient: those in receipt of health care provided by or for an English NHS body 
or cross-border SHA. 

Primary care: first-contact health services directly accessible to the public. 

Primary care trust: a local health organisation responsible for managing local health 
services.  PCTs work with local authorities and other agencies that provide health 
and social care locally to make sure the community's needs are being met. 

Public health: Public health is concerned with improving the health of the 
population, rather than treating the diseases of individual patients.  Public health 
functions include: 

 Health surveillance, monitoring and analysis 

 Investigation of disease outbreaks, epidemics and risk to health 

 Establishing, designing and managing health promotion and disease 
prevention programmes

 Enabling and empowering communities to promote health and reduce 
inequalities  

 Creating and sustaining cross-Government and intersectoral partnerships to 
improve health and reduce inequalities 

Page 74



21

 Ensuring compliance with regulations and laws to protect and promote health 

 Developing and maintaining a well-educated and trained, multi-disciplinary 
public health workforce 

 Ensuring the effective performance of NHS services to meet goals in 
improving health, preventing disease and reducing inequalities 

 Research, development, evaluation and innovation  

 Quality assuring the public health function 

Public Service Agreement: The PSA for the Department of Health sets out the 
priorities for the Department's spending programme and, for each priority, the target 
it is expected to achieve. 

Quality assurance: a systematic process of verifying that a product or service being 
developed is meeting specified requirements. 

Research governance framework: defines the broad principles of good 
research governance and is key to ensuring that health and social care research is 
conducted to high scientific and ethical standards and applies to all research 
undertaken within the remit of the Secretary of State for Health. 

Risk management: covers all the processes involved in identifying, assessing and 
judging risks, assigning ownership, taking actions to mitigate or anticipate them, and 
monitoring and reviewing progress. 

Service user: an individual who uses a health care service, including those 
who are not in need of treatment, such as blood donors, carers or those using 
screening services. 

Strategic health authority: responsible for: 

 developing plans for improving health services in its local area; 

 making sure local health services are of a high quality and are performing 
well;

 increasing the capacity of local health services so they can provide more 
services; and 

 making sure national priorities are integrated into local health service plans. 

Systematic risk assessment: a systematic approach to the identification and 
assessment of risks using explicit risk management techniques. 

Page 75



22

Appendix 2: Extracts from the Health and Social Care (Community Health and 
Standards) Act 2003 

The “Duty of Quality”: 

45 Quality in health care 
(1) It is the duty of each NHS body to put and keep in place arrangements for 
the purpose of monitoring and improving the quality of health care provided by 
and for that body. 
(2) In this Part "health care" means-

(a) services provided to individuals for or in connection with the prevention, 
diagnosis or treatment of illness; and 
(b) the promotion and protection of public health. 

(3) In subsection (2)(a), "illness" has the meaning given by section 128(1) of 
the 1977 Act. 

The Power for the Secretary of State to prepare and publish standards, and the 
duty of upon every English NHS body and cross-border SHA to take account 
of the standards: 

46 Standards set by Secretary of State 
(1) The Secretary of State may prepare and publish statements of standards 
in relation to the provision of health care by and for English NHS bodies and 
cross-border SHAs. 
(2) The Secretary of State must keep the standards under review and may 
publish amended statements whenever he considers it appropriate. 
(3) The Secretary of State must consult such persons as he considers 
appropriate-

(a) before publishing a statement under this section; 
(b) before publishing an amended statement under this section which in 
the opinion of the Secretary of State effects a substantial change in the 
standards.

(4) The standards set out in statements under this section are to be taken into 
account by every English NHS body and cross-border SHA in discharging its 
duty under section 45. 

CHAI’s annual reviews, reviews and investigations, their use of set criteria and 
the requirement upon CHAI to take into account the standards: 

50 Annual reviews 
(1) In each financial year the CHAI must conduct a review of the provision of 
health care by and for-

(a) each English NHS body, and 
(b) each cross-border SHA, 

and must award a performance rating to each such body. 
(2) The CHAI is to exercise its function under subsection (1) by reference to 
criteria from time to time devised by it and approved by the Secretary of State. 

Page 76



23

(3) The CHAI must publish the criteria devised and approved from time to time 
under subsection (2). 
(4) In exercising its functions under this section in relation to any health care 
the CHAI must take into account the standards set out in statements 
published under section 46. 

51 Reviews: England and Wales 
(1) The CHAI has the function of conducting reviews of-  

(a) the overall provision of health care by and for NHS bodies; 
(b) the overall provision of particular kinds of health care by and for NHS 
bodies;
(c) the provision of health care, or a particular kind of health care, by and 
for NHS bodies of a particular description. 

(2) If the Secretary of State so requests, the CHAI must conduct-
(a) a review under subsection (1)(a); 
(b) a review under subsection (1)(b) of the overall provision of a kind of 
health care specified in the request; or 
(c) a review under subsection (1)(c) of the provision of health care, or 
health care of a kind specified in the request, by or for NHS bodies of a 
description so specified. 

(3) The Secretary of State must consult the Assembly before making a 
request under subsection (2). 
(4) In conducting a review under this section in relation to any health care the 
CHAI must take into account-

(a) the standards set out in statements published under section 46, where 
the health care is provided by or for an English NHS body or cross-border 
SHA;
(b) the standards set out in statements published under section 47, where 
the health care is provided by or for a Welsh NHS body. 

52 Reviews and investigations: England 
(1) The CHAI has the function of conducting other reviews of, and 
investigations into, the provision of health care by and for English NHS bodies 
and cross-border SHAs. 
(2) The CHAI may in particular under this section conduct-  

(a) a review of the overall provision of health care by and for English NHS 
bodies and cross-border SHAs; 
(b) a review of the overall provision of a particular kind of health care by 
and for English NHS bodies and cross-border SHAs; 
(c) a review of, or investigation into, the provision of any health care by or 
for a particular English NHS body or cross-border SHA. 

(3) The CHAI has the function of conducting reviews of the arrangements 
made by English NHS bodies and cross-border SHAs for the purpose of 
discharging their duty under section 45. 
(4) If the Secretary of State so requests, the CHAI must conduct-

(a) a review under subsection (2)(a); 
(b) a review under subsection (2)(b) of the overall provision of a kind of 
health care specified in the request; 

Page 77



24

(c) a review or investigation under subsection (2)(c), or a review under 
subsection (3), in relation to the provision of such health care by or for 
such body as may be specified in the request. 

(5) In exercising its functions under this section in relation to any health care 
the CHAI must take into account the standards set out in statements 
published under section 46. 

Page 78



 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\8\4\AI00018482\LTHTAnnualHealthCheckbriefingnoteAppendix30.doc 

 
The Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust’s declaration for 2007/8 indicated that all of the 
core standards were met with the exception of just 4 elements (see attached schedule) 
and had no significant lapses.  2 of these elements were compliant by 31st March 2008.  
Action plans were put in place for achieving compliance with the remaining 2 elements in 
2008/09.  We intend to declare compliance with both these standards at 31 March, 
subject to Board review. 
 
In addition to these 2 non-compliant elements, the Trust has been focusing attention in 
2008/09 on a further 3 elements which we feel need particular attention, as can be seen 
on the attached schedule. This is due to changes in the guidance for achieving these 
particular standards, requiring additional actions in order to be compliant. 
 
A meeting was held between Trust Executive Directors and representatives from the 
Healthcare Commission on 30 January 2009 to review progress and agree the position in 
terms of compliance against these standards for 2008/09 and confirm the actions in those 
areas that will be declared non-compliant. Standard Domain Leads (Executive Directors) 
met on 12 February 2009 to review risk areas and agree the current position in relation to 
compliance with each of the standards, including specific actions required for 2008/09. 
The Trust Board will reassess the position against all the core standards on 26 March 
2009 and review progress against the action plans to determine the current position for 
the full year declaration in 2008/09 and projections for 2009/10. 
 
The Trust continues to develop detailed planning guidance each year for each of the 
standards to ensure the current position is maintained and improvements are made in 
relation to compliance with each of the standards and this remains core to our business 
planning processes.  
 
We believe we have developed a robust process enabling our Trust Board to be assured 
of the standards we are achieving, which has the added value of external validation by 
the HCC. 
 
 
Hugo Mascie-Taylor     Craig Brigg 
Medical Director     Director of Quality 
 

 
THE LEEDS TEACHING HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 

 
BRIEFING NOTE FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

24 MARCH 2009  
 

Page 79



 

 

Domain Core Standard 2007/08 
Compliant 

Y/N 

Specific 
focus in 
2008/9 

Safety Generic   

C1: Healthcare organisations protect 
patients through systems that: 

a) identify and learn from all patient safety incidents and other reportable incidents, and make improvements in practice based on 
local and national experience and information derived from the analysis of incidents 

Y  

  

b) ensure that patient safety notices, alerts and other communications concerning patient safety which require action are acted upon 
within required timescales. 

Y  

C2: Healthcare organisations: protect children by following national child protection guidelines within their own activities and in their dealings with other 
organisations. 

Y  

C3: Healthcare organisations: protect patients by following National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) interventional procedures guidance. Y  

C4: Healthcare organisations keep 
patients, staff and visitors safe by 
having systems to ensure that: 

a) the risk of healthcare acquired infection to patients is reduced, with particular emphasis on high standards of hygiene and 
cleanliness, achieving year on year reductions in MRSA 

N * 

  b) all risks associated with the acquisition and use of medical devices are minimised Y * 

  c) all reusable medical devices are properly decontaminated prior to use and that the risks associated with decontamination facilities 
and processes are well managed 

N * 

  d) medicines are handled safely and securely  Y  

  e) the prevention, segregation, handling, transport and disposal of waste is properly managed so as to minimise the risks to the 
health and safety of staff, patients, the public and the safety of the environment. 

Y  

Clinical and Cost Effectiveness Generic   

C5: Healthcare organisations ensure 
that: 

a) they conform to National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) technology appraisals and, where it is available, take into account 
nationally agreed guidance when planning and delivering treatment and care 

Y  

  b) clinical care and treatment are carried out under supervision and leadership Y  

  c) clinicians continuously update skills and techniques relevant to their clinical work Y  

  d) clinicians participate in regular clinical audit and reviews of clinical services Y * 

C6: Healthcare organisations: cooperate with each other and social care organisations to ensure that patients’ individual needs are properly managed and met Y  

Governance 
    

C7: Healthcare organisations: a) apply the principles of sound clinical and corporate governance Y  

  
b) actively support all employees to promote openness, honesty, probity, accountability, and the economic, efficient and effective use 
of resources 

Y  

  c) undertake systematic risk assessment and risk management (including compliance with the controls assurance standards) Y  

to be assessed outside declaration 
process 

d) ensure financial management achieves economy, effectiveness, efficiency, probity and accountability in the use of resources Not 
assessed 

 

  e) challenge discrimination, promote equality and respect human rights Y  

to be assessed outside declaration 
process 

f) meet the existing performance requirements (list of targets) Not 
assessed 

 

C8: Healthcare organisations support 
their staff through: 

a) having access to processes which permit them to raise, in confidence and without prejudicing their position, concerns over any 
aspect of service delivery, treatment or management that they consider to have a detrimental effect on patient care or on the delivery 
of services 

Y  

  b) organisational and personal development programmes which recognise the contribution and value of staff, and address, where 
appropriate, under-representation of minority groups 

Y  

C9: Healthcare organisations: have a systematic and planned approach to the management of records to ensure that, from the moment a record is created until its 
ultimate disposal, the organisation maintains information so that it serves the purpose it was collected for and disposes of the 
information appropriately when no longer required 

N  

C10: Healthcare organisations: a) undertake all appropriate employment checks and ensure that all employed or contracted professionally qualified staff are 
registered with the appropriate bodies 

Y  

  b) require that all employed professionals abide by relevant published codes of professional practice Y  

C11: Healthcare organisations ensure 
that staff concerned with all aspects of 
the provision of healthcare:  

a) are appropriately recruited, trained and qualified for the work they undertake Y  

  b) participate in mandatory training programmes  Y  

  
c) participate in further professional and occupational development commensurate with their work throughout their working lives Y  

The Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust – 2007/08 Declaration  
Healthcare Commission: Standards for Better Health 

P
a
g
e
 8

0



 

 

C12: Healthcare organisations: which either lead or participate in research have systems in place to ensure that the principles and requirements of the research 
governance framework are consistently applied 

Y  

Patient Focus Generic   

C13: Healthcare organisations have 
systems in place to ensure that: 

a) staff treat patients, their relatives and carers with dignity and respect Y  

  
b) appropriate consent is obtained when required, for all contacts with patients and for the use of any confidential patient information Y  

  c) staff treat patient information confidentially, except where authorised by legislation to the contrary Y  

C14: Healthcare organisations have 
systems in place to ensure that 
patients, their relatives and carers: 

a) have suitable and accessible information about, and clear access to, procedures to register formal complaints and feedback on the 
quality of services 

Y  

  b) are not discriminated against when complaints are made Y  

  
c) are assured that organisations act appropriately on any concerns and, where appropriate, make changes to ensure improvements 
in service delivery 

Y  

C15: Where food is provided healthcare 
organisations have systems in place to 
ensure that: 

a) patients are provided with a choice and that it is prepared safely and provides a balanced diet Y  

  b) patients’ individual nutritional, personal and clinical dietary requirements are met, including any necessary help with feeding and 
access to food 24 hours a day 

Y  

C16: Healthcare organisations: make information available to patients and the public on their services, provide patients with suitable and accessible information on 
the care and treatment they receive and, where appropriate, inform patients on what to expect during treatment, care and after care 

Y  

Accessible and responsive care     

C17: The views of patients, their carers and others are sought and taken into account in designing, planning, delivering and improving 
healthcare services 

Y  

C18: Healthcare organisations: enable all members of the population to access services equally and offer choice in access to services and treatment equitably Y  

C19: Healthcare organisations: to be 
assessed outside declaration process 

ensure that patients with emergency health needs are able to access care promptly and within nationally agreed timescales, and all 
patients are able to access services within national expectations on access to services 

Not 
assessed 

 

Care environment and amenities Generic   

C20: Healthcare services are provided 
in environments which promote 
effective care and optimise health 
outcomes by being: 

a) a safe and secure environment which protects patients, staff, visitors and their property, and the physical assets of the 
organisation  

Y  

  b) supportive of patient privacy and confidentiality Y  

C21: Healthcare services are provided 
in environments which promote 
effective care and optimise health 
outcomes by being: 

well designed and well maintained with cleanliness levels in clinical and non-clinical areas that meet the national specification for 
clean NHS premises 

Y * 

Public health     

C22: Healthcare organisations promote, 
protect and demonstrably improve the 
health of the community served, and 
narrow health inequalities by: 

a) cooperating with each other and with local authorities and other organisations Y  

  b) ensuring that the local Director of Public Health’s annual report informs their policies and practices Y  

  
c) making an appropriate and effective contribution to local partnership arrangements including local strategic partnerships and 
crime and disorder reduction partnerships 

Y  

C23: Healthcare organisations: have systematic and managed disease prevention and health promotion programmes which meet the requirements of the national 
service frameworks (NSFs) and national plans with particular regard to reducing obesity through action on nutrition and exercise, 
smoking, substance misuse and sexually transmitted infections 

Y  

C24: Healthcare organisations: protect the public by having a planned, prepared and, where possible, practiced response to incidents and emergency situations 
which could affect the provision of normal services 

Y  

 
 Note:  C7d, e and C19 are not assessed by the Healthcare Commission as part of the Declaration process 

P
a
g
e
 8

1



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Director of Adult Social Services 
 
Scrutiny Board:(Health) 
 
Date: 24 March 2009 
 
Subject: Inquiry into Hospital Discharges 
 

        
 
 
1  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  The Scrutiny Board (Health) meeting on the 20 January 2009 amended the terms of 

reference for this inquiry and resolved for the next meeting on the 24 March 2009 to 
have reports on the following matters: 

 
1. Clarification of the number of referrals for assessment from out of boundary 

hospitals. 
2. Confirmation of the discharge policy/ protocol review process and timing. 
3. Details of the total number of complaints received (across all agencies) relating to 

hospital discharge and associated support arrangements. 
4. Provide more detailed outline of actions to address hospital discharge issues 

identified in the Independence, Well-being and Choice inspection report. 
5. Provide copies of current discharge protocols (i.e. Leeds Hospitals and West 

Yorkshire hospitals). 
6. Provide copies of ‘patient information pack’ issued to patients on admission. 

 
These issues cover the functions of several statutory agencies and it has been agreed 
that two separate but complementary reports will be provided by the NHS agencies in 
Leeds and Leeds Adult Social Care 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator JOHN LENNON 
 
Tel: 24 78665 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 83



2  CLARIFICATION OF THE NUMBER OF REFERRALS FOR ASSESSMENT FROM 
OUT OF BOUNDARY HOSPITALS 

 
2.1  Scrutiny Board requested information on the number of out of area hospital referrals 

received.  For the period April - December 2008 there were 110 out of boundary 
referrals for assessment.  Most of these were referred by Harrogate Hospital, with a 
few from Dewsbury and a handful elsewhere.  To put the number of out of area 
hospital referrals leading to assessment in perspective, for the total number of referrals 
during the period April - December 2008 there were 7165 assessments – the full 
breakdown is described below. 

 
 Out of Leeds Hospital referrals: 

  
Bradford Hospitals 1 
Harrogate Hospital 89 
Pinderfields Hospital 1 
Dewsbury Hospital 19 
Total   110 

        
2.2 For in-Leeds secondary health sources there were 2,622 referrals leading to 

assessment in the same period. Of these 74 of were from hospices and 2,548 were 
from hospitals.  The main sources were: 

 
St James Hospital - Bexley Wing 778 
St James Hospital – Other 771 
LGI 531 
Hospital/Unit - Psychiatric 181 
Chapel Allerton Hospital 146 
St Mary's Hospital   57 
St Gemma’s Hospice   44 
Wharfedale Hospital   42 
Others (all 30 or less referrals)   72 
Total    2622 

 
2.3 Out of area hospital referrals leading to assessment in this period (110) thus represent 

around 4% of the total hospital referrals leading to assessment. 
 
3 CONFIRMATION OF THE DISCHARGE POLICY/ PROTOCOL REVIEW PROCESS 

AND TIMING 

3.1  The Leeds protocol is being reviewed with the input of managers from Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals Trust (LTHT), NHS Leeds and Leeds Adult Social Care Services (ASC) with 
contributions from Leeds Environment and Neighbourhoods and the partnership leads 
for Continuing Health Care – the first draft is now out for comment and amendment 
within these various organisations.  Editorial responsibility has been accepted by the 
main commissioner of Hospital care, NHS Leeds who have dedicated a member of 
their team to the task. 

3.2 The core group have agreed to look at neighbouring authorities procedures to help the 
development of this document and benchmark best practice issues.  The NHS lead 
officer will be involving the Older Persons Reference Group to gain input from their 
perspective to ensure a patients view of how these new procedures support their 
safeguarding and dignity requirements.  

 

Page 84



3.3  Although the current work is related to the inspection outcome it will be used to inform 
and "dovetail" with further work commissioned by NHS Leeds regarding hospital 
discharges generally.  A project initiation document (PID), to better describe the scope 
and detail of this work, is being prepared for consideration by the Planned and Urgent 
Care workstream of the Joint Strategic Commissioning Board, who have identified 
hospital discharges as one of their workstream priorities in this coming year.   NHS 
Leeds have also commissioned a piece of work as a study of activity around 
admissions and patient pathways, to improve the patient experience, reduce delays in 
discharge and avert hospital admissions.  This work is on target to be completed in 
March 2009. 

 
3.4  There is a similar but separate workstream relating to the revision of the protocol as it 

relates to Leeds residents placed in out of Leeds hospitals and this is due for 
completion in November 2009. 

 
4 DETAILS OF THE TOTAL NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED BY ADULT 

SOCIAL CARE RELATING TO HOSPITAL DISCHARGE AND ASSOCIATED 
SUPPORT ARRANGEMENTS 

 
4.1 From 1st April 2008 to 31 December 2008 Adult Social Care have received five 

complaints relating to hospital discharges. 
 
4.2  In summary, one complaint relating to a delay in hospital discharge was upheld.  The 

patient had been in a Community Intermediate Care (CIC) bed for 5 weeks following 
hospitalisation after a stroke.  The patient had been assessed and equipment delivered 
to his home.  Despite wanting to return home, he could not, because the home care 
package could not be commissioned from one of our regular home care providers.  The 
budget holder as a contingency arrangement agreed to pay for a spot contract from 
another agency to provide the homecare. 

 
4.3 Four complaints related to care plans not started and/or incomplete care plans – three 

were upheld 
  

• One related to the fact that the Care Plan, at the time the patient was ready for 
discharge, had not been completed and had insufficient information regarding 
medication to be provided when they returned home. 

• One related to an incomplete Care Plan – the patient had been living in a nursing 
home for 7 months.  A failure to review the Care Plan following discharge led to 
their nursing home being unable to clearly identify what was now to be expected or 
care to be provided. 

• One related to an incomplete Care Plan – the patient argued the inadequacy of the 
original assessment conducted by hospital staff led to an incomplete Care Plan.  
The patient was re-assessed and the Care Plan revised accordingly.   

• One complaint related to having no Care Plan - a service user was discharged from 
hospital following an operation.  The Hospital and GP made a referral to Adult 
Social Care for support but that having returned home no support was offered.  This 
complaint was not upheld as Social Care Services assessment concluded the 
patients needs were not substantial and therefore, not eligible to receive services 
from Social Services.  The patient was signposted to alternative providers for 
support. 

 
5 PROVIDE MORE DETAILED OUTLINE OF ACTIONS TO ADDRESS HOSPITAL 

DISCHARGE ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN THE INDEPENDENCE, WELL-BEING AND 
CHOICE INSPECTION REPORT 

 
Page 85



5.1 There is a detailed action plan relating to the outcome of the Independence, Well-being 
and Choice Inspection and those specifically relating to the hospital discharges are 
listed below: 

 

• The Council and partners should strengthen hospital discharge procedures by 
focusing on the quality of peoples experiences. 

• The Council and its partners should strengthen its hospital discharge procedures by 
setting out clear reciprocal responsibilities with procedures in place to ensure 
compliance. 

• The Council and partners should strengthen hospital discharge procedures by 
agreeing a process for resolving and learning from concerns about the quality of 
multi-disciplinary work. 

 
5.2 The Council and partners should strengthen hospital discharge procedures by 

focusing on the quality of people’s experiences. 
 
5.2.1 In addition to the detailed description of this work provided in 3.1, these actions have 

been split – the first priority is to complete a signed protocol for within Leeds hospitals 
and that is on target to be completed by March 2009.  The second action is to have a 
protocol signed and agreed for the out of Leeds hospitals listed under 1.1 – that work is 
to commence in March 2009 for completion in November 2009. 

 
5.2.2 The remit of the existing Planned and Urgent Care Group (which has representatives 

from NHS Leeds, LTHT and Leeds ASC) has been extended to oversee the revision of 
the current protocol, procedures and practice relating to hospital discharges.  Regular 
monitoring reports will be prepared for the Planned and Urgent Care Group and 
submitted to the Joint Strategic Commissioning Board (JSCB).  The first of these 
reports are planned for the May 2009 Board meeting 

 
5.3   The Council and its partners should strengthen its hospital discharge 

procedures by setting out clear reciprocal responsibilities with procedures in 
place to ensure compliance 

 
5.3.1 There will be in place signed protocols between ASC and Health partners covering all 

hospital discharge procedures, continuing care issues and a disputes resolution 
process for all hospitals in and out of Leeds which have Leeds residents as patients. 
These protocols will more properly reflect the requirement to have dignity and 
safeguarding principles and values at the forefront of any arrangements that effect 
patient care and their hospital discharge arrangements. 

 
5.4.1 The Council and partners should strengthen hospital discharge procedures by 

agreeing a process for resolving and learning from concerns about the quality 
of multi-disciplinary work. 

 
5.4.2 Regular monitoring and reports will be prepared by the Planned and Urgent Care 

Group and submitted to the Joint Strategic Commissioning Board.  The first such report 
will be provided in May.  Agreement has been reached with our partners on the need to 
establish a baseline audit for complaints and capture the patients experience following 
discharge from hospital discharge.  Data and information will be drawn from: 

 

• Adult Social Care reviews of service users following hospital discharge.  

• Complaints received from NHS Leeds and Leeds Adult Social Care arising from 
hospital discharge.  

• User experience surveys conducted by NHS Leeds. 

Page 86



 
5.4.3 This action commenced in January 2009 and is due for completion in April 2009.  

Some data concerning the patient experience of hospital discharge has already been 
collected and these will be included in the reports to the Planned and Urgent Care 
Board in May 2009.  

  
6   PROVIDE COPIES OF CURRENT DISCHARGE PROTOCOLS (I.E. LEEDS 

HOSPITALS AND WEST YORKSHIRE HOSPITALS) 
 
6.1 A copy of the current Delayed Transfer of Care Protocol is provided as an attachment.  

Scrutiny are advised that this is the protocol we are seeking to amend with our 
partners, in the first instance for hospitals in Leeds and subsequently with the out of 
area hospitals described above -see appendix 1 

 
7  PROVIDE COPIES OF ‘PATIENT INFORMATION PACK’ ISSUED TO PATIENTS ON 

ADMISSION 
 
7.1  LTHT will provide any additional patient information provided above and beyond that 

which is already included in the current Joint Protocol which is attached as appendix 1.  
 
 
 
 

Page 87



Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
Page 1 of 13 

 
 
 

Joint report from NHS Leeds and Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust 
 

Leeds Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Health Services 
 

Briefing report into Hospital Discharges - March 2009 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 Discharge from hospital refers to people who no longer need to be cared for in a hospital 
 setting. The person either 
 

1. No longer has any ongoing care needs and can return home. 

2. Has an ongoing care need which can be met at home with additional support. 

3. Has an ongoing care need which may be more appropriately met in a different setting 

The aim of the hospital discharge process is to identify if a person has an ongoing care  
need which is likely to require additional support on discharge. The objective is then to  
ensure that the additional support is available when the person is medically fit for  
discharge and no longer requires inpatient services. Care needs are identified by a  
process which involves the person concerned and assessment by combination of  LTHT (Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals Trust), NHS Leeds and Leeds Adult Social Care staff.  Care needs can vary 
from arranging frozen meal delivery, provision of a home care package to permanent placement in 
a care home. 

 
Discharge Facilitators. 
 

       The Discharge Facilitators are a team of five nurses two employed by NHS Leeds and three 
employed by LTHT. The team works within LTHT to primarily provide advice, guidance, education 
and support to hospital staff and patient carers with regards to the discharge process. The team 
also acts as a point of liaison with staff from NHS Leeds and with Adult Social Care. The 
discharge facilitators also monitor record and disseminate the reasons for delayed discharges 
within LTHT and through the Multi Agency Operational Discharge Group (MAODG) resolve and 
learn from concerns raised regarding discharge of patients. 
 
Multi Agency Operational Discharge Group (MAODG) 
 
This is an operational group with representation from LTHT, NHS Leeds and Adult Social Care. 
This group meets weekly to discuss delayed discharges from hospital and also the difficulties that 
exist with individual discharges. The group also provides a forum to discuss and address issues 
arising with the discharge process, and to problem solve any reasons for delay in discharge and 
also to improve the quality of the patient experience.  The group is able to monitor and review the 
process and work in partnership with colleagues to facilitate safe and effective discharges.  
(Terms of Reference of MAODG at Appendix 1) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



  

 
Page 2 of 13 

 
 
2. SUMMARY OF THE DISCHARGE PROCESS FORM ADMISSION TO HOSPITAL AND 
    SUBSEQUENT DISCHARGE FROM HOSPITAL 
 
From 1st April 2008 until 31st Dec 2008 there were 162,489 adult inpatients discharged 
from LTHT.  
 

       In the 12 month period January to December 2008,  there were 10,798 referrals received by NHS 
Leeds discharge referral point (DRP) requesting an assessment from Local Authority Adult Social 
Care or NHS Leeds to facilitate a supported discharge. Not all of these referrals originate from 
LTHT some originate from neighbouring NHS Trusts. These referrals are called Section 2 (S2) 
and comply with the Community Care (Delayed Discharge Act) 2003 requiring hospitals to notify 
the community    when an assessment is required to facilitate a supported discharge. 
 
The process for discharging patients from hospital follows the LTHT discharge policy first 
published in November 2006 The LTHT discharge policy and Joint Protocol were developed 
collaboratively by LTHT, Local Authority Adult Social Care and NHS Leeds, and are currently 
under review.  

 
Discharge from hospital is not an isolated process and is specific to the individual concerned. The 
trigger for instigating additional assessment can come from a variety of sources (patient, family, 
friends, health professionals, local authority staff and voluntary agencies). The need for ongoing 
support can be identified at any time during the person’s hospital admission pathway. 
 

        Discharge Pathway for a person following an acute hospital admission 
        (see appendix 2) 
 

Ø On admission to a hospital ward, a nurse will complete a Contact Easy Care document. 

The aim of this document is provide a picture of the patient on admission. The document 

clarifies biographical details this also identifies existing care provision and gives the patient 

/ carer opportunity to identify any difficulties they may have been experiencing prior to 

admission. 

Ø The hospital nurse will complete a nursing specialist assessment identifying the patients 

existing care needs. 

Ø If appropriate referrals will be made to Allied Health Professionals such as Occupational 

Therapy, Physiotherapy and Speech and Language Therapy to assist with the patient’s 

rehabilitation and also to identify any ongoing care needs. 

Ø If the patient and /or the Multi Disciplinary Team identify care needs that will be ongoing 

once the patient no longer needs to remain in Hospital. A referral will be made to the Adult 

Social Care Team or NHS Leeds requesting an assessment of the patients care needs 

(S2). 

Ø The documentation for a referral to Adult Social Care Team or NHS Leeds comprises of a 

Contact Easy Care document, nursing specialist assessment and a Continuing Health Care 

Checklist. 

 

Page 90



  

 
Page 3 of 13 

 

Ø On receipt of the referral a social worker or joint care manager is allocated and will work 

with the patient, carer and MDT to identify specific ongoing care needs. 

Ø Once the patient no longer needs to remain in hospital and there is no more therapy or 

investigations required as an inpatient, the social worker or joint care manager will be 

informed. This is done by sending a Section 5 (S5) notification. This is a requirement within 

the Community Care (Delayed Discharge Act) 2003 whereby the hospital has to inform the 

local authority of a potential discharge date. 

Ø Once provision to meet the patients ongoing care needs are in place and it is safe for them 

to be discharged a discharge date will be planned. 

 
3. ASSESSMENT AND CARE MANAGEMENT 
 
Adults with eligible social care needs can receive assessment and on going care management 
from a number of services depending on their presenting needs. 
 
In summary these services are   
      
Initial Response Teams (community-based)     
Initial Response Teams (hospital-based)      
Area Care Management Teams        
Joint Care Management - Learning Disability Teams    
Joint Care Management - Older People Teams     
Disability Service Teams        
Mental Health Teams    
 
Each team has defined “entry” criteria which describes the circumstances in which they work with 
an individual (see appendix 3), and also “exit” criteria. 
 
 
4. COMPLAINTS RECEIVED IN RELATION TO PATIENT DISCHARGES 
  
Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust 
 
From 1st April 2008 until 31st Dec 2008 LTHT received a total of 1,001 complaints which were 
recorded by patient relations. Of these complaints 51 refer in some way to discharge. These can 
be further broken down as: 
 
Discharge Planning   14 
Communication / Information 13 
Transport    7 
Early Discharge   5 
Aftercare    5 
Medication on Discharge  4 
Discharge Delayed   2 
Time of Discharge   1 
 
 

Page 91



  

 
Page 4 of 13 

 
 

 
NHS Leeds 
 
NHS Leeds Investigated               1 
LTHT investigated                         3 
NHS Leeds/LTHT Joint  
Investigation                                  2 
 
Re-admissions of patients discharge to Intermediate Care /CIC beds 
May 2008                                      10 
June 2008    7 
July 2008    12 
August 2008    11 
September 208   10 
October 2008   9 
November 2008   12 
December 2008   11  
 
The number of complaints identified above may reflect patient perceptions of expected support 
and also breakdown in care provided by specific agencies. 
 
5. LEEDS UNPLANNED CARE - DISCHARGE REVIEW 
 
Significant progress has been mad on reducing delayed transfers of care and improving the 
overall quality of the discharge process and patient/carer experience. 
 
However it is acknowledged that more work on ensuring quality discharge for patients 
and streamlining the process would provide further improvements. 
 
A Discharge Review has been proposed with the major deliverables. 

• Agreement to work collaboratively across the health and social care interface 

• Production of a discharge action plan - including process mapping/full system 

• Satisfying the requirements of the CSCI report 
 
It is proposed that recommendation from the review will be implemented by September 2009. 
 
 
 
Andrea North                                             Judith Lund 
Head of Intermediate Tier                         Directorate Manager 
NHS Leeds                                                 Speciality Medicine  
         Leeds Teaching Hospitals 
 
 
January 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



  

 
Page 5 of 13 

 
Appendix 1 
 

THE LEEDS TEACHING HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 
  

Multi Agency Operational Discharge Group 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The Multi Agency Operational Discharge Group (MAODG) will provide a forum for multi agency members 
to meet, identify and resolve operational issues regarding patient discharge. 
 
Membership 
 
Membership will be from the following agencies 
 

• Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust ( LTHT ) 

• Leeds Adult Social Care 

• Leeds PCT 
 

Membership is not limited and other departments can, or may be invited to, attend as required 
 
Chair 
 
Directorate Manager  - LTHT  
 
Deputy Chair 
 
Service Manager  - Leeds PCT 
Service Delivery Manager -  Leeds Adult Social care 
 
SECRETARIAT 
 
The Chair will coordinate & circulate papers including note taking and transcribing  
 
REPORTING & ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
The Multi Agency Discharge Operational Group is an operational group to identify and resolve issues. Any 
items requiring corporate /strategic decision making will be taken by the appropriate group member and / or 
the Chair of the group to the relevant senior manager of the appropriate agency. 
 
FREQUENCY & COMMUNICATIONS 
 

o The MAODG will meet weekly 
  
o Minutes will be circulated to group members for action/information 
 
o Members of the MAODG have responsibility for communicating discussions, actions and decisions 

to their relevant staff group or forum as per individual Agency communication structures 
 
KEY OBJECTIVES 
 
To address cross cutting issues and initiatives to ensure consistency of approach and maximize capacity 
through shared working. 
 

Page 93



  

 
Page 6 of 13 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Ø To advise group members on potential or actual patient discharge operational issues.  
 
Ø To reduce the numbers and length of stay of delayed transfers of care in the Leeds healthcare system. 
 
Ø To consider the Escalation process for specific patients as appropriate. 
 
Ø Record, monitor and interrogate statistical information regarding delayed transfers of care. 
 
Ø To ensure there are robust communications of operational cross cutting issues and decisions between 

agencies regarding delayed discharge. 
 
Ø To identify and discuss issues impacting on the operational delivery of services agreeing solutions, 

appropriate escalation and review of effectiveness. 
 
Ø To receive updates on initiatives/projects relevant to the MAODG 
 
Ø To provide a forum to discuss and influence the development of future relevant policies, procedures 

and processes 
 
Ø To ensure operational systems and processes are developed to support efficient and effective service 

delivery  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



  

 
Page 7 of 13 

Appendix 2 

Discharge Pathway for Leeds residents 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Ward Nurse completes Easy Care Contact Assessment and Nursing 

Specialist Assessment 

Need for ongoing support on Discharge Identified 

Patient Admitted to ward via A&E 

Referral sent to Discharge referral 

point.(DRP) or * CCC 

Referral Documentation includes: 
- Easy Care contact assessment 
- Cont Health Care checklist 

- Nurse Specialist assessment 

DRP 
Check Documents are fully completed and 

up to date 

Referral passed to appropriate key 

worker: 
** JCM, HSW, CSW, MHW, ICT, DN, 

Comm Matron 

Care Manager will assess patient and collate 

info from MDT 

Patient requires supported Discharge 

During Hospital stay 

The need for ongoing 

support is 

Identified 

 

Discharged when safe 

and medically fit 

Ward Staff asked to 

resend completed 

information 

No 

Care Plan Written and approved 

Support for discharge available 

Yes 

Yes 

No 

May become a delayed discharge Discharge when safe and medically fit 

Yes 

No Yes 

No 

No 

** Key Worker:  JCM - Joint Care Manager               HSW Hospital Social - Worker       CSW - Community Social Worker 

                         MHW - Mental Health Worker           DN - District Nurse                         ICT - Intermediate Care Team  

                         Comm Matron - Community Matron     

* Care Communication Centre if Leeds Resident is being discharge from out of Leeds Hospital. 

eg: Harrogate 

 Page 95



  

 
Page 8 of 13 

 
 
 
Appendix 3  Extracted from document agreed 11/2006 

(Updated 14/01/20090 
 
 
 

LEEDS SOCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
ADULT ASSESSMENT AND CARE MANAGEMENT SERVICE 

 
ENTRY CRITERIA  
 

1.   Initial Response Teams (community-based) 
• Introduction 

Initial Response Teams (community-based) provide a screening and assessment service, 
sign posting to and/or commissioning services as appropriate. 

 

• Entry criteria 
 

The Initial Response Teams (community-based) provide services to people: 
 

1. Aged 18 and over.  
 
2. For whom the Local Authority has a duty to provide an assessment as they appear to be in 

need of Community Care services.   
 

3. Whose current case episode is not active to another worker in the city, i.e. they are new to 
the Department or passive. 

 
1. The ‘within 3 month review’ identifies that the service user no longer requires support from 

the Department or is no longer eligible.  The case will be closed and involvement with the 
Initial Response Team will cease (see point 1 above). 

 
2. The person referred does not appear to be in need of community care services.  No formal 

assessment of need will be undertaken, information or advice, including signposting to 
others services may be offered.  Exceptions to this include the provision of statutory 
responses under the National Assistance Act (Section 50 Burials, Section 48 Protection of 
Property, etc). 

 
 

2. Initial Response Teams (hospital-based) 
• Introduction  

Initial Response Teams (hospital-based) provide a screening and assessment service, sign 
posting to and/or commissioning services as appropriate.    
 
Hospital Social Workers will:- 

1. Work jointly with workers from other services to assess and provide for people’s needs e.g. 
JCM Learning Disability or Head Injury Teams. 

2. Liaise with workers from other Local Authorities concerning patients in hospital from 
Authorities outside Leeds. 

3. Review (reassess) needs on those people already living in residential care.  

Page 96



  

 
Page 9 of 13 

 
Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust directly funds some Social Workers to provide a service to 
specific ‘specialist’ units in LTHT e.g. Liver Unit, Renal Unit, Haematology Unit.  Social 
workers will provide ‘specialist’ assessments as required by the Units for people from 
Leeds and other Local Authority areas addressing psychosocial issues and decision 
making regarding treatment/transplantation.  They will also signpost, offer advice, carry out 
any level of assessment, commission services, and review their needs under the FACS 
criteria where appropriate.  Social Workers will provide assessment and care management 
until the overall package is stable and active care management is no longer required or 
where there are no further tasks for the service to undertake.  Access to these services is 
via the relevant Consultants.  
 

• Entry Criteria for people not receiving a service from specialist units in LTHT 
 

The Initial Response Team (hospital-based) provides services to people: 
 

1. Aged 18 and over. 
 
2. For whom the Local Authority has a duty to provide an assessment as they appear to be in 

need of Community Care services. 
 

3. Whose current case episode is not active to another worker in the city, i.e. they are new to 
the Department or passive. 

 
4. Who are patients of the LTHT on the following sites: - Leeds General Infirmary, St James’ 

Hospital, Chapel Allerton Hospital and Cookridge. 
 

For people who are aged 65 years and over, in addition to the above, they must also have 
needs that can be met through a less-intensive package of care or transfer from one type of 
care home to another.    
 

 

3. Area Care Management Teams 
• Introduction  

Area Care Management Teams provide on-going monitoring and reviewing of Care Plans 
for people in receipt of services from the Department who do not require a specialist team 
to provide this.   They will undertake assessment where the need for longer-term care 
management has been identified through the IRT screening processes. 

 

• Entry criteria 
 

The Area Care Management Teams provide services to people: 
  
1. Aged 18 and over.     
 
2. Where an Initial Response Team has determined the service user is eligible for services.  

 
3. Where a care plan is in place and the active input of a care manager to support its 

implementation is required.   

Page 97



  

 
Page 10 of 13 

4. Joint Care Management - Learning Disabilities Teams 
 

• Introduction  
The Joint Care Management – Learning Disabilities Teams are specialist teams who 
provide assessment and care management services.  Service users who meet the entry 
criteria will be considered for either allocation or joint working.   
 
The Teams can provide support to an adult worker holding the case where this is 
appropriate, rather than taking the case.  Team members will be available to offer advice to 
workers involved with service users with any level of need associated with a learning 
disability through the ‘specialist learning disability advice line’ which operates on 0113 247 
8880.  Lines are open:  

Monday -Thursday  9.00am to 12.00 and 2.00pm to 5.00pm 
Friday    9.00am to 12.00 and 2.00pm – 4.30pm 

Involvement in an advisory capacity to workers in Children’s Teams supporting young 
people in transition will be offered where appropriate. 
 
NB A learning disability is: 
 
"A significantly reduced ability to understand new or complex information  
or to learn new skills (impaired intelligence), with a reduced ability to  
cope independently (impaired social functioning), which started before  
adulthood, with a lasting effect on development" (from the National Framework for NHS 
Continuing Healthcare, 2006).  This may have its onset before birth or during infancy and is 
associated with an IQ of 70 or below. 

 

• Entry criteria 
The Joint Care Management - Learning Disabilities Teams provide services to people who 
meet all of the following criteria: 

 
1. Aged 18 and over.     
 
2. Where an Initial Response Team has determined the service user is eligible for services.  
 
3. Whose primary presenting need is associated with their Learning Disability?  
 
4. With complex needs which require a Specialist Multi–Disciplinary Team Assessment* or 

Comprehensive Assessment (as defined under SAP). 
 

*A Specialist Multi-Disciplinary Team in the learning disability (LD) context is one that 
includes more than one LD professional. 
 
 

5. Joint Care Management (Older People Teams and Continuing  
Health Care) (OP and CHC) 

• Introduction  
Joint Care Management – Older People Teams are specialist teams who provide 
assessment and care management services and work primarily with older people who have 
intermediate care or continuing health care needs. 

 
 

• Entry Criteria 

Page 98



  

 
Page 11 of 13 

 
The Joint Care Management – (OP and CHC) provides services to people: 

 
1. Aged 65 and over. 

Adults aged 18-65 years who are eligible/likely to be eligible for CHC funding. 
 
2. Resident within Leeds City Council boundaries.  

 
3. Registered with a Leeds General Practitioner but living outside the Leeds City Council 

boundaries where the person is eligible/likely to be eligible for CHC funding. 
 

And where one or more of the following are met:- 
 

1. Health needs which meet the ‘critical’ level of FACS eligibility and/or are of such complexity 
they are likely to meet Continuing Health Care criteria. 

 
2. A community based healthcare professional identifies a patient who is at immediate risk of 

admission to hospital. 
 
3. A patient requiring discharge from hospital where a specialist assessment is required and 

either interagency coordination of an intensive care package or an admission to a care 
home for the first time or chronic disease management is required. 

 
4. There is a requirement to co-ordinate an on-going multi-disciplinary/inter-agency 

assessment to either facilitate an early discharge from hospital or avoid a long-term 
placement by ensuring all avenues have been explored. 

 
5. Have an identified need for a Community Intermediate Care bed. 

 
 

6. Disability Service Teams 
• Introduction 

The Disability Service Teams are specialist teams who provide assessment and care 
management services, signposting to and/or commissioning services as appropriate for 
disabled people.   
 
Disability Service Teams have a range of specialist staff within them and do not operate as 
a multi-disciplinary team in relation to service users they work with. Therefore entry and exit 
criteria are related to each area of the service in order to best reflect the specific services 
available to people with differing needs and circumstances. 
 

• Entry criteria  
 

The Disability Service Teams provide services to people: 
 

1. Aged 18 years and over. 
 

2. Where an Initial Response Team has determined the service user is eligible for services.  
 

And where one or more of the following are met:-  
 
For Specialist Social Work – Physical Impairment  

  

Page 99



  

 
Page 12 of 13 

1. The service user is newly diagnosed with a neurological long-term condition.  
 

2. The service user is at a transitional life stage and requires specialist and detailed planning.  
 

3. The service user is experiencing a stepped change in their level of impairment. 
 

Note: Specialist Social Workers can provide support to adult workers holding the case, 
where this is appropriate, rather than taking the case. 

 
For Rehabilitation Officers Visual Impairment 
 

1. The service user requires mobility/orientation assessment and training e.g. long cane. 
 

2. The service user needs to learn adapted communication skills, including Braille, Moon or 
ICT. 

 
3. The service user requires to develop and/or maintain personal and/or domestic skills 

related to sight loss. 
 

4. The service user has experienced sudden sight loss. 
 

5. The service user also has a significant hearing loss. 
 
      6. The SSD has received a CVI/BD8 for the service user. 
 

For Occupational Therapy 
 
1. The service user is experiencing environmental barriers which cannot/no longer be 

overcome by simple equipment and/or minor adaptations. 
 

2. Risk assessment has identified moving and handling issues that cannot be resolved by the 
locality manager/unit manager/service provider. 

 
3. The service user needs Occupational Therapy assessment and intervention to 

develop/maintain independent living skills. 
 

4. The carer requires Occupational Therapy intervention to prevent breakdown of the care 
package. 

 
5. A SSD building used by disabled person/people has barriers which prevents inclusion. 
 
6. A new building/service for disabled people is being planned by or in partnership with SSD. 
 
 
 
 

7. Mental Health Teams  
 

• Introduction 
The Mental Health Unit is the section of Social Services Department that covers social work 
staff working in a variety of adult mental health settings.  Many of these services are 
provided and managed by LMHT (see ‘secondary services’ below). 
 

Page 100



  

 
Page 13 of 13 

Primary mental health services 

• Approved Social Work service 
 
Access to this service is via a request from a professional for an assessment under the 
Mental Health Act and subsequent screening undertaken by the Mental Health Unit who 
can be contacted on 0113 295 4440, lines are open: 

Monday – Thursday  8.30am to 5.00pm 
Friday    8.30am to 4.30pm 

 
 

Secondary mental health services 
If a secondary mental health service may be useful to a service user, this should be 
discussed with their GP in the first instance who can access these services directly.  All of 
the following are secondary mental health services provided by LMHT.  Each service has 
specific entry and exit criteria, which are taken into account during the screening process 
for the service.   
  

• Acute General Mental Health Services for people aged over 65 (CMHT) 
 

• Acute General Mental Health Services for people aged 18 – 65 (CMHT) 
 

CMHT Acute services are accessed via referral through from the person’s GP and are 
made to the CMHT in that geographic area. 

 

• Specialist Mental Health Services including 
 

o Community Rehab – Long-term support for people with serious and enduring mental health 
problems.* 

o Assertive Outreach Team – Intensive support to ‘hard to reach’ people.* 
o Continuing Treatment and Recovery Service – In-patient rehabilitation service for people 

with severe and enduring mental health problems.* 
o Early Onset Dementia – Psychiatric assessment consultancy & treatment service 
o Forensic Service – Citywide service for people needing secure care or referred via the 

Courts. 
o Special Care Services – Short-term intensive care for people too disturbed for normal 

wards. 
o Liaison Psychiatry – Psychiatric assessment and follow-up service for people at LGI or St 

James’s 
o Self-harm Service – Psychiatric assessment and follow-up service for people who self-harm 

and present at A & E at LGI & St James’s. 
 

• These services only accept referrals for people already known to secondary mental health 
services. 

 

Page 101



Page 102

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
 
Reviewed and Updated Version March 2008 for the Multi-Agency Discharge 
Steering Group  

 
Joint Protocol for the Transfer of 
Care under the Community Care 
(Delayed Discharge) Act 2003 

 
An Agreement between: 

 
Leeds City Council 

• Social Services 

• Housing Services  
 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 
 

Leeds Primary Care Trust 
 

Harrogate and District NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
Mid Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

 

Page 103



 2 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This protocol is intended to eliminate all delays in the transfer of care of  

acute patients:  
 

• It sets out the principles of reimbursement and the health economy   
agreement on the expenditure for purposes of joint investment.  

 

• It ensures that people are cared for in the most appropriate 
environment.  

 

• It recognises that a whole system agreement is necessary to eliminate 
delayed transfers of care.  

 
1.2 Whilst the major focus is upon acute beds the protocol also supports 

the 4 hour A&E standard and ensures best use of overall bed capacity, 
which in turn supports a well organised admission and discharge 
process. 
  

1.3 This protocol recognises that systems and processes may be slightly 
different for out of Leeds hospitals, however the principles remain the 
same. 

 
2. Principles 
 
The protocol is based on the following principles: 
 

• That joint working and the sharing of responsibility across agencies is 
key to eliminating delayed transfers of care. 

 

• All health and social care organisations are committed to a whole 
systems approach, whereby responsibility for effective patient care and 
the discharge process is a shared responsibility across organisational 
boundaries.   

 

• Planning patients’ transfer/discharge should commence on or before 
the day of admission to hospital. 

 

• The transfer of care process will focus on the persons needs and both 
they and their carers should be involved and kept informed of what is 
happening at all times.  

 

• The management (including assessment) of a person’s health and 
social care needs should be a single process. Duplication of effort is 
time consuming for professionals and frustrating for patients. 

 

• That people will receive the right type of care in the right place at the 
right time.  

 

• A commitment to the development of community resources to avoid 
inappropriate hospital admissions and to prevent A&E being used as 
the main gateway to health and social care services. 

 

Page 104



 3 

• Optimum use of bed capacity resources  
 

• Acute hospital beds are for people with acute medical care needs. 
People who do not have acute medical care needs should not be 
admitted to acute beds and those who have acute medical care needs 
on admission should be transferred as soon as they are medically fit 
and safe for discharge. 

 

• On transfer from acute care the first consideration should be for the 
patient to return home, safely and with the appropriate support. If 
necessary a transitional/interim placement will be offered whilst 
appropriate support or adaptations are put in place. 

 

• Only in exceptional circumstances should patients transfer directly to 
long term residential or nursing home care.  In the majority of cases the 
community care assessment should be completed in a non acute 
environment.  

 

• Reimbursement is a catalyst for change not an excuse for more 
bureaucracy. 

 
3. Definitions 
 
 Whilst the principles apply to all patients the legislation only applies to 

patients in receipt of acute care.   Acute care is:  
 
 “Intensive medical treatment provided by or under the supervision 

of a consultant which is for a limited time after which the patient 
no longer benefits from that treatment”.  

 
 Reimbursement may apply to all delayed acute adult patients who 

qualify for services under the NHS and Community Care Act 1990 – 
irrespective of their age. 

 
4. For the purposes of this protocol acute care does not include any 

of the following: 
 

•   Care in respect of which the patient has given an undertaking to pay (or 
for whom such an undertaking has been given)  

 

•   Maternity care, that is care of expectant and nursing mothers 
 

•   Mental health care (defined as psychiatric services or other services 
provided to a patient for the purposes of the prevention, diagnosis or 
treatment of illness where the person primarily responsible for 
arranging those services is a consultant psychiatrist). 

 

•   Palliative care 
 

•   Intermediate care (a structured programme of care provided for a 
limited period of time to assist a person to maintain or regain the ability 
to live in his home) 

 

• Care provided for the purposes of recuperation or rehabilitation. 

Page 105



 4 

 
4.1 Patients whose primary reason for admission to hospital is an acute 

physical condition but where there is a secondary condition relating to 
mental health or learning disability are included in the reimbursement 
category. 

 
4.2 Patients receiving non acute care or rehabilitation within an NHS 

hospital and those waiting to transfer from acute care to Intermediate 
Care services will not be counted for purposes of reimbursement. 

 
4.3 Non acute care will be determined by the individual patient’s needs. 
 
4.4 However, the principles of the discharge process will apply to non-

acute care equally and the joint assessment process will address all 
delays. 

 
5. Liability under the Community Care (Delayed Discharges) Act 
 
5.1 Adult Social Care Authorities will be deemed liable to make delayed 

discharge payments where they have the sole responsibility for the 
delay in discharge of acute patients in the following circumstances:  

 
 See Appendix 1 for list of codes and definitions  
 

• Where notice of a patient’s case under Section 2 of the Act and notice 
of proposed discharge under Section 5 (3) have both been given and 
are in force. 

 

• The Adult Social Care Authority has not carried out an assessment of a 
patient’s needs with a view to identifying any community care services 
that need to be made available in order for it to be safe for the patient 
to be discharged. 

 

• The Adult Social Care Authority has not made available for the patient 
a community care service which it decided under Section 4 (2) (b) to 
make available to him 

 

• The Adult Social Care Authority has not carried out an assessment of 
needs of any carer identifying services which: 

 
a) May be provided under Section 2 of the Carers Disabled Children 

Act 2000 and  
 

b) Needs to be made available to the carer in order for it to be safe to 
discharge the patient 

 

• The Adult Social Care Authority has not made available services which 
may include: 

  

• Equipment and Adaptations 
 
  Where social care equipment is awaited from the Leeds Equipment 

Service or adaptations to a patient’s home are required before the 
person can return home.  

Page 106



 5 

 
5.2    Housing/Homelessness 
   
 Vulnerable people of no fixed abode, asylum seekers (where the local   

authority has duties under the Human Rights Act, National Assistance 
Act, and NHS Community Care Act) are the responsibility of the local 
authority from which the patient was admitted and the appropriate Adult 
Social Care Department will be held accountable for any delays in the 
assessment or provision of service.  

 
 Leeds City Council, Neighbourhoods and Housing will provide a 

specialist assessment service and will provide advice and support to 
health and social work professionals involved in the discharge process, 
where it has been identified that the patient is unable to be discharged 
to their current home, or where discharge to their current home would 
prove detrimental to their heath.  Primarily this will be achieved through 
referral via EasyCare to the Medical Rehousing Team (see Appendix 
8). In the interim discharge processes and, if necessary, the Escalation 
Policy will apply. 

 
If a patient is waiting for accommodation only, rather than for 
adaptations to existing accommodation or other community care 
services to be arranged or provided by the local authority, then 
reimbursement will not apply, as housing is not a community care 
service. 

 
5.3   Self Funders 
 

Where an assessment and/or arrangement to place or provide 
community services is undertaken by Adult Social Care this means that 
Adult Social Care are liable, under reimbursement, even though the  
person may fully fund their own care. 
 
Self funding patients and their families/carers refusing to participate in 
finding discharge placements into permanent/interim/transitional care 
will be subject to the implementation of the Escalation Policy (see 
below and Appendix 2). 
 

5.4 Community Intermediate Care Beds/Community Unit - Seacroft V Ward 
 

Assessment for Community Intermediate Care (CIC) tier beds will be 
determined by Leeds PCT.  Patients assessed as suitable for a 
Community Intermediate Care Beds will be offered a placement from a 
city wide bed base.  Patients cannot refuse a CIC bed based on the 
geography of the placement.  Every effort will be made to ensure 
placement close to the patient’s home, however, remaining in an acute 
hospital bed is not an option and a vacancy in a CIC bed in other areas 
of the city will be pursued.     

 
Patient’s refusing discharge to a CIC bed will be subject to the 
Escalation Policy (Appendix 2).  Patients awaiting access to 
Community Intermediate Care Beds/services are not currently liable for 
reimbursement. 

 

Page 107



 6 

5.5  Choice 
 
 Remaining in an acute hospital bed is not an option.  Adult Social Care 

are liable, under reimbursement, for patients who remain in an acute 
bed whilst waiting for a care home of their choice. In these 
circumstances the patient will be moved to an interim placement.  If 
they refuse to move from the ward then the Escalation Policy will 
apply (see appendices for Choice, Escalation Policy and patient 
information details).  

 
5.6   There will be no liability for delayed discharge payments from Adult        

Social Care in the following circumstances: 
 
Where a patient does not agree to be referred to Social Services and 
they plan to make their own care arrangements on discharge. If 
discharge is not achieved in a timely manner, and within the prescribed 
timescales the Escalation Policy will be instigated, see appendices for 
details.  

 

• When the discharge assessment process is awaiting the contribution of 
a health care professional/clinician (e.g. consultant psychiatrist). 
However, it is expected that all contributions to the assessment will be 
completed and available in a timely manner.  Should there be an 
unreasonable delay in the process the issue will be immediately 
brought to the attention of the Lead Director. 

 

• The non availability or delay in accessing non acute health services; 
primary health care services, palliative care services or intermediate 
tier services. Any unreasonable delay in accessing services will be 
brought to the attention of the Lead Director. 

 

• Where there is a disagreement within the multi-disciplinary team that a 
patient is either not fit or safe to discharge. These patients will transfer 
into the Medically Unwell (M1) category and the Section 5 will be held 
in abeyance until the patient is well.  

 

• Where Adult Social Care has arranged and funded an alternative 
placement or community care service but the patient or their relative 
refuses to allow them to leave an acute hospital bed. In this instance 
the Escalation Policy will be activated.  

 

• Where the patient is eligible for Continuing Health Care funding and 
services. 

 

• Where notices under Section 2 and Section 5 (3) of the Act have not 
been properly served and / or are not still in force pursuant to 
regulation 4 and 5 of the Delayed Discharge (England) Regulations 
2003. 

 

• Where circumstances set out in Regulation 9 apply. In these instances 
the decision on reimbursement will be dependent upon the decision of 
the Appeals Panel. (See 20.2). 

 

Page 108



 7 

5.7 Liability for delayed discharge payments commences the day after the 
relevant day as referred to in Section 5 (6) of the Act and Regulation 8 
(1) of the Delayed Discharge (England) Regulations 2003 

 
5.8 Notice under Section 2 and Section 5 (3) shall be deemed to have 

been served pursuant to Regulation 10 of the Delayed Discharge 
(England) regulations 2003 

 
5.9 The period of reimbursement will end on the day that the Local 

Authority has completed the assessment and/or made available the 
resources to meet assessed needs or if, according to the MDT, the 
patient is no longer fit for transfer. Patients discharged before 11am will 
be treated as though discharged the preceding day.  

 
5.9.1 Once reimbursement has been triggered every day a patient is delayed   

in acute care is counted. 
 
6. Information Sharing 
 
6.1 The pan-Leeds information sharing policy will apply to all aspects of 

this protocol. This is based on the premise that information on a person 
can only be shared if they give their informed consent.  

 
7. Multi Disciplinary Assessment 
 
7.1 A patient is ready for transfer when: 
 

• A clinical decision has been made that the patient is ready for 
transfer AND 

 

• A multi-disciplinary team decision has been made that the patient is 
ready for transfer AND 

 

• The patient is safe to discharge/transfer 
 
7.2   A multi-disciplinary team in this context includes nursing and other 

health and social care professionals, who are caring for a patient in an 
acute setting.  

 
 7.3 An MDT assessment requires a minimum of three members; a clinician 

a therapist and a Hospital/Community Social Worker/Joint Care 
Manager. 

 
7.4 See appendix 4 for flowchart with triggers for S2 and S5 

documentation. 
 
 
 
8. NHS Continuing Care 

 
On 1st Oct 2007 a new National policy came into effect called the National 
framework for NHS continuing healthcare and NHS – funded nursing care. 
This introduces three new national tools to aid decision making.  
 

Page 109



 8 

8.1 It is important that the NHS can demonstrate that it has been 
considered            
whether a patient may be eligible for NHS Continuing Health Care 
(CHC)funding prior to an  assessment notification being issued? 

 
8.2 To fulfil this need a NHS Continuing Healthcare Needs Checklist 

should be completed by any member of the professional Multi 
Disciplinary Team. This will indicate whether there is a need for full 
eligibility consideration by the PCT. The outcome of this screening 
process should be notified to the patient and documented in the 
patients’ records. 

 
8.3  Where full assessment is indicated the Checklist should be sent to the  

Discharge Referral Point (DRP) along with the; 

• SAP Contact Assessment, 

• Specialist Nursing Assessment,  

• Fax Cover Sheet  

• S2 notification.  
The case will then be allocated to the appropriate care manager and 
Continuing Care Team. A care manager can be a Joint Care Manager, 
a Hospital Social worker or a Community Social Worker. 

 
8.4 Where a full assessment is not indicated MDT members, including ward 

staff, should be aware   that if a patient’s health condition deteriorates 
prior to discharge the above Checklist process should be repeated and 
the original Section 2 withdrawn. 

 
8.5 The Care Manager will then facilitate the completion of the national 

Decision Support Tool taking account of all the MDT assessment 
information, including all relevant clinical information provided by ward 
staff, as evidence to inform the recommendations.  

 
8.6 Where indicated the Decision Support Tool recommendation will be     

presented to the next City wide CHC Panel to determine a patient’s 
eligibility for CHC funding.  

 
8.7  Where a patient has a rapidly deteriorating condition, which may be     
         entering a terminal phase, an urgent referral for care planning should be     
         made. This will require the completion of a Fast Track Tool by an   
         authorised clinician.     
 
8.8  The discharge planning process, including any choice directive or 

escalation issues, should proceed as normal whilst CHC eligibility is 
determined.  

 
8.9 At any point in the process the patient or their representative can appeal   

the decision and ask for a review. The CHC team will offer advice and 
support in this circumstance. 

 
The National Framework document and decision support tools are available 
on Leeds Health Pathways, or they can be found at: 
 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Policyandguidance/SocialCare/Socialcarereform/Con
tinuingcare/index.htm  

Page 110



 9 

 
9. Transfer / Discharge Assessments 
 
9.1   The SAP Contact Assessment, along with the Specialist Nursing 

Assessment, is used to share information about the patient and their 
needs on transfer/discharge. The assessment will then continue in the 
most appropriate setting which may be the person’s own home, an 
interim care arrangement or an intermediate care service.  

 
9.2 The transfer/ discharge assessment should include carers needs but as 

these will relate specifically to the patients discharge, a more detailed 
assessment may be required as part of the ongoing assessment 
process. 

 
10. Medical Transfer of Care 
 
10.1 Patients considered by the Multi Disciplinary Team to be ready and 

safe to transfer will do so subject to a continuity of medical care. This 
will follow the current practice i.e. :- 

 

• If a patient is relocated, but remains within their practice area, they will 
be retained on their own GP’s list. 

 

• If a patient is relocated, outside of their practice area, they will be a 
temporary resident and included on the list of a G.P. in the host area. 

 

• If a patient is relocated for longer than 3 months then they should 
transfer to a G.P. in the new area 

 
10.2 Communication relating to the continuity of medical care will follow the    

existing practice and procedures. 
 
10.3 The G.P. practice responsible for a patient’s care would normally be 

identified to the hospital by the patient / relative / carer. In the event of 
there being a difficulty the acute hospital should contact the West 
Yorkshire Central Services Agency (WYCSA) Tel 0113 295 2500, who 
would have the responsibility to arrange GP cover in order to ensure a 
safe discharge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
11. Process Unplanned Admissions: 
 
11.1 Discharge planning begins on a patient’s admission to hospital.  
 
11.2 On admission the Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse on the ward will complete 

the admission details using Single Assessment Process (SAP) 
documentation (or the local alternative for out of Leeds hospitals) and 
begin to identify any potential need for services on transfer/discharge. 

 

Page 111



 10 

11.3 The patient’s admission details will, with their consent, be forwarded to 
the relevant PCT Discharge Referral Point (DRP) and/the Adult Social 
Care Communication Centre (CCC), based at the Seacroft site.  

 
11.4 The Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse will discuss the discharge process 

including the possibilities of transitional care with the patient and their 
carer and this will be reinforced through the provision of the LTHT 
Transfer/Discharge letter and other relevant information regarding the 
assessment, care planning and transfer/discharge process.  

 
11.5 The patient and carer will be advised of the likely discharge/transfer 

date and timescales for completing the discharge process. 
 
11.6 Where a patient is identified as likely to need support on 

transfer/discharge the Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse will submit a Section 2 
notification to the relevant PCT Discharge Referral Point and Care 
Communication Centre as soon as possible after admission. This will 
require a transfer/discharge assessment, identifying needs and 
services to facilitate a safe transfer/discharge. Adult Social Care have a 
minimum period of three days to carry out an assessment and arrange 
services.  

 
11.7 As a matter of good practice the assessment will be completed within 

48 hours of notification and services arranged where appropriate. The 
outcome will be communicated to the patient and reiterated by the 
Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse.  

 
11.8 Following confirmation by the multi-disciplinary team, that the patient is 

fit and safe for transfer/discharge, the Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse will 
submit a Section 5 notification to the relevant PCT Discharge Referral 
Point and/or Care Communication Centre giving notice of the proposed 
discharge date. The Senior Nurse/Lead Nurse will inform the patient 
and carer of this date.  

 
11.9 The Section 5 notification will give a minimum period of 24 hours for 

services to be made available. For reimbursement purposes this period 
excludes the 48 hour minimum period for assessment.  

 
11.10 Any patient/carer dispute regarding the planned transfer/discharge will 

be reported to the relevant PCT Discharge Referral Point and/or Care 
Communication Centre and referred in accordance with the Escalation 
Policy (see appendix 2). 

 
11.11 All patients are monitored on a daily basis and the Senior Nurse/Lead 

Nurse will immediately inform the relevant Discharge Referral Point 
and/or Care Communication Centre of patients whose needs have 
changed. This will include those who now require an assessment under 
Section 2 notification and patients who have been referred and whose 
condition has deteriorated making them unfit for transfer / discharge, 
(this will be as a withdrawal of the Section 5 notification). 

 
12. Specific Requirements for Planned Admissions 
 

Page 112



 11 

12.1 Where a pre-admission assessment identifies that a patient is likely to 
need social care support after transfer from acute care, the admission 
assessor has the responsibility to notify Adult Social Care, via the 
relevant Discharge Referral Point and Care Communication Centre of 
this need. This Section 2 notification must not occur earlier than 8 days 
prior to admission and not later than 3 days prior to transfer/discharge. 

 
On receipt of the Section 2 notification the process will be as an 
unplanned admission. 

 
13. Documentation 
 
13.1 Transfers of care are subject to the Single Assessment Process (SAP). 

EASYcare (or a local adaptation of it) amended to include essential 
reimbursement data, will be used as the agreed Contact and Overview 
SAP documentation. 

 
13.2 It is acknowledged that SAP will be introduced in stages across the 

patch (see list on cover); in the interim, systems will be deployed that 
are both compatible with SAP and create the minimum of disruption. 

 
13.3 On admission a patient’s details will be entered onto the Contact     

Assessment.   
 
13.4 The Contact Assessment will be used by the ward as the formal 

notification under Section 2. This will require that the “Section 2” box is 
completed on the form which will be forwarded, along with the 
Specialist Nursing Assessment and the NHS Continuing Healthcare 
Needs Checklist, either as a fax or as an attachment to an e-mail to the 
appropriate Discharge Referral Point and Care Communication Centre. 

 
13.5 Ward staff will complete the Ward Fax Cover Sheet, indication potential 

services required. This will be faxed to the relevant Discharge Referral 
Point and Care Communication Centre who will signpost appropriately. 

 
13.6 The receiving team will contact the ward staff immediately on receipt of 

the referral information in order to provide a named contact and contact 
details. 

 
13.7 The assessment of need will use the appropriate SAP documentation 

(Contact, Overview, Specialist or Comprehensive). 
 
13.8 The proposed outcome of the assessment will be entered onto the 

computer held record system (ESCR), where this is not possible it 
should be e-mailed / faxed back to the Care Communication Centre (as 
a minimum requirement this will be the Care Plan Summary) who will 
record the information and inform the ward.  

 
13.9 The Section 5 notification will be e-mailed / faxed by the ward staff to 

the Care Communication Centre / Discharge Referral Point who will 
inform the relevant Care Management Team or Service Provider of the 
discharge date and confirm the provision of a service. 

 

Page 113



 12 

13.10 For the purposes of reimbursement it is essential that all forms are 
signed and include the date and time of referral and are legible. 

 
14. The Care Communication Centre  
 
14.1 This service is located within LTHT and provides a centralised 

administrative function in relation to the requirements of 
reimbursement, brokering of Homecare, Bed Bureau for the 
independent sector (residential and nursing) and the processing of 
invoices in relation to these tasks. The team collate information from 
the five single Discharge Referral Points in the PCTs.  

 
14.2 The Care Communication Centre is the clearing house for all 

documentation with regard to the above and is responsible for tracking 
the process flow and recording the details. It undertakes an 
administrative role in following but not determining care pathways. In 
this respect it acts as an extension of the bed management function. 

 
14.3  The Care Communication Centre operates between 8.00am and 6pm, 

5 days each week, closed weekends, Bank Holiday cover will be 
advised. CCC staff immediately search for a provider for the required 
service, placement of homecare. 

 
14.4 For reimbursement purposes the Care Communication Centre should 

be advised, by care management teams and ward staff, of any delays / 
discrepancies in the discharge process and the reasons for these. This 
aids the reconciliation of the invoices with the activity. 

 
15. Discharge Referral Points  
 
15.1 The Discharge referral point (DRP) is primarily for Leeds residents 

being discharged from LTHT who require services to support them on 
discharge. There are separate care pathways for patients who are 
independent, reside outside the Leeds boundary, or for patients on 
wards with Trust funded social workers. Each Leeds PCT wedge has a 
separate contact number. The service is available Monday – Friday 
from 8am – 8pm, and 9am – 5pm at weekends and Bank Holidays. 

 
 The documentation used by the DRP is the SAP Contact Assessment 

documents, the Specialist Nursing Assessment and NHS Continuing 
Healthcare Needs Checklist. Further assessments may be required 
once the referral has been received. The referrer is asked to clearly 
indicate the reason for the referral and only fully completed 
documentation will be accepted. 

 
 The LTHT Discharge Information Pack contained within the LTHT Adult 

Discharge Policy (http://nww.lhp.leedsth.nhs.uk/common/guidelines) 
 has been circulated to all teams and discharge advisors containing key 
contacts and specific referral pathways, including palliative care, NFA, 
restart existing packages, and readmission to care home. 

 
16. Finance  
 

Page 114



 13 

16.1  The finance to support reimbursement will be managed in an open and 
transparent way and will be used to facilitate the timely discharge of 
patients who might otherwise be delayed. 

 
16.2 All partners will be informed, in agreement and involved in the 

decisions made relating to use of reimbursement monies.   
 
16.3   During 2006/07 a portion of reimbursement monies will be utilised to 

support the continuation of the Task Force and a member of the team 
of Discharge Advisors. 

 
16.4 Information flow in respect of Section 5 notices and invoicing will be as 

detailed in Appendix 7 
 
16.5 All organisations/partners are committed to a shared approach to 

managing discharge and as such will produce a Joint Investment Plan 
which details expenditure specifically targeted towards eliminating 
delayed discharges. Once completed and agreed, the JIP will replace 
the finance section of this document. 

 
17. Education /  Training 
 
17.1 All relevant staff will be briefed on this protocol and the implications for 

their working practice. It will also be included in the ongoing induction 
for new starters within LTHT, Adult Social Care and the PCT. 
Specialised training will be provided as appropriate. Staff from out of 
Leeds hospitals will be briefed appropriately. 

 
18. Patient Disputes  
 
18.1 Where patients or carers are in dispute regarding an assessment and   

proposed outcome this will be dealt with under the Escalation Policy. 
This will require an immediate decision whether or not to “stop the 
reimbursement clock” and a follow up plan on how to resolve the issue. 
In all cases the patient will be expected to move to a more appropriate 
setting whilst the dispute is resolved.  

 
19. Inter – Agency Disputes 
 
19.1 Where there is a dispute between LTHT and Leeds Adult Social Care 

and /or the PCT, regarding reimbursement, that cannot be resolved as 
per Appendix 7, then the matter will be referred to the local dispute 
panel. The membership of this will be: 

 
- Divisional General Manager - Medicine Division (LTHT) 
- Head of Service Delivery (Adults) (Adult Social Care) 
- Head of Intermediate Tier (Leeds PCT) 

 
19.2 If the dispute cannot be resolved locally, it will be referred to the panel 

established and chaired by the West Yorkshire Strategic Health 
Authority. The decision of the panel is binding to all parties. 

 
19.3 Disputes between Leeds Social Services and an out of Leeds hospital 

will be dealt with by appropriate director level staff. 

Page 115



 14 

 
20. Cross Boundary Issues 
 

 Leeds residents in out of Leeds acute hospital care but within England will 
be the responsibility of Leeds Social Services. In these circumstances the 
acute hospital involved should send the statutory notifications to the Care 
Communication Centre. It is the responsibility of the Care Communication 
Centre to direct any relevant referrals to the appropriate Discharge Referral 
Point. 
 

 Out of Leeds residents who are in acute care in Leeds Teaching Hospital 
Trust are the responsibilities of the Local Authority where the patient normally 
resides. In these circumstances the Care Communications Centre will 
instigate the assessment process and has the responsibility to notify and 
liaise with the relevant authority. 
 
21. Appendices 
 

• Delayed Discharge codes 

• Escalation Policy 

• Escalation Flowchart  

• Flowchart for S2 and S5 process 

• Patient information letter 1 

• Patient letter 2 

• Responsibilities on issue of Section 5 

• Referral process to Housing Services 
 
 
Ratified    February 2006 
Ratified  February 2007 
Review     February/March 2008 for Ratification 
 
Sue Jones Discharge Taskforce LTHT 
Margaret Faulkner Discharge Taskforce Adults Social Care 
Leslie Petrie Leeds PCT 

Page 116



 15 

Appendix I 
DELAYED DISCHARGE CODES 

DELAYED DISCHARGE CODES 
Version 1 - March 2008 

Leeds 
Delayed 
Discharge 
Codes 

 
                                      Description of Delay 

 
Reimbursement 

YES/NO 

 
Links to 

National Delay 
Code 

A1 Family not provided information for financial assessment YES  A 

A2 Unallocated case i.e. SW/Community SW/JCM YES  A 

A3 Assessment not  completed by JCM/SW YES  A 

A4 Continuing Care Assessment not completed by SW/JCM  NO A 

A5 Ward Staff not completed their part of the assessment   NO A 

A6 Continuing Care Assessment not yet completed by health staff  NO            A 

C1 Patient/Carer/Family choosing Residential home YES  D1 

C2 Awaiting Assessment by Residential home YES  D1 

C3 Agent not report patient on any waiting lists YES  G 

C4 Patient/Carer/Family choosing a Nursing Home replacement YES  D2 

C5 Awaiting Assessment by Nursing Home YES  D2 

E1 Home Care availability YES  E 

E2 Equipment – Social YES  F 

E3 Patient of no fixed abode  NO I 

E4 Home adaptations YES  F 

E5 Equipment – Health  NO F 

F1 Patient awaiting LA funding for chosen placement /Complex 
package of care 

YES  B 

I1 Awaiting action within LTHT (e.g. investigation, therapy. referral to 
consultant) 

 NO N/A 

I1a Therapy (inc OT and Physio)  NO N/A 

I1b Care Planning Meeting  NO N/A 

I1c Review by another Consultant  NO N/A 

I1d Investigations  NO N/A 

I2 Delayed in non-acute/rehab bed  NO N/A 

MI Medically Unwell  NO N/A 

N1 Awaiting Continuing Care placement  NO C 

N2 Awaiting action by Hospital Trust outside Leeds  NO C 

N3 Awaiting action by Mental Health (including assessment)  NO C 

N4 Awaiting action by ICT (including assessment)  NO C 

O1 Disputed discharge e.g. family disagree with professionals  NO H 

O2 Professional disagreement  NO H 

O3a Self Funding for Residential/Nursing Placement  NO G 

O3b Self Funding for EMI Residential/Nursing Placement   NO G 

O3c  Declined Interim Placement whilst awaiting Home Care Package  NO G 

O3d Declined Block Placement  NO G 

O3e Legal issues/guardianship signing with Solicitor  NO H 

O3f Carer/Family issues  NO G 

O4 Patient/Carer/Family exercising choice  NO G 

V1 Awaiting vacancy in Residential Care YES  D1 

V2 Awaiting vacancy in Nursing Home YES  D2 

V3 Awaiting vacancy in Residential EMI Care YES  D1 

V4 Awaiting vacancy in Nursing EMI Care YES  D2 

V5 Awaiting vacancy in Local Authority Part 3 YES  D2 

V6 Awaiting interim placement (housing patient) YES  D2 

V7 Awaiting transfer to Residential Home YES  D1 

V8 Awaiting transfer to Nursing Home YES  D2 
  

All level codes mapped to National Sitrep codes A - I 
These are:- 
A – Awaiting completion of Assessment 
B – Awaiting public funding 
C – Awaiting further (non acute services) NHS Care (including ICT, Rehabilitation). 
D – (i) Awaiting Residential Home Placement or availability 
      (ii) Awaiting Care Package in own home 
F – Awaiting Community Equipment and Adaptations 
G – Patient or Family Choice 
H – Disputes 
I – Housing – Patient not covered by NHS and Community Care Act 

 

Page 117



 16 

Appendix 2 
 
Choice on Discharge    (taken from LTHT Discharge Policy)   
 
DISPUTED DISCHARGE/ESCALATION PROCESS  
 

For the successful discharge/transfer of patients to take place it is 
essential that there is good communication in an appropriate 
format/language between all parties involved. Discharge planning is not 
a single event at the end of a stay in hospital but is a continuous 
process which begins on admission to the hospital, if not before. The 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust along with its partners in Primary 
Care and Social Services are committed to providing a high quality 
service for all patients. 

 
With this in mind it is essential that the smooth transition from the 
hospital back into the community be achieved to allow access to the 
hospital for acutely ill patients who require its services. 

 
For a small group of individuals the transition into the community 
becomes delayed for numerous reasons. This escalation policy is 
intended to aid the resolution of any difficulties that patients are 
experiencing with being discharged from hospital in a timely manner. 

 
Where discharge planning does become problematic and the 
escalation plan is implemented patients, families and carers will be 
encouraged to seek an advocate (See Section 12 below) or 
appropriate independent advice. 
 

11.1 TYPES OF DISPUTES 
 

Discharge disputes which may require escalation fall into a number of 
categories.  The examples given below are to guide staff when 
questioning the need for further support in discharging patients. 

 

• Patients/families/carers repeatedly refuse offers of 
permanent/interim nursing/residential home placements. 

 

• Patients who will be self funding and their families/carers refuse to 
participate in finding discharge placements for permanent/interim 
care. 

 

• Patients refusing/delaying participation in financial assessments. 
 

• Patients/families/carers refusing outcome of financial 
assessments/continuing care assessments, etc. 

 

• Patients/families/carers refused Level 5 Continuing Care Funding 
and alternatives not accepted. 

 

• Staff perceptions of individual’s/families as being unreasonable in 
their behaviour and expectations. 

 

Page 118



 17 

12 ESCALATION POLICY FOR DISPUTED DISCHARGES 

  
 Discharge planning will continue throughout the stay in hospital whilst 

the patient is in receipt of treatment from the ward team. 
 
12.1 If during this time it is identified that the patient will be unable to return 

directly (if at all) to their previous accommodation, the Social Worker / 
Joint Care Manager will work with the patient/family/carers and the 
multi disciplinary team (MDT) to identify a suitable alternative, with a 
current vacancy, including residential or nursing home placement. 
 

12.2 The MDT reaffirms the procedure and process and gives the 
patient/family/carers a Confirmed Date of Discharge 12-24 hours prior 
to leaving. 

 
For patients who have been assessed as fit for discharge and all 
arrangements are in place staff planning the discharge will complete a 
discharge planning check list and plan for a morning discharge.  On St 
James University Hospital and Leeds General Infirmary sites patients 
will await final discharge arrangements in the Hospital Discharge 
Lounge.   
 

12.3 If there is not an agreed discharge date the patient/family/carer will be 
provided with a letter regarding planning for discharge and support / 
advice services available for patients/family/carers. 

  
12.4 If the patient/family/carer disputes the discharge arrangements or 

discharge date and members of the multi-disciplinary team feel they 
have explored all possibilities, the escalation process will be instigated.  
Escalation has been designed as a four stepped approach.  This 
endeavours to support staff, patients and their carers/families in timely 
resolution of disputes. 

 
12.5 ESCALATION POLICY – LEVEL 1 
 

All multi-disciplinary attempts to facilitate discharge in conjunction with 
the Discharge Facilitation Team and relevant community staff have 
failed to elicit a discharge plan or date. The Team Leader for the Leeds 
Teaching Hospital’s Discharge Facilitation Team will contact the 
Locality Matron and Matron for Specialty Medicine to advise of the 
situation both verbally and in writing.  A way forward will be proposed 
with the Team Leader for Discharge Management enacting the plan on 
behalf of the Locality Matron. 

 
 The Team Leader for the Discharge Facilitation Team, Team Leaders 

for ASC*/JCM*/Community Services will meet with the patient, 
relatives/carers together within one week of referral.  The escalation 
process will be explained.  Information regarding assessments, within 
the bounds of confidentiality, can be explored.  Discussion regarding 
options for on going care within local/national policies can be expected.  
The team can use this opportunity to re-iterate patient’s rights including 
access to continuing health care review, independent advocacy and 
second medical opinions.  The Team Leader for the Discharge 

Page 119



 18 

Management Team will keep accurate records of meetings and all 
other communications with patient and family. 

 
 If required advice regarding discharge and any proposed plans can be 

discussed with LTHT Risk Management Department.   
 
 If no resolution, ie no date for discharge, or discharge action plan made 

Escalation continues to Level 2.  
 
 *ASC/JCM may delegate roles to named discharge liaison staff, to 

act on behalf of Team Leaders.  These individuals will have the 
authority to enact procedures for discharge for their 
organisations. 

 
12.6 ESCALATION POLICY – LEVEL 2 

 
 The Team Leader for the Discharge Facilitation Team will report to the 

Matron for Specialty Medicine, outlining the case, the action taken so 
far and the issues that still remain unresolved. 

 
 The Matron for Specialty Medicine will contact the family requesting an 

urgent meeting, and outlining the issues that need to be resolved. The 
meeting is to take place within a week of referral to Level 2. Adult 
Social Care* (Health Teams Manager)/JCM representatives (Team 
Manager Level*) will also attend the meeting if appropriate.   If patient 
Advocacy/Independent Mental Capacity Advocates (IMCA) are 
required these should be present at the meeting. 

 
 If required advice regarding discharge and any proposed plans can be 

discussed with LTHT Risk Management Department.   
 
  Following the meeting the Matron for Speciality Medicine will write to 

the patient / family / carers to clarify the agreement reached or to 
explain the next steps in the process. 

 
*  ASC/JCM may delegate roles to named discharge liaison staff, 
to act on behalf of Team Leaders.  These individuals will have the 
authority to enact procedures for discharge for their 
organisations. 

 
12.7 ESCALATION POLICY - LEVEL THREE 
 

The Matron for Speciality Medicine will send a report to the Divisional 
General Manager and Directorate Manager for Medicine.  This report 
will be copied to the relevant PCT Director, and Service Delivery 
Manager (Adults) within Adult Social Care,  outlining the case and the 
process which has taken place. 

 
The Divisional General Manager for Medicine (who may delegate the to 
Directorate Manager) will decide on an outcome, or if further 
information is required contact the family requesting an urgent meeting 
and outlining the issues needing to be resolved. Any further meeting 
will take place within a week of referral to Level 3.  Adult Social Care 

Page 120



 19 

Service Delivery Manager and /JCM representatives will also attend 
the meeting. 
 
Following the meeting the Divisional General Manager will write to the 
patient/family/carers to clarify the agreement reached or to explain the 
next and final step in the escalation process.   If no discharge outcome 
is arrived at then The Divisional General Manager for Medicine will 
brief the Chief Executive in order for him/her to decide on an outcome 
and discuss with partner agency colleagues. 
 

12.8 ESCALATION POLICY - LEVEL FOUR 
  

The LTHT Chief Executive or his/her representative will agree a course 
of action within a maximum of one week of receiving the Divisional 
General Manager’s report.  The LTHT Chief Executive will ensure any 
related agency is briefed and aware of the outcomes of all discussions.  
 
The family will be sent written notification of the decision, which has 
been reached. 
 
All Agencies involved via their Chief Executives Office will prepare for 
relevant media coverage as the ultimate sanction will be to Discharge 
without patient/families/carers consent.  Rarely this may involve the 
use of Security Staff or Police to support removal from LTHT premises.   
 
It is anticipated that between each level of escalation report 
writing and briefing will take no more than 48 hours.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



 20 

Appendix 3 
 
Escalation Flowchart 
(Discharge & Rehabilitation) 
 
 

 

 

All attempts by MDT to determine discharge date have failed 

Appoint LTHT Discharge Team Leader to handle Level 1 of dispute 

Discharge Team Leader agrees process to take forward dispute 
with PCT, SSD & LTH Reps 

Where possible meet patient & relatives/carers to seek confirmation on reasons  
for dispute. Share information on all assessments within the bounds of  
confidentiality.  Discuss options for care within local/national policies.   

Reiterate rights to Continuing Health Care Review, independent advocacy  
& 2nd medical opinion.  

Keep accurate records of meeting and all other communications 

Discharge plan 
agreed 

Take legal advice if patient and/or family/carers refuse discharge  
Discharge Team Leader escalates to Matron for Specialty Medicine   

Matron for Specialty Medicine and  senior representatives 
From SSD & PCTs meet with patient and/or relatives/carers sharing  
information on all assessments within the bounds of confidentiality.   

Discuss options for care within local/national policies.   
Advise them of legal position.  Maintain accurate records of meeting 

Keep up momentum.  Take further legal advice if required.  
Refer to Divisional / Directorate General Manager (Medicine) 

With SSD & PCTs Reps meet with patient and/or relatives/carers 
  Discuss options for care within local/national policies.  Advise them of legal position.  

Maintain accurate records of meeting 

Take further legal advice if required.  Divisional Manager refers to The LTHT Chief 
Executive or his/her representative will agree a course of action within a maximum of one 
week of receiving the Divisional General Manager’s report.  The LTHT Chief Executive will 
ensure any related agency is briefed and aware of the outcomes of all discussions. The 

patient/family/carer will be sent notification of the decision and discharge will be 
undertaken. 

 
Prepare for expected media coverage in conjunction with each agency lead.  

Implement discharge in conjunction with relevant agency lead 

Multi Agency Case Review case & lessons learnt  

NO YES 

Discharge plan 
agreed 

YES 

Discharge plan 
agreed 

NO YES 

NO 

Discharge & Rehabilitation 
 

Page 122



 21 

Appendix 4 
 
Flowchart and Triggers for S2 and S 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward Staff continue work with 
patient towards fitness to 

discharge 

Assessment completed. 
Outcomes actioned e.g. onward 

referral to other services; 
general advice; complex care 

planning etc. 

MDT agree fitness for discharge 
and confirm Expected Date of 

Discharge 

S5 Submitted 
SAP Contact Assessment and Specialist Nursing Assessment with any 
additional information from the assessment process, faxed to DRP 

and/or CCC 

Patient need for assessment 
identified 

SAP Contact Assessment  
Specialist and Nursing 

Assessment completed including 
Expected Date of Discharge (1) 

Ward staff fax cover sheet and 
documents to DRP and/or CCC 
(include req services and/if 
JCM/HSW/CSW) (2) 

DRP/CCC receive referral and 
forward to appropriate team 

Referral allocated, worker makes 
contact and begins assessment 

Other factors could influence 
assessment process e.g. referral 
for psychiatric assessment 

Discharge plans actioned 

Patient safely discharged 

(1) These documents 
constitute the S2 

(2) Patients with NFA 
or out of area to CCC, 
patients with a Leeds 
postcode to DRP 

T
o
ta
l 
o
f 
3
 d
a
y
s
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

Page 123



 22 

Appendix 5 
 
Patient Information Letter 1 

To be given to patient on admission and reiterated later 
 
 
Dear Patient 
 
Patient Information (Delayed Discharge Act 2003) 
 

During your stay in hospital, health and social care services are here to help 
you and are required to follow national legislation on discharge planning. 
 
This letter explains the policy that has been agreed by Leeds Adult Social 
Care, Leeds Primary Care Trust and Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. 
 
From the day of your admission into hospital we will ask you and your 
relatives/carer about your needs in order to support a safe discharge. When 
your consultant decides that you can be safely discharged from hospital, we 
will aim to move you as soon as possible. This could be to your own home or 
somewhere such as rehabilitation or a short stay unit in another hospital,  
residential or nursing home. 
 
Most patients will be discharged straight home. Sometimes an immediate 
return home is not possible and you may need extra support. In these 
situations ward staff will arrange a referral to a social worker/care manager. 
The social worker/care manager will work with you and your family/carer so 
that the team in charge of your care can identify your needs and arrange the 
most appropriate help with your agreement. 
 
If the assessment shows that you need residential or nursing home care to 
meet your long term needs, you and your family will be able to choose the 
home you wish to live in. If this home does not have a vacancy and you 
choose to wait for a place to become available in your first choice home, 
you will be moved to a temporary place elsewhere which social services 
will arrange until your preferred choice is available, there may be a 
charge for this. 
 
Should you choose not to be referred to Adult Social Care or to fund your own 
care, then once you can be safely discharged from hospital you will be 
responsible for ensuring you have made appropriate arrangements and can 
be discharged. 
 
If the assessment shows that you require a stay in a Community Intermediate 
Care bed (CIC bed in a residential/nursing home or the Community Unit - V 
ward at Seacroft) you will be advised of where a bed is available.  You cannot 
refuse a CIC bed based on the geography of the placement and, whilst every 
effort will be made to place you in a CIC bed as near to your own home as 
possible, remaining in an acute hospital bed is not an option when CIC beds 
in other areas of the city are available. 
 
 

Page 124



 23 

If you have concerns about how you will manage after you are 
discharged, and ward staff have not yet discussed this with you, please 
speak with the Ward Sister or Nurse-in-Charge. 
 

Page 125



 24 

 
Appendix 6                                                                            Patient letter 2 
                                                                         
                                                                         

 

 

 
 

 

Dear   

 

Your Choice of Care Home  
    

The outcome of your assessment for your future care needs on discharge from hospital is that 

these can be met in a Care Home. Now that you no longer require an acute hospital bed we 

need to plan for your move to a care home placement. 

 

We hope your first choice of home is able to offer you a placement. However, many nursing 

and residential homes are full and you may be placed on a waiting list. If your chosen home is 

unlikely to have a bed within seven days of the issue of this letter we will plan for your 

discharge to an alternative care home placement, pending a vacancy becoming available in 

your home of choice. 

 

This interim placement may be in any Care Home able to meet your care needs and with 

whom Adult Social Care Department has a contractual arrangement. 

 

You will be financially assessed to contribute to the cost of care in any care home placement 

from the date of admission whether this is your home of choice or an interim arrangement.  

 

If you have any queries about this advice please contact the social worker or care manager 

named above. 

 

Yours sincerely  

                                                                                              

    

   

SANDIE KEENE 

Director Adult Social Services 

Leeds City Council 

MAGGIE BOYLE 

Chief Executive 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS 

Trust 

 

 

CHRISTINE 

OUTRAM 

Chief Executive 

Leeds PCT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          

 

 

Page 126



 25 

 

 

 

 

Dear   

 

Advice on Transitional Placements 

              

The assessment for your future care needs on discharge from hospital is that these can be met 

at home with the support of home care services.  

 

As you no longer require an acute hospital bed and because the home care service is not 

available at the moment we need to plan for your discharge to a Care Home in what we call a 

transitional placement. 

 

A transitional placement is a bed in a Care Home arranged by the Adult Social Care 

Department and provided to people who need  a placement where their long term needs can 

be assessed and where support can be given to aid their recovery and independence.  

 

Such placements can also be used as a short term arrangement for people awaiting their home 

care service, so they can return to their own home once this is available.  

 

If your home care service is still not available within seven days of the issue of this letter we 

will plan for your discharge to a Care Home.  

 

There is no charge for this service for four weeks and within that time we will make every 

effort to have services in place for you to return to your home as soon as possible.  Should 

your stay extend beyond the four week period then there will be a charge.  You will be 

advised of this rate by your Social Worker/Joint Care Manager. 

 

If you have any queries about this advice please contact the social worker or care manager 

named above.  

 

Yours sincerely  

                                             

   

SANDIE KEENE 

Director Adult Social Services 

Leeds City Council 

MAGGIE BOYLE 

Chief Executive 

The Leeds Teaching 

Hospitals NHS Trust 

 

CHRISTINE OUTRAM 

Chief Executive 

Leeds PCT 

 

 

 

Page 127



 26 

                                                                           

 

 

 
 

 

Appendix 7 
 

LTHT, Leeds and Social Services Joint Protocol for Inter-Agency 
Responsibilities     

Upon the Issue of Section 5 (S5) January 2007 
 
 

This protocol seeks to achieve inter-agency working to effect and expedite patient 
centred care.  
 
It aims to ensure that a patient’s discharge with social support is not delayed, but 
underpinned by the administration process which facilitates trusted and reliable 
flows of information. 

 
1.1 Section 5 is faxed by the Ward within the Leeds Teaching Hospital Trust to 

the Care Communication Centre (CCC) or Discharge Referral Point 
(DRP).  The Date of Section 5 issue is registered by CCC/DRP and on a 
daily basis date of issue and receipt is confirmed/cross-checked by 
Discharge Facilitation Administration Assistant.  Cross checking includes 
reviewing the existence of a Section 2 to match the Section 5.  The 
CCC/DRP will continue to inform the Discharge Facilitation Team of all 
S2s and S5s. 

 
1.2 The Section 5 is dispatched by the CCC/DRP to the appropriate Care 

Manager.  The Care Manager will issue a commencing Delay Discharge 
Code (Appendix 1), via a daily log sheet, sent to the Discharge Facilitation 
team by 10am each morning.  This code will be logged by the Discharge 
Facilitation Team on the Delayed Discharge Database. Community Social 
Workers will submit their coding via the appropriate PCT Joint Care 
Management Team.  Hospital Social Workers will submit their coding via 
an independent daily log sheet.  If the Discharge Facilitator does not 
agree with the commencing code, a telephone dialogue will be held 
to verify/determine a suitable code. 

 
1.3 Any disputes between Discharge Facilitator or Care Manager for patient 

coding will be referred to the Discharge Facilitation Team Leader and 
relevant Care Management Team Leader.  If no agreement can be 
reached then escalation should be made to Matron for Specialty Medicine 
(Medicine) and Adult Services Manager (Hospital Services Adult Social 
Care). NB  If the Matron for Specialty Medicine and Adult Services 
Manager remain in dispute then escalation for arbitration is expected, 
as per the Joint Protocol for Transfer of Care, Interagency Disputes, 
Section 19.  

 
1.4 The Care Manager works with the appropriate external agencies and 

LTHT multi-disciplinary team to effect patient assessment and plan of care 
for a timely discharge.  The Care Manager will continue to notify The 

Page 128



 27 

Discharge Facilitation Team of any perceived code changes.  This will take 
place on a daily log sheet submitted to the Discharge Facilitation team by 
10 am.  Community Social Workers will submit their coding via the 
appropriate PCT Joint Care Management Team.  Hospital Social Workers 
will submit their coding via an independent daily log sheet.  The code will 
be logged on the Delayed Discharge Database and will record on an 
individualised reimbursement charge sheet (Appendix II).  If the 
Discharge Facilitator does not agree with the daily update coding, a 
telephone dialogue will be held to verify/determine a suitable code. 
 
Any disputes regarding on-going coding will be dealt with as per point 1.3  

 
At the point of Discharge, if a patient has incurred a reimbursement charge 
the Discharge Facilitation Team Administration Assistant will fax the Care 
Manager a copy of the Individualised Reimbursement Coding Sheet 
checked and signed by the Discharge Facilitation Team.  All Delay Codes 
for the patient, whether reimbursable or non reimbursable, will be clearly 
displayed and dated.  The Care Manager must crosscheck his/her records 
and sign to confirm this information is correct for invoicing purposes.  This 
must occur within 72 hours of discharge and be forwarded to the Head of 
CCC (on Fax Number 0113 2063524).  If the Care Manager disagrees 
then he/she must contact the Discharge Facilitator and liaise to review the 
patients’ coding period. This must occur within 7 days of issue. Any agreed 
changes must be made and an altered Reimbursement Coding Sheet 
signed by the Discharge Advisor and Care Manager.  The Care Manager 
will forward the amended Reimbursement Coding Sheet to Head of CCC 
(on Fax Number 0113 2063524) to hold pending any queries regarding 
charges.  If Care Manager and Discharge Advisor are unable to agree 
coding then escalation will occur as per 1.3. 

 
1.5 For LTHT the Discharge Facilitator will forward the original or altered copy 

via LTHT channels to advise finance of changes.  Within LTHT 
reimbursement information is sent to the PA for the Directorate Manager of 
Medicine for monthly collation and thereby forwarded to LTHT Finance for 
invoice issue. 

 
 
1.6  Reimbursement invoices should at this stage be issued quarterly by the 

Trust Based on the Reimbursement Coding Sheet and accepted as true 
with spot audits established to ensure information/data quality. 

 
Reviewed January 2007  
Next Review January 2008 for Ratification March 2008 
 
Reviewed by: 
Sue Jones Matron Discharge LTHT 
Diane Massey Discharge Matron Leeds PCT on behalf of Discharge Facilitation 
Team 
 
 
 
 

LTHT, Leeds PCT and Social Services Joint Protocol 
Proposed Inter-Agency Responsibilities Upon the Issue of a Section 5 

Page 129



 28 

 

 
 
 

 

Section 5 Received by Care Manager. 

Care Manager records commencing Delay Code on 

Daily Log Sheet – sent to Discharge Team by 10am 

If Discharge Specialist disagrees with Delay Code, 

telephone discussion with Care Manager to negotiate 

coding or escalate to Discharge Team Leader and 

Care Management Team Leader for arbitration. 

Care Manager aims to affect Discharge 

with 

Multi-Disciplinary Team and 

Reports Updated Patient Delay Code 

daily by 10 am on Daily Log Sheet. 

On Discharge – Discharge Facilitator 

Generates Reimbursement Coding Sheet within 72 hrs and 

sends to Care Manager to check and agree Coding. (To be 

achieved within 7 days of Discharge) 

Care Manager agrees Coding, 

 signs and forwards a copy to Head of CCC (Fax No 

0113 2063524) and retains copy for local information. 

If no Log Sheet Received, Discharge Facilitation 

Team report to Discharge Team Leader 

Section 5 Faxed by ward to 

CCC/DRP 

If Discharge Specialist Agrees Code, enter onto 

Delayed Discharge Database 

Care Manager Disagrees Reimbursement Coding Sheet 

Contact Discharge Facilitator to cross check, any 

alteration agreed, forwards Copy to Head of CCC and 

retains copy for local info.   If unable to agree 

escalation procedure invoked  

Reimbursement Invoice issued and Accepted without question 

Ongoing Spot Audits undertaken to ensure info quality 

Page 130



 29 

 
 
 
 
 
Private & Confidential 
 
 
 
 

                
           
 

Discharge Facilitation Team 
Inpatient Placement Service 
B Floor Medical Out Patients 

Leeds General Infirmary 
Leeds  

LS1  3EX 
 

Fax:  
LGI – 0113 3922660 

SJUH – 0113 2066404 
www.leedsteachinghospitals.com 

  
Date:         16 March 2009 

 
Dear Colleague 
 
Your patient has recently been discharged from Leeds Teaching Hospitals 
Trust and during their hospital stay a reimbursement charge has been 
incurred. 
 
As per the LTHT Leeds and Social Service Joint Protocol for Inter Agency 
Responsibilities upon the Issue of a Section 5, dated May 2006, I enclose a 
copy of the Individual Patient Reimbursement Charge Sheet signed by the 
relevant Discharge Specialist Worker.   
 
As per protocol you are obliged to check the codes allocated by the Discharge 
Management Team for your patient.  If you are in agreement with these 
please sign, retain a copy for your records, and forward a copy to the Head of 
CCC on Fax Number 0113 2063524. 
 
If you are unable to agree the codes allocated by the Discharge Management 
Team please contact them on 66391 (for St James) or 26891 (for LGI, Chapel 
Allerton and Wharfedale) within 7 days of the charge sheet being issued.  Any 
agreed changes must be made and an altered reimbursement sheet signed 
by the Discharge Specialist Worker and yourself.  Once signed by both 
parties, retain a copy for your records, and forward a copy to the Head of 
CCC on Fax Number 0113 2063524.   
 
On going coding disputes about codes should be escalated as per the 
protocol retained within your department. 
 
Any further questions, please do not hesitate to contact the Discharge 
Management Team on the numbers above.  
 
 
Discharge Management Team 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust 
Enc

Page 131



 30 

APPENDIX 8                   Medical Re-Housing Flowchart 

Easy Care Referral Received 

Does Patient have a 

valid Leeds 
Housing Register 

Application? 

Complete and register Leeds 

Housing Register Application 
Form 

Arrange Hospital  Visit 

and Assessment within 48 
Hours 

Specialist Assessment  

undertaken 

Priority decision and 

Housing recommendation 
made.. 

Patient and Hospital  

informed. 

Liaise with OT to identify 

suitable property type and 
accommodation features. 

Direct Let flagged on 

Orchard Waiting List. 

Adapted property/ 
property capable of 

being adapted 

required? 

Support provided by  
Medical Rehousing  

Support Worker through 

the rehousing process. 

 

Bidding  

successful? 

Refer to OT for identifying 
suitable property, adapted 

or capable of being 

adapted. 

Allocation 

YES 

YES YES 

NO 

NO 

NO 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
2



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Health) 
 
Date: 24th March 2009 
 
Subject: Recommendation Tracking 
 

        
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Last year Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to adopt a new, more formal 

system of recommendation tracking, to ensure that scrutiny recommendations were 
more rigorously followed through. 

 
1.2 As a result, each Scrutiny Board now receives a quarterly report on any 

recommendations from previous inquiries which have not yet been completed.  
 
1.3 This will allow the board to monitor progress and identify completed 

recommendations; those progressing to plan; and those where there is either an 
obstacle or progress is not adequate. The board will then be able to take further action 
as appropriate. 

 
1.4 A standard set of criteria has been produced, to enable the board to assess progress. 

These are presented in the form of a flow chart at Appendix 1. The questions should 
help to decide whether a recommendation has been completed, and if not whether 
further action is required. 

 
1.5 For each outstanding recommendation, a progress update is provided. In some cases 

there will be several updates, as the board has monitored progress over a period of 
time. 

 
1.6 To assist members, the Principal Scrutiny Adviser has given a draft status for each 

recommendation. The board is asked to confirm whether these assessments are 
appropriate, and to change them where they are not.  

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Laura Nield 
 
Tel: 395 0492 

Agenda Item 10

Page 133



1.7 In deciding whether to undertake any further work, members will need to consider the 
balance of the board’s work programme. 

 
1.8 In accordance with the wishes of the chair, no officers have been invited to attend this 

meeting to discuss the progress made against recommendations.  However, a full 
written response will be requested in relation to any issues raised by the board. 

 
2.0  Recommendations 
 
2.1 Members are asked to: 
 

• Agree those recommendations which no longer require monitoring; 
 

• Identify any recommendations where progress is unsatisfactory and determine the 
action the board wishes to take as a result. 

 
 

Page 134



No Yes

1 - Stop 
monitoring

Yes No

Yes No

Yes No

Yes No

Is this recommendation still relevant?

Recommendation tracking flowchart and classifications:

Questions to be Considered by Scrutiny Boards

5 - Not achieved 
(progress made not 

acceptable. Scrutiny 

Board to determine 

appropriate action and 

continue monitoring)

Has the recommendation been 

achieved?

3 - not achieved 
(obstacle). Scrutiny 

Board to determine 

appropriate action.

Is progress 

acceptable?

4 - Not 
achieved 

(Progress 

made 

acceptable. 

Continue 

monitoring.)

6 - Not for review this 
session

Has the set 

timescale 

passed?

2 - Achieved 

Is there an 

obstacle?

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
R
e
p
o
rt
 p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
  

 
 

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  

 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

2
 
W
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 c
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s
 t
h
e
 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 

m
a
d
e
 f
ro
m
 a
ll
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 

a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

e
m
b
e
d
d
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

v
a
lu
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
fo
r 
H
a
rm

o
n
io
u
s
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 

in
 p
o
s
t 
in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 a
n
d
 i
s
 d
is
c
u
s
s
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
e
r 
fu
tu
re
 w
o
rk
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
d
d
re
s
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 

e
m
b
e
d
d
in
g
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
v
a
lu
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

T
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 i
s
 s
e
tt
in
g
 u
p
 a
 n
e
w
 H
a
rm

o
n
io
u
s
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
 w
it
h
 a
 w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
 o
n
 1
1
th
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 b
ro
a
d
e
r 

w
o
rk
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
 A
t 
th
e
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
, 
th
is
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
, 
d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

w
e
 w
a
n
t 
to
 b
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
a
n
d
 b
e
 c
le
a
r 
a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 w
e
 w
a
n
t 
to
 t
a
k
e
 i
t 

fo
rw
a
rd
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 
T
h
e
 W

h
it
e
 P
a
p
e
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 
(C
L
G
 2
0
0
8
) 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
k
ill
s
 a
m
o
n
g
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

fr
o
n
tl
in
e
 p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
  

 In
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t,
 t
h
e
 V
C
F
 s
e
c
to
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
ro
u
p
 h
a
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
h
is
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 b
y
 L
e
e
d
s
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 V
C
F
 s
e
c
to
r 
in
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
T
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
 h
a
s
 a
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 t
a
s
k
 g
ro
u
p
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
is
. 
T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

is
 h
a
v
in
g
 a
 d
e
tr
im
e
n
ta
l 
e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
re
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
.  
F
u
n
d
in
g
 

fo
r 
a
 p
o
s
t 
b
a
s
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 L
e
e
d
s
 V
o
ic
e
 w
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 

w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 V
C
F
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
n
 f
u
tu
re
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
. 

 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
llb
e
in
g
 P
la
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
tr
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 m
a
k
in
g
 e
x
p
lic
it
 a
n
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 V
C
F
 s
e
c
to
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

it
 f
u
n
d
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 (
fo
r 
S
L
A
’s
 A
p
ri
l 
0
9
 u
p
 t
o
 3
 y
e
a
rs
) 

 

 4
 

 

Page 137



C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
R
e
p
o
rt
 p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
  

 
 

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  

 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

4
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 (
C
H
D
N
) 

a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t 
it
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
, 
c
e
le
b
ra
te
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 j
o
in
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
. 

 T
h
e
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 

th
e
m
e
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

w
o
rk
e
rs
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 b
ro
a
d
e
r 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

c
it
y
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 v
a
lu
e
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 

a
n
d
, 
in
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
is
 e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 w
h
e
re
 i
t 

w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 p
la
c
e
d
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
. 
 

 T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 h
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
it
s
 f
u
tu
re
 w
o
rk
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 C
H
D
N
 

is
 i
n
te
g
ra
l 
to
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
D
 w
o
rk
e
rs
 a
s
 

w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 w
o
rk
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
C
D
 

w
o
rk
 i
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 b
y
 C
V
F
S
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 s
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 w
o
rk
e
rs
. 
 T
h
is
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 C
H
D
N
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
o
u
ld
 e
n
s
u
re
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
ta
ff
 b
e
c
a
m
e
 c
o
m
p
e
te
n
t 
u
s
in
g
 

th
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
C
D
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 c
a
m
e
 i
n
to
 p
la
c
e
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r 
w
it
h
 a
 s
m
a
lle
r 
J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 
W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
. 
 

 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
e
a
lt
h
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
re
la
te
s
 m
o
s
t 
to
 t
h
e
 P
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 S
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 j
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 A
 c
e
le
b
ra
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
t 
is
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
1
8
th
 M
a
rc
h
 o
n
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
iv
in
g
 g
ra
n
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 o
f 
m
a
n
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
. 
  

 T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 f
o
c
u
s
s
in
g
 o
n
 

k
e
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 

 

 4
 

 

  

Page 138



C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
R
e
p
o
rt
 p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
  

 
 

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  

 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

5
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

c
a
rr
ie
s
 o
u
t 
a
n
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 d
u
ri
n
g
 i
ts
 f
ir
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 

e
x
p
lo
re
s
 j
o
in
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 

m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
il
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm
. 
T
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 

th
is
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 w
il
l 
b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 

th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 i
s
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 a
t 
s
e
n
io
r 

le
v
e
l 
b
y
 t
h
e
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
In
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 w
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 w
a
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
b
u
t 
th
a
t 
it
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

to
o
 e
a
rl
y
 t
o
 d
o
 t
h
is
 a
ft
e
r 
it
s
 f
ir
s
t 
y
e
a
r.
 W

e
 c
a
n
 g
iv
e
 t
h
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
 

u
p
d
a
te
 o
n
 i
ts
 f
ir
s
t 
y
e
a
r’
s
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 w
e
 a
re
 e
x
p
lo
ri
n
g
 m

e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 t
o
 d
o
 a
n
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
a
 l
a
te
r 
d
a
te
. 
 

 A
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
k
e
y
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 w
a
s
 c
o
n
v
e
n
e
d
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
. 
F
ro
m
 t
h
is
 a
 s
m
a
ll 
ta
s
k
 g
ro
u
p
, 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
, 
v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 w
a
s
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 s
e
c
u
re
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 N
e
tw
o
rk
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 

s
e
c
u
re
d
 £
2
5
K
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 p
a
rt
 t
im
e
 p
o
s
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 C
H
D
N
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 

th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
In
 t
h
e
 m
e
a
n
ti
m
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 V
O
IC
E
 i
s
 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 i
n
te
ri
m
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
tw
o
rk
. 
  

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 T
h
e
 p
a
rt
-t
im
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
o
s
t 
s
ta
rt
e
d
 i
n
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
 b
u
t 
th
e
re
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

p
ro
b
le
m
s
 w
it
h
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
. 
T
h
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
b
y
 S
te
v
e
 S
k
in
n
e
r 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
. 
It
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r/
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 i
s
 d
u
e
 

in
 M
a
rc
h
 0
9
. 
A
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 t
a
s
k
 g
ro
u
p
 w
ill
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 t
h
is
 a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
x
t 
s
te
p
s
. 

      

 4
 

 

Page 139



C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
R
e
p
o
rt
 p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
  

 
 

L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

   
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

7
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

tr
a
in
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
tr
a
in
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 a
t 
it
s
 A
p
ri
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 T
h
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

to
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 e
v
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t.
  
T
h
is
 i
s
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
in
c
id
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 l
a
u
n
c
h
 o
f 
a
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
to
o
lk
it
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 '
T
a
lk
in
g
 P
o
in
t'
 w
e
b
s
it
e
. 
 T
h
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 w
ill
 p
ro
b
a
b
ly
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 m
o
d
u
le
s
 o
n
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
rt
a
l 
a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

H
e
a
lt
h
. 
 B
o
th
 a
re
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 m

u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
y
e
a
r.
 

   

 2
  

 

Page 140



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

1
 
T
h
a
t 
: 

•
 
a
 t
h
e
m
a
ti
c
 g
ro
u
p
 

b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
d
u
lt
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
, 
in
 

e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 t
h
re
e
 

n
e
w
 a
re
a
s
  

•
 
th
e
 t
h
e
m
a
ti
c
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 w
o
rk
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 

c
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 t
o
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
 a
n
d
 

a
g
re
e
 t
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 

a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
ri
ty
 o
f 

th
e
ir
 d
ia
lo
g
u
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 f
u
tu
re
 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 C
a
re
 T
ru
s
t 
(P
C
T
) 

T
h
e
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 C
a
re
 T
ru
s
t 
(P
C
T
) 
a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 w
a
y
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 b
a
s
is
. 
 T
h
is
 

w
o
rk
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 g
a
in
in
g
 a
 b
e
tt
e
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
th
e
r 
la
rg
e
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 a
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 

b
a
s
is
. 
 A
 v
is
it
 t
o
 N
o
tt
in
g
h
a
m
 i
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
ti
m
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 t
h
re
e
 n
e
w
 a
re
a
s
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
c
o
o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
a
re
a
 c
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
, 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
re
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 b
y
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

A
re
a
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
is
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 T
e
a
m
 f
o
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 -
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 d
ir
e
c
t 
lin
k
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 c
it
y
w
id
e
 a
n
d
 a
re
a
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
. 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 f
o
c
u
s
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
, 
a
s
 a
re
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
re
a
 c
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
th
e
m
a
ti
c
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 

T
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 t
e
a
m
 a
t 
N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 l
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
e
e
d
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 w
id
e
 w
o
rk
. 
W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 

w
ill
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 d
u
ri
n
g
 M
a
rc
h
 i
n
 t
h
re
e
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
 w
it
h
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 s
h
a
p
e
 f
u
tu
re
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 L
e
e
d
s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
llb
e
in
g
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
9
-1
2
. 
P
la
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 a
p
p
o
in
t 
to
 t
h
re
e
 

L
o
c
a
lit
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
llb
e
in
g
 p
o
s
ts
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
 W

o
rk
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 P
C
T
 

g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

A
re
a
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 b
e
s
t 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
llb
e
in
g
 T
h
e
m
e
 

P
la
n
 c
a
n
 l
in
k
 t
o
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

 l
o
c
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
. 
  
T
h
re
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
to
ry
 a
re
a
 w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

h
e
ld
 i
n
 m

id
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 f
o
c
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 e
a
c
h
 a
re
a
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 b
e
s
t 
to
 s
e
t 
u
p
 a
 

lo
c
a
lit
y
 t
h
e
m
a
ti
c
 g
ro
u
p
 /
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
. 
 I
t 
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 t
h
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
 b
y
 t
h
e
 j
o
in
t 
fu
n
d
e
d
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
re
e
 L
o
c
a
lit
y
 E
n
a
b
le
rs
 f
o
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
llb
e
in
g
. 

 4
 

 

Page 141



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

2
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 

th
e
 P
C
T
’s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

m
in
o
r 
s
u
rg
e
ry
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

to
 t
h
is
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

b
o
a
rd
 a
t 
th
e
 e
a
rl
ie
s
t 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
m
in
o
r 
s
u
rg
e
ry
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 c
a
re
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
w
s
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
r 
u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 s
e
t 
g
o
a
ls
 f
o
r 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 u
p
ta
k
e
. 
W
e
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
m
in
o
r 
s
u
rg
e
ry
 t
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 
 

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 n
o
w
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 B
a
s
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 w
e
 c
a
n
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
 f
o
r 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 l
o
c
a
lly
. 
W
e
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 T
e
a
c
h
in
g
 H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 N
H
S
 T
ru
s
t 
(L
T
H
T
) 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 n
e
w
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
fa
s
te
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 (
1
8
 w
e
e
k
s
).
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 P
B
C
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 w
e
 c
a
n
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
 f
o
r 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 

 

 4
 

 

3
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

p
ro
v
id
e
s
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 t
h
is
 

B
o
a
rd
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
8
/9
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

L
IF
T
 f
in
a
n
c
e
d
 

h
e
a
lt
h
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

S
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
a
s
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
c
lin
ic
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 e
it
h
e
r 
re
lo
c
a
te
d
 o
r 
p
ro
v
id
e
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
 L
IF
T
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
. 
 T
h
e
 

P
C
T
 i
s
 k
e
e
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 i
s
 k
e
p
t 
u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
 o
n
 t
h
e
s
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 
 D
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

le
n
g
th
 o
f 
ti
m
e
 i
t 
ta
k
e
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 o
f 
th
is
 n
a
tu
re
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

in
 s
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
’ 
ti
m
e
. 
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

O
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
s
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
’s
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

L
IF
T
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
. 
 T
h
is
 h
a
s
 f
o
c
u
s
s
e
d
 m
a
in
ly
 o
n
 t
h
e
 u
n
d
e
r-
u
ti
lis
e
d
 s
p
a
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
o
u
th
 o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
 w
h
ic
h
 

h
a
s
 s
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
A
rt
if
ic
ia
l 
E
y
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
lo
c
a
te
 t
o
 P
a
rk
s
id
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 f
ro
m
 

u
n
s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 H
u
n
s
le
t.
  
P
a
rk
s
id
e
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 u
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 t
e
a
m
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
ly
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 F
a
m
ily
 N
u
rs
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 P
ro
je
c
t,
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 a
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

to
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 a
n
 a
d
m
in
 b
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
. 
 A
t 
A
rm

le
y
 M
o
o
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 a
 n
e
w
 t
w
ili
g
h
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 n
u
rs
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
u
p
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
o
o
k
e
d
 A
ft
e
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 

n
u
rs
e
s
’ 
te
a
m
 e
x
p
a
n
d
e
d
. 
 I
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
, 
H
a
rr
o
g
a
te
 a
n
d
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 T
ru
s
t 
b
e
g
a
n
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

d
e
rm

a
to
lo
g
y
 o
u
tp
a
ti
e
n
t 
c
lin
ic
s
 a
t 
W
e
th
e
rb
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
.  
  

 4
 

 

 

Page 142



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

   
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

4
 
T
h
a
t,
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

s
u
m
m
e
r 
o
f 
2
0
0
8
, 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 c
a
rr
ie
s
 

o
u
t 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
 w
h
a
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
p
e
n
in
g
 t
im
e
s
 l
o
c
a
l 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
o
u
ld
 l
ik
e
 t
o
 

s
e
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 n
e
w
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 

th
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 

th
is
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 

a
t 
th
e
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 l
is
te
n
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 w
h
e
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t/
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
in
g
 t
im
e
s
 f
o
r 
G
P
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 w
a
y
s
: 

•
 
C
it
y
w
id
e
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 G
P
-l
e
d
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 

•
 
G
P
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 

•
 
E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 J
o
in
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 

•
 
E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 G
P
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 R
o
th
w
e
ll,
 M
id
d
le
to
n
 a
n
d
 S
w
ill
in
g
to
n
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 a
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 a
b
o
v
e
. 

   

 2
 

 

5
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

k
e
e
p
s
 t
h
is
 B
o
a
rd
 

in
fo
rm
e
d
 o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

o
f 
re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 

o
v
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 

m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
y
e
a
r.
 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 P
C
T
 B
o
a
rd
 s
ig
n
e
d
-o
ff
 t
h
e
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 
T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 b
y
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 w
o
rk
 (
£
1
.1
 m

ill
io
n
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t)
; 
a
n
d
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
a
rb
o
n
-r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

(£
0
.8
 m
ill
io
n
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t)
. 
 T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 o
u
t 
to
 t
e
n
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d
 b
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
. 
 O
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 f
ir
s
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
s
 t
h
e
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

B
u
rm

a
n
to
ft
s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 h
o
s
t 
th
e
 G
P
-l
e
d
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 M
e
d
ic
a
l 
C
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 

e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

T
e
n
d
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 o
u
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
ri
n
g
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 V
e
n
tu
re
s
 (
L
e
e
d
s
) 

L
im
it
e
d
. 
A
ft
e
r 
a
 f
o
rm

a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 t
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 I
M
S
 L
im
it
e
d
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
o
f 
a
ro
u
n
d
 £
2
.0
m
, 
fo
r 
b
a
c
k
lo
g
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
u
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
. 

T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 p
ro
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 V
e
n
tu
re
s
 (
L
e
e
d
s
) 
L
im
it
e
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
im
e
 a
n
d
 w
e
 w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
ll 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 b
y
 3
1
.3
.2
0
0
9
. 
 

£
0
.3
2
m
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
llo
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 B
u
rm

a
n
to
ft
s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 G
P
-l
e
d
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

o
n
it
o
re
d
 

c
a
re
fu
lly
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 f
in
a
n
c
e
s
, 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
. 

 2
 

 

Page 143



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

6
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 

W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
 H
o
s
p
it
a
l,
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 2
0
0
8
, 
b
e
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
in
 

th
e
 m
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8
/9
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 T
e
a
c
h
in
g
 H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 T
ru
s
t 
(L
T
H
T
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
. 

 L
T
H
T
 i
s
 p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 p
a
p
e
r 
to
 t
h
e
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
B
o
a
rd
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 
th
e
ir
 P
e
ri
p
h
e
ra
l 

H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

 E
x
tr
a
c
t 
fr
o
m
 P
e
ri
p
h
e
ra
l 
H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 p
a
p
e
r 

W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
 H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
(W

H
) 
w
a
s
 o
p
e
n
e
d
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
4
. 
 I
t 
is
 a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 t
h
a
t 
w
a
s
 

d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
 a
n
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 O
tl
e
y
 t
h
a
t 

a
re
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
 I
n
 t
h
e
 t
h
re
e
 a
n
d
 a
 h
a
lf
 y
e
a
rs
 s
in
c
e
 i
t 
o
p
e
n
e
d
, 
th
e
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 h
a
v
e
 s
tr
u
g
g
le
d
 t
o
 u
ti
lis
e
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
W
H
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 
 I
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
, 
th
e
 L
T
H
T
 B
o
a
rd
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
W
H
, 

w
h
ic
h
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 j
o
in
tl
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
. 
 T
h
is
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
 

a
n
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
W
H
. 

 S
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
th
e
 T
ru
s
t 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
 b
e
tt
e
r 

u
ti
lis
e
d
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 p
a
ra
m
e
te
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
7
/8
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
y
m
p
h
o
d
e
m
a
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
lo
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 W

H
. 
 D
u
ri
n
g
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
, 
a
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 C
lin
ic
a
l 
D
ir
e
c
to
rs
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 T
ru
s
t 
w
e
re
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
: 

•
 
H
o
w
 m

ig
h
t 
th
e
y
 b
e
tt
e
r 
u
ti
lis
e
/e
x
p
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 v
o
lu
m
e
 o
f 
a
n
y
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
?
 

•
 
A
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
y
 n
e
w
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
e
it
h
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
r 
th
e
 w
h
o
le
 c
it
y
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

re
lo
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 W

h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
?
 

T
h
is
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 a
 l
o
n
g
lis
t 
o
f 
p
ro
je
c
ts
. 
 S
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
b
e
in
g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/9
: 
 

•
 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 2
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
s
. 
A
 p
la
n
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 o
f 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 9
0
%
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
lis
ts
 (
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 i
n
 

2
0
0
7
/8
 w
a
s
 6
6
%
).
  

•
 
E
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 4
 c
h
a
ir
 l
o
w
 r
is
k
 c
h
e
m
o
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

•
 
F
u
ll 
u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
n
d
o
s
c
o
p
y
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 (
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 E
n
d
o
s
c
o
p
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
a
s
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 a
n
d
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 r
is
in
g
) 

•
 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 o
u
tp
a
ti
e
n
t 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 r
o
ll 
o
u
t 
o
f 
d
ir
e
c
t 
b
o
o
k
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 o
f 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 t
o
 a
llo
c
a
te
 t
ru
s
t 
b
o
o
k
e
d
 p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 t
o
 W

H
 

•
 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 r
a
d
io
lo
g
y
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
s
s
ib
ly
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
b
re
a
s
t 

s
c
re
e
n
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ty
. 
  

 2
 

 

Page 144



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

 

W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 m

o
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 A
 k
e
y
 a
re
a
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
, 
d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
ri
m
a
ry
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
lo
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 

W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
. 
T
h
is
 m
ig
h
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
, 
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
G
P
 a
n
d
 G
P
S
I 
le
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
  
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
o
d
ia
tr
y
, 
s
u
b
s
ta
n
c
e
 u
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
 f
a
lls
 c
lin
ic
s
 a
n
d
 a
u
d
io
lo
g
y
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
s
o
m
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 c
a
re
 b
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 b
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 a
t 
W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 

e
x
p
lo
re
d
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 (
C
O
P
D
, 
c
h
ro
n
ic
 v
a
s
c
u
la
r 
d
is
e
a
s
e
 e
tc
) 
s
o
 t
h
a
t,
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
s
e
 c
a
re
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 o
u
ts
id
e
 a
n
 a
c
u
te
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
s
e
tt
in
g
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
  
W
e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
a
n
d
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
s
u
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

a
t 
W
h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
. 
B
o
th
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 L
T
H
T
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
fi
n
d
in
g
 a
 m
ix
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 u
ti
lis
e
 

th
e
 W

H
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
, 
a
n
d
 r
e
m
a
in
s
, 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
. 
 W

e
 a
re
 j
o
in
tl
y
 a
im
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 

p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
5
 y
e
a
rs
 b
y
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
 2
0
0
8
/9
. 
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 L
T
H
T
 

S
e
e
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 

T
h
e
 u
rg
e
n
t 
c
a
re
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
in
 L
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 W

e
s
t 
Y
o
rk
s
h
ir
e
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 
F
ro
m
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 L
o
c
a
l 
C
a
re
 D
ir
e
c
t 
, 
a
 s
o
c
ia
l 
e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 c
o
m
p
a
n
y
, 
w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 d
e
n
ta
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
m
in
o
r 
ill
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
ju
ry
 w
a
lk
-i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
t 
S
t 
G
e
o
rg
e
’s
 C
e
n
tr
e
 a
n
d
 W

h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
 H
o
s
p
it
a
l,
 

a
n
d
 G
P
 o
u
t-
o
f-
h
o
u
rs
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
m
e
 v
is
it
s
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
a
tt
e
r 
c
e
n
tr
e
s
 i
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 

L
e
x
ic
o
n
 H
o
u
s
e
. 
 

 T
h
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 W

h
a
rf
e
d
a
le
 H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
re
: 

o
 
In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
G
P
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
ts
 o
u
t-
o
f-
h
o
u
rs
 &
 w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
  

o
 
E
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 n
u
rs
e
-l
e
d
 m
in
o
r 
ill
n
e
s
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

o
 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
a
m
le
s
s
 c
a
re
 p
a
th
w
a
y
s
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
o
n
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 b
o
th
 m
in
o
r 

in
ju
ry
 &
 i
lln
e
s
s
 w
a
lk
-i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 o
u
t-
o
f-
h
o
u
rs
 G
P
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
ts
 

 

 

Page 145



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

   
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

7
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 m
a
k
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 :
 

•
 
P
ro
d
u
c
e
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

in
 p
la
in
 E
n
g
li
s
h
 

•
 
O
ff
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

c
o
n
ta
c
t 
fo
r 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 

e
x
p
la
in
 t
e
n
d
e
r 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
s
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

b
a
c
k
 t
o
 t
h
is
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 

b
y
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
. 
 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 C
a
re
 T
ru
s
t 
(P
C
T
) 

T
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 a
rr
a
n
g
in
g
 p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
ta
ff
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
p
ro
d
u
c
in
g
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 (
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
).
  
T
h
is
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 o
u
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c
le
a
r 
a
n
d
 c
o
n
c
is
e
. 
 T
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 ‘
s
ty
le
 

g
u
id
e
’ 
to
 m
a
k
e
 s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
it
 h
a
s
 c
le
a
r 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 a
 P
a
ti
e
n
t 
R
e
a
d
e
r 
G
ro
u
p
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
, 
la
y
o
u
t,
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
ty
le
 

o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
’s
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
le
a
fl
e
ts
 a
n
d
 s
o
m
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
. 
 W

e
 a
re
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 a
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 s
u
re
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
le
a
fl
e
ts
 a
re
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
 b
e
fo
re
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
is
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 o
u
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 l
o
g
ic
a
l,
 e
a
s
y
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 a
n
d
 j
a
rg
o
n
 f
re
e
. 
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 F
a
it
h
 s
e
c
to
r 
(V
C
F
s
) 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 t
h
e
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 b
y
 h
o
ld
in
g
 ‘
b
id
d
e
r’
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 e
x
p
la
in
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 e
q
u
it
y
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
h
e
 C
h
ie
f 
O
ff
ic
e
r,
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
s
k
e
d
 t
o
 p
re
p
a
re
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 r
e
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 w
it
h
in
 a
d
u
lt
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
. 
In
 t
h
is
 

re
p
o
rt
 a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
ra
w
n
 t
o
 a
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 t
o
o
lk
it
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
 s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
 w
h
ic
h
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
. 
 T
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
s
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
b
y
 t
h
e
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 a
t 
it
s
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 1
7
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 

O
n
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 c
o
u
rs
e
 h
a
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 h
a
v
e
 t
w
o
 m
o
re
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
.  
T
h
e
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
ti
e
n
t 
R
e
a
d
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
 i
s
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 b
y
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
is
 g
ro
u
p
. 
 T
h
e
 g
ro
u
p
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
p
a
n
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t 

s
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 i
t 
to
 r
e
v
ie
w
 m

o
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
w
o
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 a
n
d
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 d
e
ta
ili
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 w
it
h
 s
m
a
lle
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 s
u
c
h
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 t
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 
T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 h
o
w
 s
u
c
h
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 p
ro
m
o
te
d
 i
n
 n
o
n
-t
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
e
d
. 

 2
 

 

Page 146



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

8
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 

th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 

in
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
, 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

fo
r,
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
e
y
 

s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
, 
C
h
o
o
s
in
g
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 

2
0
0
7
/8
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

T
h
e
 b
o
a
rd
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 b
re
a
k
in
g
 d
o
w
n
 h
o
w
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 s
p
e
n
t 
it
s
 f
u
ll 
2
0
0
6
/2
0
0
7
 C
h
o
o
s
in
g
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
£
1
.6
7
m
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
  

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 t
o
 a
d
d
. 

 2
 

 

9
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

g
iv
e
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

to
 r
e
p
li
c
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 o
u
t 

o
f 
h
o
u
rs
 d
e
n
ta
l 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
t 
L
e
x
ic
o
n
 

H
o
u
s
e
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

b
e
tt
e
r 
c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
o
r 

a
re
a
s
 o
u
ts
id
e
 t
h
e
 

c
it
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 t
e
n
d
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
u
rg
e
n
t 
c
a
re
, 
in
-h
o
u
rs
 a
n
d
 o
u
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
rs
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 

c
o
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
 d
ia
lo
g
u
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
w
h
e
re
b
y
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
s
e
t 
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
, 

b
u
t 
in
s
te
a
d
 l
o
o
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
id
d
e
rs
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
s
 t
o
 h
o
w
 p
a
ti
e
n
ts
’ 
n
e
e
d
s
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
s
t 
b
e
 

m
e
t,
 u
s
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
T
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 u
rg
e
n
t 
c
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

L
o
c
a
l 
C
a
re
 D
ir
e
c
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 b
o
th
 o
u
t-
o
f-
h
o
u
rs
 d
e
n
ta
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 D
e
n
ta
l 
A
c
c
e
s
s
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 M
o
n
d
a
y
-F
ri
d
a
y
, 
fr
o
m
 1

s
t  
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 m

a
x
im
is
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 s
tr
e
a
m
lin
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
. 
L
e
x
ic
o
n
 H
o
u
s
e
 l
e
a
s
e
 i
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 e
x
p
ir
e
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 e
x
p
lo
re
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 e
s
ta
te
 w
ill
 b
e
g
in
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 i
n
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
. 

 2
 

 

Page 147



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

   
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

1
0
 
T
h
a
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

g
iv
e
s
 a
n
 a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 

to
 t
h
is
 B
o
a
rd
 t
h
a
t 
it
 

in
te
n
d
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

in
te
rm
e
d
ia
te
 c
a
re
 

b
e
d
s
 a
t 
M
id
d
le
c
ro
s
s
 

h
o
m
e
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 C
a
re
 T
ru
s
t 
(P
C
T
) 

T
h
e
 M
id
d
le
c
ro
s
s
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 f
iv
e
 b
e
d
s
 w
it
h
in
 a
 t
o
ta
l 
o
f 
1
5
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 b
e
d
s
. 
 A
ll 
o
f 
th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 f
o
r 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 P
ro
je
c
ts
 (
P
O
P
P
s
) 
p
ilo
ts
 a
re
 

s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
b
o
th
 q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

w
ill
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 m
a
in
s
tr
e
a
m
 p
ro
je
c
ts
. 
It
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 T
ie
r 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 i
s
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 b
u
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
’s
 C
a
re
 C
lo
s
e
r 
to
 H
o
m
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 t
y
p
e
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
 t
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 T
ie
r 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
; 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
 p
la
n
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 B
e
d
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 b
e
d
s
 

w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
h
e
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
it
h
in
 M
id
d
le
c
ro
s
s
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

y
e
a
r 
(A
p
ri
l 
0
8
 –
 M
a
rc
h
 0
9
) 
w
it
h
 a
 c
o
m
b
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
P
O
P
P
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 s
lip
p
a
g
e
, 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

a
n
d
 P
C
T
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 
T
h
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
O
P
P
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
. 
 T
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
it
s
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 n
e
w
 a
n
d
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 w
a
y
s
 o
f 
p
ro
v
id
in
g
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
 

a
v
o
id
a
n
c
e
, 
e
a
rl
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 d
is
c
h
a
rg
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 a
n
d
 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
n
e
e
d
s
. 
 P
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
s
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 a
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
t 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
0
8
. 
F
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
is
 e
v
e
n
t 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 t
e
a
m
s
 

w
it
h
in
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
. 
T
h
is
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 o
th
e
r 
P
O
P
P
 

p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 “
w
h
o
le
 s
y
s
te
m
” 
p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o
f 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 

T
h
e
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
D
e
m
e
n
ti
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
la
c
e
s
 a
n
 e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
a
re
 

fo
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
. 
T
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
ll 
th
e
 P
O
P
P
s
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
s
 n
o
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
. 
T
h
e
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 N
H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
iv
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 c
a
re
 b
e
d
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
e
m
e
n
ti
a
. 
N
H
S
 

L
e
e
d
s
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
fi
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 a
t 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
. 

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 o
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
, 
th
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 1
2
th
 M
a
rc
h
. 

 2
 

 

Page 148



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

  
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

1
1
 
T
h
a
t 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 e
x
p
lo
re
s
 

th
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
il
it
y
 o
f 

in
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 ‘
tr
ia
l 

ru
n
s
’ 
a
t 
h
o
m
e
 f
o
r 

p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 

d
is
c
h
a
rg
e
 f
ro
m
 

R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
 H
o
u
s
e
, 
to
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 h
o
w
 w
e
ll
 

th
e
y
 w
il
l 
c
o
p
e
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

E
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 i
n
 a
 C
IC
 b
e
d
 a
t 
R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
 H
o
u
s
e
 h
a
s
 a
 f
u
ll 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ile
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 t
h
e
re
. 
T
h
is
 c
a
n
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 a
 h
o
m
e
 v
is
it
 a
n
d
 c
e
rt
a
in
ly
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 f
u
ll 
e
x
p
lo
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 r
e
tu
rn
 h
o
m
e
. 
 

M
o
s
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
tu
rn
in
g
 h
o
m
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 C
IC
 b
e
d
s
 d
o
 s
o
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 

T
e
a
m
. 
T
h
e
y
 a
re
 t
h
e
n
 r
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
t 
h
o
m
e
 b
y
 a
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
C
a
re
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 i
n
 

c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 I
C
T
. 
If
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
 C
a
re
 P
la
n
 i
s
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 

G
a
te
k
e
e
p
in
g
 P
a
n
e
l.
  

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 o
c
c
a
s
io
n
s
 w
h
e
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
tu
rn
 h
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
tu
rn
 h
o
m
e
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
s
u
c
c
e
e
d
. 
In
 s
o
m
e
 

c
a
s
e
s
 p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
n
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 t
o
 a
 C

IC
 b
e
d
 a
t 
R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
 H

o
u
s
e
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 w

e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 

c
a
re
fu
lly
 a
t 
th
is
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
s
e
 n
e
e
d
 i
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
re
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

c
a
re
 d
o
 n
o
t 
re
tu
rn
 t
o
 a
 C
IC
 b
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
a
it
 t
h
e
re
, 
p
o
s
s
ib
ly
 f
o
r 
s
e
v
e
ra
l 
w
e
e
k
s
, 
w
h
e
n
 a
 C
IC
 b
e
d
 i
s
 n
o
 

lo
n
g
e
r 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 

 A
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 f
le
x
ib
le
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
n
c
e
rt
a
in
ti
e
s
, 
it
 i
s
 f
e
lt
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 ‘
tr
ia
l 
ru
n
’ 
w
ill
 o
n
ly
 a
d
d
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
n
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 s
te
p
 i
n
 w
h
a
t 
is
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 a
 v
e
ry
 

th
o
ro
u
g
h
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 

 1
 

 

Page 149



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

   
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

W
h
e
re
 w
e
 a
re
 u
p
 t
o
  

S
ta
g
e
 
C
o
m
p
le
te
 

1
2
 
T
h
a
t 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 B
a
s
e
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

th
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

•
 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

P
B
C
 F
o
ru
m
 

•
 
p
a
ti
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

p
u
b
li
c
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 

•
 
th
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 c
o
ll
e
a
g
u
e
s
 

o
f 
jo
in
t 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 b
y
 

P
B
C
 

a
re
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 

2
0
0
8
/9
. 

 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 

R
e
c
e
n
t 
re
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 B
a
s
e
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 (
P
B
C
) 
C
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 

o
u
tl
in
e
d
 b
e
lo
w
: 

 

C
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
  

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

H
3
+
 

 
3
1
 

 
2
7
6
4
9
6
 

L
e
o
d
is
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 

 
3
0
 

 
2
0
5
0
9
3
 

N
o
rt
h
 E
a
s
t 
C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 

 
1
3
 

 
1
1
6
2
7
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 C
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
 

 
1
4
 

 
4
9
8
2
8
 

T
h
e
 W

e
th
e
rb
y
 &
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

 
5
 

 
3
3
1
5
5
 

C
h
u
rc
h
 S
tr
e
e
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

 
6
 

 
1
4
9
6
4
 

 
 

 

U
n
a
lig
n
e
d
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 

 
1
4
 

 
9
8
2
6
5
 

 T
h
e
 t
w
o
 l
a
rg
e
s
t 
c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 h
a
v
e
 f
u
lf
ill
e
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
“e
a
rn
e
d
 a
u
to
n
o
m
y
”,
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
n
g
 

th
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
’ 
p
la
n
s
. 

 T
h
e
 P
B
C
 G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 h
a
s
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
m
b
it
io
u
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
la
n
s
 f
o
r 
fi
v
e
 

o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
, 
a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
re
m
a
in
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

A
ll 
P
B
C
 p
la
n
s
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 a
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
to
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 j
o
in
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

 W
e
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
u
n
a
lig
n
e
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 w
ill
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 a
s
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 s
ti
ll 
ta
k
in
g
 

p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 P
B
C
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
. 
 A
t 
le
a
s
t 
s
e
v
e
n
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
re
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 P
B
C
 a
s
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r,
 a
n
d
 o
n
ly
 t
w
o
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
it
y
 h
a
v
e
 d
e
c
lin
e
d
 t
o
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 P
B
C
 a
t 
th
is
 s
ta
g
e
. 

 P
la
n
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P
B
C
 F
o
ru
m
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
tr
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
P
C
T
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

P
B
C
. 
 I
t 
is
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 s
h
a
d
o
w
 f
o
rm

 f
ro
m
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
. 

 T
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
h
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
P
B
C
. 
T
h
e
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 P
B
C
 t
e
a
m
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 

d
ir
e
c
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 P
B
C
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 a
n
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 o
th
e
r 
P
C
T
 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 F
in
a
n
c
e
, 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
, 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 
P
a
ti
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
u
b
lic
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
(P
P
I)
, 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
 h
a
s
 i
n
v
e
s
te
d
 i
n
 a
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 P
B
C
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
y
s
te
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

e
n
a
b
le
s
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
. 

 

 3
 

 

Page 150



L
o
c
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
  

 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
li
s
h
e
d
 M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
L
a
s
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 K
e
y
 

1
 –
 s
to
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

3
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
o
b
s
ta
c
le
) 

5
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

2
 –
 A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

4
 –
 n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 (
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
) 

6
 –
 n
o
t 
fo
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
h
is
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

 

P
B
C
 p
la
n
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
s
c
ri
b
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
p
a
ti
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
e
s
ig
n
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
A
ll 
P
B
C
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

a
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
u
d
it
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
P
I 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 m
o
re
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
s
 a
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
 l
e
v
e
l.
 S
o
m
e
 c
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 h
a
v
e
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 o
r 

a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 l
a
y
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 B
o
a
rd
s
. 
T
h
e
 P
C
T
’s
 P
P
I 
te
a
m
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fo
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 r
e
d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
T
h
e
 P
a
ti
e
n
t 
A
d
v
is
o
ry
 G
ro
u
p
, 
w
it
h
 

a
 w
id
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 f
ro
m
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
, 

re
v
ie
w
s
 a
ll 
P
B
C
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 a
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
s
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 P
B
C
 G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
. 

 S
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
B
C
 –
 f
o
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
, 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 d
ia
g
n
o
s
ti
c
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
 a
v
o
id
a
n
c
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
, 
e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 

c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
, 
g
e
n
it
a
l 
w
a
rt
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
tu
d
e
n
t 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
, 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 1
8
 w
e
e
k
 p
a
th
w
a
y
s
 

–
 a
n
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 a
lm
o
s
t 
£
2
 m
ill
io
n
 w
a
s
 f
re
e
d
 u
p
 f
o
r 
re
in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
P
B
C
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
 m
a
k
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 a
t 
lo
c
a
lit
y
 l
e
v
e
l.
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 A
re
a
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
jo
in
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 u
p
d
a
te
 

 C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
-c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 P
B
C
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 n
o
w
 

fi
v
e
 P
B
C
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
ia
 w
it
h
 1
4
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t.
  
T
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
a
lib
re
 (
fo
rm

e
r 
N
E
 C
o
n
s
o
rt
iu
m
) 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

e
r 
W
e
th
e
rb
y
 G
ro
u
p
 

jo
in
in
g
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
re
e
 P
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w
e
s
t 
a
re
a
 o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
. 
  

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
, 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 d
ri
v
e
 t
o
 r
e
in
v
ig
o
ra
te
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w
o
rk
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
, 
in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 b
a
s
e
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
, 
to
 b
u
ild
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 d
a
te
. 
 T
h
is
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
. 
  

 Y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 w
ill
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 l
a
te
 s
p
ri
n
g
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
 p
la
n
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
. 

 

 

Page 151



Page 152

This page is intentionally left blank



 
SCRUTINY BOARD (HEALTH) LOCALISATION OF SERVICES INQUIRY 

 
WHARFEDALE HOSPITAL  - UPDATE MARCH 2009 

 
 
This briefing paper provides a general update and set out the clinical areas where significant 
changes have happened since September 2008.   
 
Bilberry Unit 

Bilberry Unit opened on Monday 5th January and consists of 13 Community Integrated Care 
(CIC) beds; they are provided by LTHT on behalf of NHS Leeds.  These 13 beds were 
previously an integral part of Ward 1. 

The purpose of the unit is to provide 'sub acute' care closer to home. This is achieved by 
supporting discharge from acute hospital beds into the 'community'. There are many reasons 
why patients sometimes cannot go straight home e.g. patients unable to go home due to being 
alone, or patients who require a period of rehabilitation. Patients being admitted to CIC beds 
should however be medically fit. This means that CIC beds are therapy-led involving multi-
disciplinary working between nurses', physiotherapists and occupational therapists.  

Another key role for the unit is to avoid the need for acute hospital admission for patients who 
may need further assessment, treatment or care which cannot happen at home. They may 
have suffered 'functional decline' and became too dependant to remain at home. Patients 
continue to be cared for by a GP but are not unwell enough to need a hospital admission. 
These patients often benefit from the slower paced environment offered here at Wharfedale.  

Patients and relatives frequently tell us that they want to be cared for 'closer to home' and 
Bilberry Unit's CIC beds allow this to happen, patients and relative frequently welcome this 
environment rather than have to travel to Leeds. 

 
Cancer Treatment Unit 
A new nurse-led cancer treatment service opened at Wharfedale in January 2009. This means 
cancer patients in Otley and the surrounding area together with north Leeds can now benefit 
from chemotherapy and other supportive treatment much closer to home.  
 
Two cancer nurses who currently deliver the treatment at the St James’s Institute of Oncology 
travel to Wharfedale Hospital two days a week to provide this additional service, supported by 
an advanced nursing assistant.  
 
It has been specially tailored to the needs of residents of north Leeds and the surrounding area 
already undergoing treatment at Leeds Teaching Hospitals. A range of chemotherapy as well 
as blood transfusions, iron infusions and other supportive treatment can be safely delivered in 
Wharfedale Hospital, meaning local patients do not have as far to travel. 
 
Patients will have their initial assessment at the regional cancer centre at St James’s and then 
be given the opportunity to have their treatment at Wharfedale Hospital.  

Page 153



The unit is based on the 1st floor of Wharfedale Hospital and can treat six patients at any one 
time. Typically treatment times last from half an hour up to five hours, so the capacity is 
expected to be around 8 patients on each of the two days once the service is fully established. 
 
Day Case Surgery 
As a result of an evaluation of surgical services 6 overnight stay beds have been re-introduced 
3 days per week as of 1st August 2008 with medical support cover for these three days per 
week. 
 
In order to maximise the opportunities for overnight stay it was agreed to rotate the 3 nights on 
a 2 weekly basis. As a result of these changes there has been a rise in session theatre 
utilisation from 66 % in general surgery to 89%. Work continues to investigate how the 
remaining theatre space can be better utilised 
 
Out patient Services 
Out patient activity at the hospital continues to rise with new services being commenced on a 
regular basis. Examples include urology, ENT, a cardiac arrythmia clinic, and a nurse-led 
incontinence clinic. 
 
Direct booking service now available for most of the clinics, those that aren’t available through 
direct booking are being addressed and it is hoped they will be on line soon. Discussions are 
underway with a number of services within the Trust  about setting up additional and new 
clinics at the hospital. 
 
Diabetes care 
Emphasis over the past year has been to give patients the choice of retuning to their GP for 
their care where iot is appropriate.  Wharfedale was unusual in Leeds in providing services that 
could be provided in a primary care within the hospital.   
 
The remaining diabetes service remains stable and new referrals are still being received.  In 
addition a PCT led community diabetes clinic is now being provided out of Wharfedale 
Diabetes Centre (this is in the hospital) by PCT staff to help ensure effective use of resources. 
 
Day Hospital 
The services which were traditionally provided out of the day hospital have now been relocated 
and are provided by the physiotherapy and occupational therapy departments at the hospital.  
This has enabled the vacant space to be used as an educational and multi-use area. 
 
Pre assessment / Preadmissions 
In April an expanded preassessment / preadmission department will transfer into the vacated 
Day Hospital suite.  Since the increase in activity and with better scheduling of patients for 
theatre and new MRSA screening requirements the service needs a bigger department. 
The vacant preassessment department will now enable outpatient services to expand further.   
 
Ward 1 – Older people 
Care for older people remains an important element of hospital care for many people in the 
area.  Currently patients are admitted to the Leeds General Infirmary prior to being transferred 

Page 154



to Wharfedale Hospital.  This gives access to diagnostic tests which only occur on the LGI site 
to be done more quickly before transfer to a more appropriate care environment. 

Ward 1 is able to offer limited direct admission service if beds are available and the patient is 
deemed suitable for the site.   

Urgent Care 
The NHS Leeds urgent care procurement has now been concluded. From April 2009 Local 
Care Direct ,  a social enterprise company, will  provide emergency dental services, minor 
illness and injury walk-in services at Wharfedale Hospital, GP out-of-hours appointments and 
home visits. 
 
The specific changes relating to Wharfedale Hospital are: 
 

- Introduction of GP appointments out-of-hours & weekends  
- Expansion to provide nurse-led minor illness services  
- Improved seamless care pathways as a result of one organisation providing both minor 

injury & illness walk-in services as well as out-of-hours GP appointments 
 
Environment and Infection Control 
Wharfedale continues to perform well against infection control standards. There were no 
MRSA bacteraemias in 2008. C. Diff rates were comparatively low. 
 
In 2008 Wharfedale Hospital was awarded Excellent in all areas in the annual Patient 
Environment Action Team (PEAT) Assessment. This work assesses the environment through 
a user perspective. The team carrying out the assessment includes patient representatives. It 
covers:  

- general and specific cleanliness (toilets and bathrooms) 
- Infection control 
- Environment (overall presentation) 
- Access 
- Safety and security 
- Food 
- Privacy and dignity 

 
Next Steps 
Apart from a small amount of clinic space there is no spare accommodation for new services.  
Our focus now will be to ensure services provided out of Wharfedale are used to their 
maximum potential. 
 
A very successful GP open evening was held at Wharfedale Hospital in January to help raise 
awareness of the services available to local GPs.  Approximately 10% of the local GPs 
attended the evening.  Further sessions will be held in the future as a rolling education / 
information giving session. 
 
LTHT 
March 2009 

Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Health) 
 
Date:  24th March 2009 
 
Subject:  Scrutiny Board (Health) –  Work Programme  
 
 

        
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 At its meeting in July 2008, the Board agreed its outline work programme.  Attached 
at Appendix 1, for the Board’s further consideration is an updated work programme 
for the Scrutiny Board (Health) for the remainder of the current municipal year.  

  
1.2 The Executive Board Minutes for the meeting held on the 4th March 2009 are 

presented at Appendix 2 for information.   
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1         Members are asked to; 
(i) Note the Executive Board minutes  
(ii) Agree the Board’s work programme. 

 
 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

None used 
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: P N Marrington 
 
Tel: 39 51151  

Agenda Item 11

Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

 

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 2
8
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

 

T
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
  

T
h
is
 m
a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
t 
la
te
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
. 

B
 

G
P
-l
e
d
 H
e
a
lt
h
 C
e
n
tr
e
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

C
e
n
tr
e
’s
 o
p
e
n
in
g
. 

 
R
P
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 

 
R
P
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 W

o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

g
ro
u
p
 

 
B
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 a
g
re
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

 
 

Page 159



 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

 

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 u
p
d
a
te
 

D
a
te
s
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
  

C
llr
 G
ra
h
a
m
e
  

C
llr
 L
a
m
b
 

C
llr
 M
c
K
e
n
n
a
 

C
llr
 R
h
o
d
e
s
-C
a
y
to
n
 

E
d
d
ie
 M
a
c
k
  

Ø
 I
n
it
ia
l 
te
rm
s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 o
n
  
2
2
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 

Ø
 R
e
v
is
e
d
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 o
n
 1
6
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

Ø
 8
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 n
o
te
s
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 f
o
r 
S
B
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

h
e
ld
 o
n
 2
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
 

Ø
 6
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 d
is
c
u
s
s
e
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
: 

§
 
P
ro
je
c
t 
u
p
d
a
te
s
 o
n
: 

o
  
C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 G
P
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
; 

o
 U
rg
e
n
t 
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

§
 
N
e
w
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
ro
u
n
d
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 M
e
n
ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

8
 S
e
p
t.
 2
0
0
8
 

6
 O
c
t.
 2
0
0
8
 

1
5
 D
e
c
. 
2
0
0
8
 

3
 F
e
b
. 
2
0
0
9
  

3
0
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

C
llr
 G
ra
h
a
m
e
  

C
llr
 M
o
n
a
g
h
a
n
 

C
llr
 K
ir
k
la
n
d
 

C
llr
 M
c
K
e
n
n
a
 

S
o
m
o
u
d
 S
a
q
fe
lh
a
it
 

Ø
 I
n
it
ia
lly
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
te
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
, 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 e
x
p
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 

th
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
m
o
n
g
 y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 g
e
n
e
ra
l.
 

Ø
 T
e
rm
s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 a
g
re
e
d
  
1
6
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

Ø
 I
n
it
ia
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 9
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 –
 n
o
te
s
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S
B
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 2
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

Ø
 R
e
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 
S
B
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 i
n
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

Ø
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

9
 S
e
p
t.
 2
0
0
8
 

4
 F
e
b
. 
 2
0
0
9
 

Page 160



 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

 

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

  

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 /
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
It
e
m
s
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
B
lo
o
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
  
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 

th
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 

N
H
S
 B
lo
o
d
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
la
n
t,
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
lo
s
u
re
 
o
f 

th
e
 
b
lo
o
d
 
te
s
ti
n
g
 
a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 c
e
n
tr
e
 w
it
h
in
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
  

A
t 
it
s
 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 
in
 
J
u
ly
 
2
0
0
8
, 
th
e
 
B
o
a
rd
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 
to
 
th
e
 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 
o
f 
N
H
S
 
B
lo
o
d
 
a
n
d
 
T
ra
n
s
p
la
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
c
lo
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 

b
lo
o
d
 t
e
s
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 c
e
n
tr
e
 w
it
h
in
 

L
e
e
d
s
 
a
n
d
 
tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
in
g
 
it
s
 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
to
 

o
th
e
r 
c
e
n
tr
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 N
o
rt
h
 o
f 
E
n
g
la
n
d
. 

 T
h
e
 
B
o
a
rd
 
re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 
a
n
d
 
re
c
e
iv
e
d
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
 A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
  

 In
 
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 
2
0
0
9
, 
N
H
S
 
B
lo
o
d
 
a
n
d
 

T
ra
n
s
p
la
n
t 
w
e
re
 c
o
n
ta
c
te
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

to
 c
la
ri
fy
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 
to
 

th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
–
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

in
 
te
rm
s
 
o
f 
th
e
 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 
L
e
e
d
s
 
s
it
e
 
a
t 

S
e
a
c
ro
ft
. 

Page 161



 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

 

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 /
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
It
e
m
s
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

C
li
n
ic
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 R
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 –
 

F
u
ll
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 C
a
s
e
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 o
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
a
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

re
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
. 

T
h
e
 
B
o
a
rd
 
h
a
s
 
b
e
e
n
 
u
p
d
a
te
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
fo
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 
H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
th
e
 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 
to
 
d
a
te
 
a
n
d
 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 
fo
r 
th
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 

 C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
o
f 
th
e
 
fu
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 
c
a
s
e
 

w
a
s
 
o
ri
g
in
a
lly
 
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 
fo
r 
N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
, 
b
u
t 
is
 u
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
e
fo
re
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
re
c
is
e
 t
im
in
g
 i
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

 

C
li
n
ic
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 R
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 –
 

Im
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
A
d
u
lt
 M
e
d
ic
in
e
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

o
n
 a
d
u
lt
 m
e
d
ic
in
e
. 

T
h
e
 
B
o
a
rd
 
h
a
s
 
b
e
e
n
 
u
p
d
a
te
d
 
o
n
 
th
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
fo
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 
H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 
th
e
 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 
to
 
d
a
te
 
a
n
d
 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 
fo
r 
th
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 

 A
t 
it
s
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
, 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

a
g
re
e
d
 
to
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 
im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 
a
n
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
n
 

a
d
u
lt
 m
e
d
ic
in
e
 a
t 
a
 f
u
tu
re
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 (
to
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
).
 

Page 162



 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
H
e
a
lt
h
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

 

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 /
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
It
e
m
s
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

S
p
e
c
ia
li
s
e
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

s
p
e
c
ia
lis
e
d
 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 
w
it
h
in
 
th
e
 

re
g
io
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
o
le
 o
f 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
. 

T
h
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
H
e
a
lt
h
 (
D
o
H
) 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 /
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
in
g
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 m
a
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t.
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 C
a
re
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 
fu
tu
re
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 
fo
r 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 
N
H
S
 

c
a
re
, 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
to
 
th
e
 
re
p
o
rt
 
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 
to
 

th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
. 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fo
rm
a
t 
a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 o
f 
a
n
y
 

re
p
o
rt
, 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ro
le
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

B
o
a
rd
 
a
n
d
 
th
a
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
A
d
u
lt
 
S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
. 

L
e
e
d
s
 T
e
a
c
h
in
g
 H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 N
H
S
 T
ru
s
t 
–
 

fo
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
tu
s
  

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 
L
e
e
d
s
 
T
e
a
c
h
in
g
 
H
o
s
p
it
a
ls
 
N
H
S
 

T
ru
s
t 
b
id
 
to
 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
 
fo
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

s
ta
tu
s
. 

 

 

Page 163



Page 164

This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 4TH MARCH, 2009 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Carter in the Chair 

 Councillors R Brett, J L Carter, R Finnigan, 
S Golton, R Harker, P Harrand, J Procter, 
S Smith and K Wakefield 

 
 Councillor J Blake – Non Voting Advisory Member 

 
 
 

207 Exclusion of the Public  
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated exempt on the 
grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so designated as 
follows: 
 
(a) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in minute 211 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information because publication could 
prejudice the Council’s commercial interests by prejudicing sensitive 
negotiations currently underway with private sector investors to secure 
a contribution to the schemes. 

 
(b) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in minute 214 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure on the grounds that it contains commercially 
sensitive information about the respective financial and business affairs 
and commercial positions of the Council and Bidders. 

 
(c) The appendix to the report referred to in minute 225 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that 
it contains information relating to ongoing negotiations that are 
confidential and/or commercially sensitive.  In these circumstances it is 
considered that the public interest in not disclosing this information 
outweighs the interests of disclosure. 

 
 

208 Declaration of Interests  
Councillor Brett declared a personal interest in the item relating to Brooksbank 
– Completion of Residential Care Strategy (minute 223) as a member of 
Burmantofts Senior Action Management Committee. 
 

Page 165



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

Councillor Wakefield declared personal interests in the items relating to The 
National Challenge and Structural Change to Secondary Provision (minute 
217) and the Machinery of Government Changes and 14-19 Commissioning 
(minute 218) as a governor of Leeds City College and Brigshaw School. 
 
Councillors J Procter, Harrand and Blake declared personal interests in the 
item relating to the City Varieties Music Hall (minute 222) as members of the 
Grand Theatre and Opera House Board. 
 
Councillor Blake declared a personal interest in the items relating to the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (minute 224) and Joint Service Centres (minute 
225) as a non-Executive Director of Leeds NHS Primary Care Trust. 
 
Councillor Finnigan declared, in relation to minute 225, that as a member of 
the Plans Panel (East) he had been involved in the planning approvals for the 
Chapeltown Centre. 
 

209 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 13th February 2009 be 
approved. 
 
 

210 Chair's Announcement  
The Chair reported on discussions which he had had with ITV in connection 
with local job losses at the company and the intention of the Council to work 
with the company and former employees to ameliorate the situation. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

211 Refurbishment of Kirkgate and Bond Street, Leeds City Centre  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the proposed scheme 
design for the refurbishment of the pedestrianised section of Kirkgate that is 
bounded by Briggate and Vicar Lane and the refurbishment of Bond Street.  
Following consideration of appendix 1 to this report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That approval be given to the scheme design as outlined in the report. 
(b) That approval be given to the injection of funding into the Capital 

Programme together with authority to incur expenditure as identified in 
the exempt appendix to the report. 

 
212 Legible Leeds Project  

The Director of City Development submitted a report on proposals to improve 
the legibility of Leeds City Centre by investing in the pedestrian wayfinding 
system. 
 
RESOLVED – 

Page 166



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

(a) That approval be given in principle to the phased implementation of a 
new contemporary on-street wayfinding system, the first phase 
focusing on the central retail area, as indicated in the report; 

(b) That the Director of City Development be requested to work up a 
detailed design and costed programme of works, and to progress 
funding proposals to a total cost of £1,200,000. 

 
213 The Former Headingley Primary School  

Referring to minute 115 of the meeting held on 14th November 2007 the 
Director of City Development and the Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods submitted a joint report detailing a proposal of Headingley 
ward members, on behalf of the Headingley Development Trust, for the 
Council to provide £500,000 to enable the Trust to develop its ‘Heart’ proposal 
at the former Headingley Primary School. 
 
The report contained officer commentary on the current proposal from the  
Trust, the risks associated with the proposal and the steps which the Council 
could take in mitigation of those risks should members be minded to support 
the proposal. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That, having regard to all that is said in paragraph 8 of the report:- 
 (i) the request from Headingley Development Trust for the transfer 

of the former Headingley Primary School to the Trust be 
approved; and 

 (ii) Council funding, in the amount of £500,000, be made available 
to support the scheme 

(b) That the transfer and the funding be subject to the imposition of the 
conditions outlined in paragraph 9.1 of the report. 

 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

214 Little London and Beeston Hill and Holbeck Round 5 PFI Housing 
Project - Impact of Wider Economic Changes on Project Scope  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
providing an update on the procurement of the Housing PFI Project covering 
Little London and Beeston Hill and Holbeck, including issues arising from bids 
received at the ‘Detailed Solutions’ stage of the procurement exercise and 
proposed changes to the scope of the project. 
 
The proposed changes to the scope of the project were summarised as 
follows: 

• removal of the Development Agreement including the removal of 
disposal of land for construction of private homes for sale 

• retention of Meynell Heights for refurbishment 

• removal of three development sites in Beeston Hill and Holbeck 
(Waverley Garth, Malvern Rise/Grove, Cambrian Street) and two sites 
in Little London (Leicester Place and Cambridge Road) 

• removal of parts of the Holbeck Towers and Carlton Gate sites 

Page 167



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

• reduction in PFI new build development in Beeston Hill and Holbeck 
from 350 to 275 units. 

 
Following consideration of appendix 1 to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED - 
(a) That approval be given to the changes to the PFI project scope as set 

out in the submitted report and in Appendices 2 and 3 thereto and that 
they be referred to the Homes and Communities Agency for approval. 

(b) That the opportunity to consider land removed from the PFI project 
scope at this stage for alternative residential development be noted. 

(c) That the revised timetable for the Invitation to Submit Refinement of 
Solutions and Final Tender stages of procurement be noted. 

(d) That the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods be requested to 
ensure that the annual review of the Lettings Policy considers options 
for the policy to be tailored to localised needs within the City. 

 
215 The EASEL and West Leeds Gateway Worklessness Project  

The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report outlining 
the approach taken to addressing worklessness following the Round Table 
discussions which had taken place with the Minister for Local Government, 
elected members, officers and partners. 
 
RESOLVED – That the project, as outlined in the report, be endorsed and that 
a further report be brought to the Board on the outcome of the evaluation. 
 

216 Under Occupation Scheme  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
providing an update on the under occupation scheme launched in July 2008 
and outlining proposals on how to encourage further customers who are 
currently under occupying to downsize. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That, having noted that the scheme had released 27 homes up to 

January 2009, approval be given to the continuation of the scheme in 
2009/10. 

(b) That the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods works with the 
Leeds ALMOs and the Belle Isle Tenants Management Organisation to 
increase the level of support offered to customers on the scheme. 

 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

217 The National Challenge and Structural Change to Secondary Provision 
in Leeds - Progress Report  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report outlining 
recommended options for delivering the next phase in structuring secondary 
provision in Leeds, and in particular, the response to the National Challenge. 
 

Page 168



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

The report outlined options in relation to the individual elements of the Central 
Leeds Learning Federation, Primrose High School, City of Leeds High School, 
Parklands Girls’ High School, Boston Spa School and Wetherby High School 
in Outer North East Leeds and presented two composite options dependent 
on the availability of BSF funding as follows: 
 
OPTION A: If BSF Funding Is Available To Leeds 
 
The Central Leeds Learning Federation 
To propose that the Federation be dissolved and that the possibilities and 
opportunities of Trust developments be explored as other structural options 
are developed. 
 
Primrose High School 
To consult on a proposal that Primrose High School should be closed and be 
replaced by an Academy which should open in September 2010. 
 
City of Leeds 
To consult on a proposal that City of Leeds School should be closed and be 
replaced by an Academy which should open on the City of Leeds site in 
September 2010.  To propose that the Academy be moved to new build 
provision in East Leeds as soon as possible and using the current site for girls 
only provision. 
 
Parklands Girls High School 
To consult on a proposal that Parklands Girls’ High School should be closed 
and replaced by an Academy which should open in September 2010.  It is 
intended that the Academy sponsor and the associated partners would help 
the school focus on developing academic and vocational excellence.  The 
Academy should be moved to the City of Leeds site as it becomes available.  
The current site would be further developed through BSF and used for new 
mixed secondary provision to meet the demand for secondary places in the 
area. 
 
Outer NE Leeds 
To consult on a proposal to establish a federation between Boston Spa 
School and Wetherby High School which would move into newly-built 
provision in Outer North East Leeds to cater for young people living in Boston 
Spa and Wetherby.  Such a federation could also become a sponsor for a 
new build provision in East Leeds with full extended services provision and 
incorporating community and special educational needs provision. 
 
OPTION B: If No BSF Funding Is Available To Leeds 
 
The Central Leeds Learning Federation 
To propose that the Federation be dissolved and the possibilities and 
opportunities of Trust developments be explored as other structural options 
are developed. 
 
Primrose High School 

Page 169



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

To consult on a proposal that Primrose High School should be closed and be 
replaced by an Academy which should open in September 2010. 
 
 
City of Leeds 
To consult on a proposal that City of Leeds School should be closed and be 
replaced by an Academy which should open in September 2010 and transfer 
to the Parklands site.  To then propose to use the City of Leeds site for girls 
only provision. 
 
Parklands Girls’ High School 
To consult on a proposal that Parklands Girls’ High School should be closed 
and replaced by an Academy which should open in September 2010.  It is 
intended that the Academy sponsor and the associated partners would help 
the school focus on developing academic and vocational excellence.  The 
Academy should be moved to the City of Leeds site as it becomes available.  
The site would be used for a new Academy providing mixed secondary 
provision. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That, subject to additional BSF funding being available, option A above 

be adopted and that further reports be brought to the Board for final 
approval as each proposal moves to implementation. 

(b) That, in the absence of additional BSF funding, option B above be 
adopted and that further reports be brought to the Board for final 
approval as each proposal moves to implementation. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor Wakefield 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on this decision). 
 

218 Machinery of Government Changes and 14-19 Commissioning 
Arrangements: Leeds/Sub-Regional Proposals  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the proposed 
structures and governance arrangements that will form the basis for the next 
stage of local and sub-regional development work on the commissioning of 
14-19 provision in Leeds. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the stage 2 Machinery of Government 

submission to the Department for Children, Schools and Families 
attached as annex 1 to the submitted report. 

(b) That the approach to establishing local authority and sub-regional level 
governance arrangements, as outlined in the report, be approved. 

 
219 Proposal to Close South Leeds High School on 31st August 2009  

Further to minute 142 of the meeting held on 3rd December 2008 the Chief 
Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report informing of the response to 
the statutory notice for the proposal to close South Leeds High School on 31st 
August 2009 and recommending the closure of the school on the same date. 
 

Page 170



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That, noting that there were no responses to the statutory notice and 

having regard to the following four key reasons, approval be given to 
the unconditional closure of South Leeds High School on 31st August 
2009:- 

• The need to accelerate improvement, recognising that there has 
been improvement, but that there is a need to see this impact faster 
on the achievements of young people. 

• An academy would bring extra capacity (both professional expertise 
and other resources) to sustain improvement into the medium term. 

• In the School Partnership Trust (SPT) we have a local partner 
committed to sustaining and building upon South Leeds High 
School’s contribution to the wider education community of Leeds. 

• SPT’s knowledge and expertise involving local colleges, our 
universities, local health and social care services, the police and 
local businesses to improve opportunities and outcomes for young 
people is needed in South Leeds. 

 
(b) That the PFI development costs that will be incurred by the City 

Council arising from the closure of South Leeds High School and 
establishment of an Academy be noted. 

 
220 Proposal to Close Intake High School Arts College on 31st August 2009  

Further to minute 143 of the meeting held on 3rd December 2008 the Chief 
Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report informing of the response to 
the statutory notice for the proposal to close Intake High School Arts College 
on 31st August 2009 and recommending the closure of the school on the 
same date. 
 
RESOLVED – That, noting that there were no responses to the statutory 
notice and having regard to the following four key reasons, approval be given 
to the unconditional closure of Intake High School Arts College on 31st August 
2009:- 

• The need to accelerate improvement.   Whilst there has been 
improvement, there is a need to see this impact faster on the 
achievements of young people. 

• An academy would bring extra capacity (both professional expertise and 
other resources) to sustain improvement into the medium term. 

• Edutrust is an organisation that is geared up to maximise what Intake can 
learn from the family of schools in Leeds and that can supplement this with 
support from their network of academies. 

• Edutrust’s commitment to developing local communities means that there 
is an exciting opportunity, with a new state of the art school, to see 
learning becoming inspiring and accessible to everyone in Bramley, 
Stanningley, Armley and Kirkstall. 

 
 

221 Feedback on Executive Board Requests for Scrutiny  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
feedback on the two requests made at the January meeting of the Board 

Page 171



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

(Minute 175(b)) for work to be undertaken by the Scrutiny Board (Children’s 
Services). 
 
RESOLVED – That the response of the Scrutiny Board be noted. 
 
LEISURE 
 

222 City Varieties Music Hall  
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining the progress 
made on the refurbishment of the City Varieties Music Hall, advising of the 
Heritage Lottery Fund award and presenting proposals for further work to be 
undertaken. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the HLF Stage 2 application award of £2,739,000 be noted. 
(b) That the Council enter into a grant agreement with the HLF on the 

terms and conditions detailed in the report subject to any further 
variations agreed by the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate 
Governance). 

(c) That the decision of the Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Ltd 
Board of Management to increase their fundraising contribution to 
£1,261,000 to the project budget be noted. 

(d) That authority be given to incur expenditure of £8,210,000 on the 
refurbishment project including authority to enter into a building works 
contract. 

(e) That approval be given to an injection of £125,000 to the Capital 
Programme through an increase in the existing prudential borrowing 
arrangements for the purchase of the Swan Public house. 

(f) That a letter of intent be issued to carry out preliminary works, if 
required, to avoid delay to the project programme. 

(g) That the revised total project cost of £9,325,000 be noted. 
 
ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

223 Brooksbank - Completion of Residential Care Strategy  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report providing an update 
on the progress made with respect to the Older People’s long-term strategy 
and seeking specific approvals in respect of Brooksbank following external 
assessments of the building as life expired. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the completion of the strategy approved in 2001 be noted. 
(b) That the Board agrees that Brooksbank as a building is life expired as 

a safe modern residential care home and declares it surplus to the 
requirements of Adult Social Care. 

(c) That the Director of Adult Social Care request the Asset Management 
Board to investigate alternative uses for the site, including its potential 
for an extra care scheme. 

 
224 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Page 172



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

The Director of Adult Social Services and Director of Children’s Services 
submitted a joint report presenting the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
report, the data pack and other qualitative information used to arrive at the 
current findings. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the findings of the first phase of the Leeds Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment be endorsed and that approval be given for publication of 
the report Implementing the Leeds JSNA; 

(b) That the Director of Adult Social Services and the Director of Children’s 
Services produce further reports on at least an annual basis, to report 
the results of future JSNA work; 

(c) That all Directors, and in particular the Directors of Adult Social 
Services and Children’s Services be requested to ensure that all future 
commissioning plans and service plans reflect the health and well 
being priorities identified through the Leeds JSNA process. 

(d) That the interest already shown by the three relevant Scrutiny Boards, 
be noted and that they be asked to keep an oversight of JSNA work 
within their work programmes. 

(e) That the final report of Implementing the Leeds Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment Framework, as attached to the report, be circulated to all 
members of Council for information and reference. 

 
CENTRAL AND CORPORATE 
 

225 Joint Services Centres at Chapeltown, Harehills and Kirkstall  
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report on progress on the 
procurement of the Chapeltown and Harehills elements of the Joint Service 
Centres Project and on a package of proposals from Community Ventures 
Limited to develop a joint service centre at Kirkstall. 
 
Following consideration of the appendix to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED - 
(a) That the Stage 2 Offer for the Chapeltown and Harehills centres as 

prepared by Community Ventures Limited be acknowledged and that 
the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to formally accept the offer 
on behalf of the Council subject to completion of a satisfactory value for 
money assessment, to be undertaken by the District Valuer. 

(b) That the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to submit the Offer for 
the Chapeltown and Harehills centres to the Leeds Lift Strategic 
Partnering Board for Stage 2 Approval under the LIFT process subject 
to completion of a satisfactory value for money assessment, to be 
undertaken by the District Valuer. 

(c) That approval be given to the financial implications for the Council of 
entering into the Joint Service Centre Project for the Chapeltown and 
Harehills centres (“Project”) and that the maximum affordability deficit 

Page 173



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

to be funded by the Council for these two Centres as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report be approved. 

(d) That the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to submit the Final 
Business Case for the Project to the Department of Communities and 
Local Government subject to the District Valuer having completed a 
satisfactory value for money assessment, and that the Project remains 
within the maximum affordability ceiling set out in recommendation c, 
above. 

(e) That approval be given to the arrangements to Financial Close and 
implementation of the Project to include (but not by way of limitation) 
the award of/entry into Lease Plus Agreements with Community 
Ventures Limited (CVL), and, in connection therewith, that the Deputy 
Chief Executive (or in his absence the Director of Resources) be 
authorised to 

 (i) make any necessary amendments to the Final Business Case. 
 (ii) give final approval to the completion of the Project, including 

(but not by way of limitation) the terms of the Lease Plus 
Agreements together with any other documentation ancillary or 
additional to the Lease Plus Agreements necessary for the 
completion of the Project (“Project Documents”), subject to 

 
  (C) CLG approval of the Final Business Case. 
 
  (D) the Deputy Chief Executive (or in his absence the 

Director of Resources) being satisfied that the Project 
remains within the affordability constraints set out in 
recommendation (c) above; 

 
 (iii) approve the signing of any necessary certificates under the 

Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 in relation to the 
Project; 

 (iv) approve the execution of the Project Documents, by affixing the 
Council’s common seal and/or signature (in accordance with 
Articles 14.4 and 14.5 of Part 2 of the City Council’s 
Constitution) and to approve (or authorise any officer of the 
Council to take) any necessary further action following approval 
of completion of the Project to complete the Project including 
any final amendments to the Project Documents. 

 
(f) That the Stage 1 Offer for the Kirkstall Joint Service Centre as 

prepared by Community Ventures Limited be acknowledged and that 
the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to formally accept that offer 
on behalf of the Council subject to completion of a satisfactory value for 
money assessment, to be undertaken by the District Valuer and that 
the offer is affordable to the City Council. 

(g) That the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised subject to a successful 
Value for Money Assessment and the Project being affordable to the 
City Council, to submit the Stage 1 Offer for the Kirkstall Joint Service 
Centre to the Leeds Lift Strategic Partnering Board for Stage 1 for 
Approval under the LIFT process. 

Page 174



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 1st April, 2009 

 

  
226 Amendments to the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-2011  

The Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Planning and Improvement) submitted 
a report on a number of proposed amendments to the Leeds Strategic Plan 
2008-11, the Local Area Agreement for Leeds. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That approval be given to Appendix 1 to the report as the Council’s 

proposed revisions and additions to the ‘Government Agreed’ targets 
prior to submission to Government in time for 9 March 2009. 

(b) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 
be authorised to make minor amendments, if required, prior to 
submission to Government.  Should any revisions be required, the 
Assistant Chief Executive will inform Members of Executive Board prior 
to submission. 

(c) That future reports on the realism of targets in light of the impact of the 
economic recession be brought to the Board. 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  6TH MARCH 2009 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN: 13TH MARCH 2009  (5.00 PM) 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00 noon on 
16th March 2009). 
 
 
 
 

Page 175



Page 176

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Meetings held on 17 and 19 February 2009
	Mins17Feb

	7 Performance Management
	March 09 HSB Board Report

	8 Annual Health Check
	Your part in the AHC Appendix 1
	Annual Health Check Appendix 2
	LTHT Annual Health Check briefing note Appendix 3

	9 Inquiry into Hospital Discharges
	NHS report - Hospital Discharges
	Hospital Discharges appendices

	10 Recommendation Tracking
	recommendation tracking flowchart v2
	Rec Tracking Table
	Wharfedale update_March 09

	11 Work Programme
	2 work programme (March 09)
	$$Minutes


